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:foreword 

Our9 is the privilege to view the pictorial scenes of Pleasant TownshiP, its older 
inhabitants, and notably the town of Kouts as it progressed in the century from 
1865 to 1965. 

It has been the privilege of many of us to grow with the community during this 
time. 

May we present to you, our readers, whether present ly living here or visiting, our 
great area, our posterity, those scenes in pic ture, and those events in narration that 
vividly portray the lives of our early settlers who were a part in our growth. 

We dedicate this book to those early pioneers and to Kouts and the community. 

As we egress from the years of five in score may we embark 0 a hundred more. 

Our desire 's that the aspirations and progressiveness that has been our s and 
our forefathers may become a part of our posterity so that this community will remain 
one of the greatest in this nation of ours. 

Officers of the entennial Committee 

Chairmen - arl Hefner and Lester Martin 

Secretary - Mrs. James Kosanke 

Treasurer - Mrs. Edward Pumroy 

Board of Directors 

Joe Vogel, Jr. Ed Swing 

Wi lliam Gesse Loretta Lauer 

Me lvin Tay lor Bessie Kne is ley 

Dorothy Mansfield 

History - Loretta Lauer 



•lana 

Congrafulafionj :10 Our 

HILL ARB'S SORE 
General 

Merchandise 

Wheatfield, In 

Joe Hilliard 

CONGRATULAT S 
o the 

Town 0 Kouts 
The past 100 years have seen Kouts grow and prosper. 
Kouts Cabinets anticipates that the future of Kouts 
holds forth more of the same. We are proud to be a ' 
part of this community. 

Our business is housed in one of the oldest industrial 
bUildings in the Town of Kouts, the former Hofferth 
Cement Block building .•• stop in and see our dis­
play show room of quality cabinets and wood working ••• 

KOUTS CABINETS 
Phone Kouts 7~6-2287 

MON TV HELMUTH RAY D. OWEN 

We Were Proud To Furnish The Kouts Volunteer Fire Dept. 

This New Fire Truck For Your Growing Community 

R. R. #4 

HOOSIER FIRE 
EQUIPME T 

BUD JOHNSON, Representative 

Phone 462-1707 U. S. 30 West VALPARAISO 

o 

c 



A Message From The Chairmen: 

o O"ff friends and neighbors, to you who are natives here or were bor here, we greet you with 

-ost cordial we lcome to the ce lebration of our lOath birthday . 

• '0 hope you'r vis i t wi thus wi 1 I ins pi're you to wis h to 're turn 01' many mO're. 

:~q Kouts entennial Committees and wO'rke'rs, as well as all ou'r citizens of the community, 

~,,~ole heartedly welcome you and in tU'rn want to thank you for being with us on this g're t 

oecas ion. 

;0 each ar>..d eve'ry one, who cont'ributed in any measu're, g'reat 01' small, in thi annive'rsary 

p"'og,.-a-., we s y "THANK YOIJ". 

:~e Centennial ommittee extends its si ce're app'reciation for the untiring efforts of Niss 

~oretta L ue'r in as embling the histo'ry of the entennial Book. h'e are most fortun te i"l­ having 

~o'" as our histo'rian. 

"~or the 'tost impo'rtant event on the prog'ress of our community we were ably assi ted by 

~"Po"'tant data and photos fron our sl?nior citizens, especially f'rom Miss Etta Benkie, /11'. a"!d Mrs • 

•"'11 De'!zine, Nrs. Alta F' lls, Burt HOfferth, /1rs. Ployd Nichols, Urs. Ninnie Schreine'r, 

X,.­ • Edwina Sa lze'r, and many ot hers . 

•'e are nuch indebted to Nrs. Jaml?S Lauer of rown Point, who so graciou ly and gratuitously 

ass'!k-.ed He editing and typing of all thl? script nd properly prePared it for the Pri ters. 

:0 Johr! chnurlein, our publicity manager, goes the crl?dit for many hours spent in working 

O":tt the 'tany prOblems of advertising and buildin up interest in this. our Centennial. 

Nay the aspirations of our forefathl?rs, name ly to main.tain a democracy that guaranteed 

.",.-eedo-. of speech, freedom of prASS, freedom of re ligion and a Iso government, continue and 

!he into our second century. 

:.'a) Wi' continue to struggle to holri this heritage and in our faith in Almighty God and 

'" our fl? !low "'i.AY' asPire to c01'tir:'.e to ,.pho ld these idea Is. 

;"0 a~e I?ver ~i1'..dful of the sacri""icos of our forofathe'-s and for the principles for 
~'c~ t~e/ stood. 

t~i our g.-eat li.erit ge aY'i II bou71.tifu blessing, we thank A lmighty God. 



CONGRAT LATIONS
 
ON YOUR CE TE NIAl YEAR
 

IN K TS
 
We are pleased to have the honor of celebrating our centennial year with you. 

The support and cooperation which we have received from Kouts on the 
various joint projects and activities is greatly appreciated. 

A cordial welcome is extended to our many friends from the Kouts area 
to attend our centennial celebration during the week of July 21 - 25. 

WANATAH CE TENNIAl COMMITTEE
 
Wanatah, Indiana
 

ORVILL 81 KY and SON
 
Kouts, Indiana
 

General Contracting 

All Phases of Construction 

CARPENTERS - ELECTRICAL - PLUMBING 

Phone 766-3749
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Centennial Co-Chairman Lester Martin, left, and Carl Hefner, right, 
a.,-e pictured above in a tYPica 1 pose . . .working on de tai ls of the 
Kouts Centennial Celebration. 

Both of these men are well-known auctioneers, both civic-minded 
both considerate 0;' the needs of the community. 

Just one of their many activities has been auetionenring the 
Kouts Lions lub Community Auction Sa Ie . . . he lping a cilJic club raise 
funds fo.,- community projects. This is tYPical of the work th~y have 
donated to the betterment of the Kouts area during their re$idnnce in 
Kouts. 

These two men spent many, many hours on all phases of the 
o.,-ganization of the Kouts Centennial Celebration . . . over and above 
the usua 1 ca n of civic duty. 

The.,-e could not have been two bette.,- qualified, more dedicated 
men chosen to organize the Kouts Centennial Celebration. 

Thank you, Les. Thank you, Ca.,-l. 

The People of Kouts . ... 



HE OXFORD P 
62 West Llncolnway In Valparaiso 

THE IRKY CONS RU 10 
FOR 

OUALI YHOME CO STRU T0 

See or Call
 

LEE B Y AY MAST
 
462-2288 - PRO ES - 766-3379
 

MEN 
Your Styles Have
 

Changed For the
 

Bet er Since 18650
 

Come In and See Us 

For Better Style and 

Quality In 1965. 

For Better 

MEN'S and BOY'S WEAR 



James Kosanke, secretary, Mrs. Lowell Mansfield,PRESENTING YOUR CENTENNIAL COMMITTEE: left to 
right, Melvin B. Taylor, WilHam Gesse, Mrs. Ed pum­ assistant historian, Mrs. Bessie Kneisley, Joseph Vogel, 
roy, treasurer, Lester Martin, co-chairman, Miss Loretta Jr., not present when picture was taken was Director 
Lauer, historian, Carl E. Hefner, co-chairman, Mrs. Ed Swing. 
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pictured above is one of the many meetings that took 
place to plan this Kouts Centennial Celebration. 



~r$' PAINT PROBLEMS? ~~I/Ol) 
~~ • 

Call Your Experienced Painter 

JIM GRIFFITH
 
Menlor 51. Phone 766-3465
 

Kouls
 
The Correct Appl ication Makes The Difference 

NEW - Glenstyle Wallpapers By Imperial 

Smartly Styled For Thrifty Home Decoration 

SALYER'S MARATHON SERVICE
 
o LubricationNl 

tMARATHON) o Brake Service 

o Road Service 

o Delco B. F. Goodrich(!!til 0 

Junction Roads No. 49 and 8 

Kouls, Ind. Phone 766-3372
 



WELCOME TO KOUTS
 

The Kouts Chamber of Commerce
-
WISHES ALL CENTENNIAL VISllORS 
A PLEASANT -VISIT IN AND AROUND KOUTS 
AND SALUTES THE KOUTS CENTENNIAL 
COMMITTEE FOR A JOB WELL DONE••• 
THE REVIEW OF THE HISTORY OF KOUTS 
IS INTERESTING TO PAST AND PRESENT RESIDENTS 
THE KOUTS CHAMBER LOOKS FORWARD TO THE NEXT 
100 YEARS•••WORKING TOGETHER FOR PROGRESS 

KOUTS CHAMBER of COMMERCE
 
1965 OFF I CERS 

VIRGIL HEINOLD, President ERNEST M. THORMAHLEN, Vice President 

OWEN SOMMERS, Secretary PAUL D. MILLER, Treasurer 



EVER SINCE THE EARLY '30'S WHEN I WAS A MEMBER OF THE 
KOUTS COMMUNITY BAND I HAVE RETAINED A LIVELY INTEREST 
IN THE PROGRESS AND ACTIVITIES OF THE TOWN OF KOUTS 
AND ITS CITIZENS AS YOU CELEBRATE YOUR CENTENNIAL 
YEAR I EXTEND TO ALL OF YOU MY VERY BEST WISHES FOR 
CONTINUED GROWTH AND PROSPERITY.. 

EARL F. LANDGREBE State Senator 

~
 

DOELLING
 
Pain &Wallpaper, Inc.
 

753 Spring Street
 
Valpar iso, Indiana Phone 462-3043
 

Sincere Congralufalionj 

PtP~I-L~lA bf~fRAl £~nlfR~f I~L. 

MICHIGAN CITY, INDIANA 



INDIANA STATE LIBRARY 
140 North Senate A?enDe 

INDIANAPOLIS,' 46204 

December 3, 1964 

Mr. John R. Schnurlein 
Publicity Chairman 
Kouts Centennial Committee 
Kouts, Indiana 

Dear Mr. Schnurlein: 

We are enclosing excerpt~ from two Porter County histories. 

The Pennsylvania Railroad, referred to in the 1912 account as the "Pan­
handle" and in the 1882 account as the Pittsburgh, Cincinnati & St. Louis Rail ­
road, was originally called the Chicago and Great Eastern Railway Company. We 
have a pamphlet, "Chicago and Great Eastern Railway Company, ChiCago & Cinoin­
nati Railroad Company Bonds". In this pamphlet is a date, July 13,1864. The 
pamphle t be gi DB thus: 

The Chicago and Great Eastern Railway Company, an organization created by 
a consolidation of a road by that name, organized under the general railroad 
laW of the State of Indiana, with a corporation in the State of Illinois, known 
as the Galena and Illinois River Railroad Company, the charter of which was 
passed in 1857, i8 engaged in the construction of a railroad from LaCrosse, a 
station upon the Chicago and Cincinnati Railroad, eleven miles south of its 
northern terminus, to the City of Chicago, and seeks thereby to form a direct 
line from Chicago to Cincinnati, and also to Baltimore and the East. The Chi­
cago and Great Eastern Railway Company, in pursuit of these objects, have ex­
ecuted a mortgage upon their groposed road ••• 

Kouts is the only village of importance. It ie situated about two miles 
northwest of the center, at the junction of the Erie and Pa~handle railroads 
as already mentioned. This town was laid out by Bernard Kouts, from whom it 
took its name, about the time the railroad was comp~ted. A post office was 
established there in 1865, with H. A. Wright as postmaster. Mr. Kouts built 
the first business building in the town, and the second was built by Brown & 
Dilley. When the Erie Railroad was built in 1881, Kouts began to grow more 
rapidly and now has a population of about 500. 

Taken from History of Porter County, Indiana, Volume I, The Lewis Pub­
lishing Company 1912 p.163-4. 

VILLAGE OF KOUTS--The only town that the township has ever produced is the 
town of Kouts, situated in the northwestern part, on the Pittsburgil, Cincinnati 
& St. Louis Railroad. This town was laid out by B. Kouts and took its name 
from him. He built the first business block which is now occupied by Dr. L. 
Atkins. The second business house was built by Brown and Dilley; the third 
was built by A. Williams. The post office WaS e~tablished here in 1865, with 
H. A. Wrisht as Postmaster, who held the office until 1881, when S. E. Dougla~, 
the present incumbent, took charge of the office, which he has held up to the 
present time. The Chicago & Atlantic Railroad has reached town within the last 
year, and as Kouts promises to be the only station on either road in the town­
ship, its prospects are quite flattering. Counting the floating population 
brought in by the building of the new railroad, there are perhaps 300 people in 
the town. 

Taken from Counties of Porter and Lake, Indiana, Historical and Biograph­
ical. Chicago: F. A. Battey &Co., Publishers. 1882. p.221. 

On an 1864 map the town is not listed, although the railroad line is mark­
ed. 

Although the county histories place the date of the establishment of the 
post office as 1865, the official records read thus: 

Foster. Established July 24, 1866, Peter C. Bonham, first P.M.
 
Name changed to Kouts Station, May 14, 1867
 
Name changed to Kout, November 28, 1882
 
Name changed to Kouts, December 10, 1890
 

It would seem from the above that the town was layed out some time be­
tween July, 1864. and July, 1866. We wish we could pinpoint it more exactly, 
but perhaps this will help. 

Very truly yours, 

~~ ll,Jr.-.-i 
(Miss) Louise Wood 
Reference Librarian 
Indiana Ili vision 



Junction 2 and 30 

HA NON'S 
DRIVE IN 

VALPARAISO, INDIANA 

On Your 100th Birthdayl 

Congr tulations 

KOUTS 

VALPO 

HARDESTY 
CEANERS 

Calumet and Harrison 

VALPARAISO 
Valparaiso 

Manufacturers of 

Valpo Velvet 

Ice CrealD 

BROWNS' DAIRY 

Complete Line Dairy Products 

57 Monroe Street 



WA"REN G. MAGNUSON, WASH., CHAIRMAN 

JOHN O. PASTORE, R.I. NORRIS CO"ITON, N.H. 
A. S. MIKE MONRONEY, OKLA. THRUSTON B. MORTON, KY.
 
STROM THURMOND, S.C. HUGH SCOTT, PA.
 
FRANK J. LAUSCHE, OHIO WINSTON L. PROUTY, VT.
 
RALPH YARBOROUGH, TEX. J. GLENN BEALL, MO.
 
E. L. BARTLETT, ALASKA
 
VANCE HARTKE, IND.
 
GALE W. MCGEE, WYO.
 
PHILIP A. HART, MICH. COMMITTEE ON COMMERCE
 
HOWARD W. CANNON, NEV. 
DANIEL B. BREWSTER, MD. 

EDWARD JARRETT. CHIEF CLERK 

Janue.ry 2G, 1965 

Ers. Jones ICosan};:e 
Sec re te.:r"'J 
l:ou-'cs Centennial Corl1!:li ttee 
ICOllts, Indiana.. 

Dear I·1rs. Kose.lli"e: 

.Let me tal:e this opportunity to extend to you, your 
corl1l:lit-~ee and the residents of Kouts ICy ivarmest i.,rishes as you 
en:oark upon this, your centennial year. 

This lOath imniversary Celebration ':-Fill, I l;no;-l, be a 
time for gaiety, and for warm fellowship. It is enriching to 
pause a-~ this milestone and reflect upon the heritage of the 
past. But it is also a time to look to the future. He must 
move forward in Indiana and Kouts plays an important role in 
our State's progress. 

r·iartha and I i-Fish you the best of success in the years 
ahead. 

Sincerely, 

~~ 
United States Senator 



FORs·' ALLEN GOOD CO STR CTION
 
ON
 

ESACGOO 
MYSTIC MANOR or OTHER CHOICE LOTS 

-.J(OUld !Jnviled you :10
 
Build !In A growing Communil'}
 

PHONE 766-3346 

The aerial shot shows GOOD ACRES as it appeared several y-ears ago - - ­

Three times as many homes are now finished or in the final building stages 

in GOOD ACRES - - - A typical GOOD subdivision - - - Many choice lots in 

KOUTS still are available - - - for a GOOD home, Call ALLEN GOOD CON­

STRUCTION Today! 



I remenwer the friendly attitude of the people of Kouts. No 
matter the occasion, local inhabitants have always made me feel 
"at home" "ilhenever I called on t"hem, and have been rlOst courteous 
to me. Surely this is Hoosier hospitality at its best! 

I
" 

Senator 

Januar;;:" 30, 1965 

COMMITTEE ON THE JUDICIARY 

To the people of this :ine community, I send my best lushes 
1'01' a most successful centennial celebration and expre.ss the hope 
that the next 100 years will prove to be even more rewarding and 
eventful. If my official schedule permits, I certainly will be 
one 01' those who will come from afar to help join in the joyous 
festivities ne:ct September 3-6. 

On my va:..iG~s visits to I~ou·::'s, I have been irny:;.'essed by man:>r 
qualities: high caliber public o~ficials, modern educational sys­
tem, help~ul merchants, e;ccellent service organizations, and 
pleasant residential areas. Few Indiana cities its size present 
such an attractive, ,:{ide aYlake appearance. 

Pemit we to extend ill;Y heartiest conr;ratnlations to the 
peoyle of Kouts on their Centennial celebr~tion. This gala 
occasion 'dill marl: the cOlTIyle-c,ion of 100 years of p'm-rth and 
yrogress, for ;{hieh local residents sho~ld be rightly proud. 

JAMES O. EAS'T'L.ANO, MISS., CHAIRMAN 

OLIN D. JOHNSTON, S.C. EVERETT MCKINLEY DIRKSEN, ILL.. 
JOHN L. MCCLELLAN, ARK. ROMAN L. HRUSKA, NEBR. 
SAM J. ERVIN, JR., N.C. KENNETH B. KEATING, N.Y. 
THOMAS J. DODO, CONN. HIRAM L. FONG, HAWAII 
PHILIP A. HART, MICH. HUGH SCOTT, PA. 
EDWARD V. L.ONG, MO. 
EDWARD M. KENNEDY, MASS. 
BIRCH BAYH. IND. 
QUENTIN N. BURDICK, N. OAK. 

I1rs. James Kosan]:;:.c, Secretary 
}:outs Centennial Cor.ullittee 
I~outs C'n~::1.ber of Com;:1e:..'ce 
Kauts, Indianc.. 

Dear I'1rs. Kosanke: 



PARKER
 
~A1NT AND VARNISH MAKERS SINCE 18~ 

SAVE FROM 10 T9 25% AT OUR FACTORY PAINT STORE
 
on all your painting needs
 

• Two blocks East of 49 at Locust & Poplar Streets
 
• Only Two blocks South of Fairgrounds at 708 Locust
 

Valpa~aiso, Indiana Phone 462-9682
 

C. P. T. FREIG T, INC.
 
HAS SERVED THE TONN OF KOUTS DURING ONLY ONE OF HER FIRST 

ONE HUNDRED YEARS - - - BUT WE DO LOOK FORWARD TO SERVING 

YOURGROWING FREIGHT NEEDS AS YOU CONTINUE TO GROW DURING 

THE NEXT ONE HUNDRED! 

IF YOUR BUSINESS DEPENDS ON A COMMERCIAL CARRIER - - - YOU 

CAN DEPEND ON C. P. T. FR EIGHT, INC.! 

For Intra-State/or Inter-State Information, 

Call Hammond 932-7510 or Crown Point 663-0377 

C.P.T. FREIGHT, INC.
 
2600 Calumet Avenue 
HAMMOND, INDIANA 

PHILIPS
 
FURNITURE & APPLIANCE
 

. Porter County's Only Volume Dealer 
. VALPARAISO 



ctongrt~s of tbt Wnittb ~tatts
 

~OUSt of !\tprestntatibts
 
Ba~{nllton. a. <4:.
 

January 21, 1965 

Mrs. James Kosanke 
Kouts Centennial Committee 
Kouts, Indiana 4634'( 

Dear V~s. Kosap~e: 

During my time in the Co~gress of the United States I 
have watched Kouts grow and prosper in~o one of the 
finest small commtmities in the District it has been 
my privilege to represent. 

As one born in DeMotte and raised in Rensselaer -­
which is still my home -- I have a deep and abidip~ 

affection for the warmth of friendships that can be 
developed among neighbors of America's heartland. 

While it is a bit difficult for me to project my 
personal plans too far in advance I would certainly hope 
it will be possible for me to ~oin with my many friends 
in Kouts on one of the days of your Centennial Celebration. 

Meanwhile, if there is any other ''lay I can be helpful, 
please let me know. 

Sincerely, 



Congrat lations To
 
KOUTS 196
 

YOUR CENTENNIAL YEAR! 

LEAM NG
 
FAR SERVICE
 

406 Lincolnway Valparaiso 

Phone 462-8154 

REAL ESTATE FARM LOANS 

INSURANCE 

FARM MANAGEMENT 

Congratulations
 
During Your 

-- Centennial YearKO TS 
You'll Get BETTER PICTURES 

When You Buy From Us! 
Take advantage of our 16 years 
of service to area photographers. 

VALPARAISO
 
CAMERA SHO
 

AIso a full line of 

TAPE RECORDERS to choose from. 

53 Franklin Ave. Valparaiso 

Hphoto Specialists Since 1948" 

FARMERS
 

the corn that's BIG in Shell-Out 
More profits will be in time and time again for 

the hin when you plant the grower planting Tom-
profit powered Tomeo Ge- co Genetic Giant. You, 
nctic Giant seed corn. Big- too, can harvest these ex­
gcr, heavicr kernels pro- tra profits with Tomeo Ge­
duce shell - out overages netic Giant in your fields. 

ALFALFA SEED 

Ro ert A. Ailes
 

ALYEA SERVICE
 
Our 41 st Anniversary
 

36th Year With Chrysler Corp.
 

BEBRON,
 

INDIANA
 

Phone 96·2700
 
CHRYSLER DIVISION d~ CHRYSLER 

.,. MOTORS CORPORATION 



HENRY F. SCHRICKER 
401 SOUTH MAIN BTREET 

KNOX, INDIANA 

To Our Good Friends and 
Neighbors of Kouts: 

I welcome this opportunity to extend my warmest greetings and 
hearty congratulations to the citizens of Kouts, Indiana, upon the occasion 
of their Centennial Celebration. There is something about a Centennial 
observance that should warm the heart of every American citizen, and 
especially those whose ancestors laid the foundations of the community in 
which they were born. 

Much of our Northern Indiana history and development has been 
made and written during the past one hundred years. When the first 
settlers came in the early eighteen sixties most, if not all, of the 
Kankakee basin was still a virgin wilderness. There were no roads and 
no fences, and the howl of the wolfpack broke the stillness of the midnight 
hour. Log cabins had to be erected and then the struggle for existence 
really began. None of us today can really know or understand the hardships 
these pioneers endured, or the reverses that often threatened their very 
existence. At such a price the foundations of our present day civilization 
was laid, and it is well that we remember it in these Centennial Celebrations. 

Being a native of North Judson the growth and development of the 
Kouts community is almost as clear to me as that of my own. In spite of 
floods, frosts and prairie fires our fore~ears never gave up the fight, 
and the railroads came to give them an outlet to the nation's markets. What 
a wonderful heritage they left for our own generation~ 

Next year, 1966, our own State of Indiana will celebrate its 
Sesquicentennial, and I heartily recommend that every community make some 
appropriate preparation for this historic event. 

I 

No one can really appreciate 
the priceless value of our heritage until he knows the cost. 
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PIONEER 
SEED CORN 

ALFALFA 

SUDAN 

SORGHUM 

Kenneth L. Temple 
R. R. 2 Phone 766-3928 

KOUTS, INDIANA 

ELECTRIC
 
MO OR REPAIR
 

GROWING WITH
 

K
 K 
o o 
U U 
T T 
S S 

Repaering and
 
ewinding
 

JA OBSON ELECTR C 
McKinley Street Phone 766-3908 

BROWN TIRE
 
COMPA Y
 

Junction U. S. No. 30 

and Ind. No. 49 

VALPARAISO, INDIANA 

Phone 462-3109 

CASE 
POWE 

EQUIP NT 
You r 

CASE Power Equipment Dealer 

VALPARAISO, INDI~NA 

LaPorte Avenue Phone 462-2108 



Sin erely, 

April 7,1965 

STATE OF INDIANA 
OFFICE OF .THE GOVERNOR 

INDIANAPOLIS 

Hail to Kouts' first 100 years! 

Mrs. James Kosanke 
Secretary 
Kouts Centennial Committee 
Kouts, Indiana 

Such an age could suggest civic dotage, but 
the Kouts of 1965 has a reputation for energetic 
leadership. 

Dear Mrs. Kosanke: 

I join you in your pride for your historic 
traditions and compliment you on your dreams and 
plans fox the future. 

I hope to be able to participate personally 
in your centennial cele ation. 

ROOER D. BRANIOIN 

GOVERNOR 



Kouts School in 1884 

Graduates of 

x Idaline Trinkle 
x Lester P. Hayes 
Leo Shutske 

19/5 - Fifty Years Ago 

Bessie Wolbrandt 
Mabel Salzer 
x Albert Honehouse 

x deceased 

IN MEMORIAM 

Since uniuersal draft was passed in October 1940 no attempt has been made to list 
the soldiers of the Second World War. Many enlisted, others were drafted and Kouts 
young men serued in euery branch of the seruice and in euery theater of action. 
We here pay tribute to our fiue heroes who gaue their liues to further the cause 
of democracy: 

Howard Kneifel Barney Bukalski 
Connie MintonHoward Pumroy Frank Peterich 

1911 A Memorable Year 

Kouts 

Birky, Cheryl 
Blount, Allan 
Cannon, Barbara 
Cargo, Helen 
Car1choff, Dennis 
Church, Nancy 
Collinsworth, Eugene 
Curtis, Allen 
Drazer, Mary 
Dye, Dianna 
Fleming, James 
Francis, Becky 
Gesse, Larry 
Gingerich, Richard 
Grieger, Jannes 
Hanselman, Judy 
Heiniger, Gordon 
Heinold, Eugene 

High School Graduates of 

Herrin, Gary 
Hessling, Earl 
Higgins, Judy 
Hoover, Jean 
Jarnecke, Dean 
Johnston, Vivian 
Keyes, Janice 
Kriss, Harold
 
Manag(), Norma
 

1965 - Centennial 

Mast, Jane 
Maul, Sophie 
Mendel, Brenda 
Miller, Dorothy 
Miller, Linda 
Mille" Nancy 
Miller, Ronald 
Minton, Marsha 
Nelson, Linda 

Year 

Olsen, Glen 
Pullins, Lester 
Reinhardt, Mary 
Reinhardt, Diane 
Schultz, Keith 
Schultz, Sharon 
Sipe, Daren 
Simic, Paul 
Sommers, Suzanne 
Spells, Leslie 
Stoddard, Rusty 
Sutter, Bonnie 
Sutter, Nancy 
Swing, Vicki 
Taylor, Paul 
Tetzloff, David 
Werner, Elizabeth 
Wingo, June 

It was a hot July afternoon that a large balloon 
lettered "The Million Population - St. Louis" loomed up 
in the southwest sky. It was not unexpected for readers 
of the "Chicago Inter-Ocean" had read that the balloons 
were being released in Kansas City in a race to see 
which could go the farthest. With the prevailing winds 
as they are, one floated over Pleasant Township south­
east of Kouts. It was low, in fact, so Iowa rope from 
the basket dangled in the corn tassels. The men in the 
basket tossed our a few s nd bags, gained altitude and 
managed to get a few miles farther but landed on the 
Reeves Ranch. They gathered up the balloon and an 
obliging farmer took them to LaCrosse where they 
entrained on the Pennsylvania R.R. for Chicago. 

A remarkable teat in the history of aviation was 
the first transcontinental flight by Calbraith Perry 
Rodgers in 1911. He flew a Wright Brotllers type 
EX airplane from Long Island, New York to Long Beach, 
California in 84 days and 70 hops to win the Hearst 
$50,000 prize for the first ocean to ocean flight. The 
plane passed over Kouts following the Erie R.R. approx­
imately 500 feet above the gr6und at 5: 10 P.M. on 
October 5, 1911. At the same time that the plane flew 
over, a train with large lettering advertising the flight 
steamed along the Erie Railroad. The train dropped 
off a s lip of paper which read "Greetings from the Sky". 
Since George pumroy was working the second "trick" 
at the tower, his son Charles Edward and family now have 
the prized paper. 



ROBERT L. ROCK 
LIEUTENANT GOVERNOR 

STATE OF INDIANA 
EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENT 

INDIANAPOLIS 4 

February 1, 1965 

Mrs. James Kosanke, Secretary, 
Kouts Centennial Committee, 
Kouts, Indiana 

Dear Mrs. Kosanke: 

It gives me great pleasure to extend congratulations 
to the town of Kouts as it celebrates it's Centennial. 
Your thriving, bustling community is an asset to the 
economy of the st~te of Indiana. 

The state itself is not much older than Kouts. Next 
year, in 1966, Indiana will observe the one hundred 
anct fiftieth anniversary of Statehood, and plans are 
now being made for a Sesquicentennial celebration. 

The dates of your Centennial coincide with the dates 
of the Indiana State F~ir, and I cannot, with certainty, 
say I will be with you at that time. Be assured, however, 
that if I cannot be there in person, someone will be with 
you to represent me. 

Again congratulations, and lTlay your celebration be an 
outstanding one. 

Very truly yours, 

Robert I. Rock 
Lieutenant Governor 



KOUTS INN, INC.
 

ALBERT and BERNICE KOWALE2YK and
 
ALBERT and CAROLINE MILAS, Prop.
 

"When In Kouts Stop and See Us"
 

Highway 49 - 1/2 Block South of Highway 8
 

GENO'S PIZZERIA RESTAURANT
 
Specializing in pizzaj & !Jlalian Bee/ 
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HOURS: 
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Short Orders 
Until - 11:00 P.M. Daily Grill 
12:00 P.M. Fri. and Sat. Complete Carry 
e losed Sunday! Out Service 



War Veleran.1 

MEX ICAN WAR 
Rev. John Jones 

CIVIL WAR 

Thornton Bowman Thomas Morrison 
T. Stoddard Caswell 
A. L. Cunningham 

George Jones 
Frederick Klott 

William Rinker 
Jacob MUler Schwartz 

Abraham Finney John Lane Samuel Shapely 
E. Fisher Jonathan Maine Albert Spencer 
Henry Goff John Maxwell Lewis Stoddard 
Joe Hackman George H. Miller Chester Wagner 
Edward Hall Z. Miller Simon Witham 
John Hall Andrew Young 

SPANISH AMERICAN 

Paul Schreiner 
Charles Krueger 

WORLD WAR 

Fred Behrends Henry Schultz 
J. Raymond Benkie Vernon Schultz 
Joe Betterton WUliam Schultz 
Oley J. Betterton Gleeron Falls John Shutske 
Arthur Bodamer Albert Honehouse Archie Metherd Leo Shutske 
Paul Bodecker Paul Iliff Everett Metherd Albert Sinn 
Blaine Callahan Otto Metherd William SchwankeWalter Jackson 
GUy Callahan Paul H. Miller Henry SwingOrv1lle Johnson 
Carl Cannon Harry Jones Harry Mockler Jay Tabler 
Hazen Cannon Fred Potter Alva TaylorHenry Klemz 
Roy Cannon Emil Pulaski Ben TannerHerman Klemz 
James Collier John Radilyack Edward WandreyRheinold Klemz 
Lafayette Corneil William Klemz Martin Radilyack Luther Wise 
Dr. S. E. Dittmer Lester Lane William Radilyack Charles Wray 
James Garrigan Vaughn Lane Arthur Rivet John Wray 
Paul Gordon Ewalt E. Rosenbaum George YoungFrank Lauer
 

Paul Lauer
 William J. Ryan 
Albert SchultzAustin Leser 
Emil SchultzBurney Maxwell 
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KOSANKE BROTHERS 
a 

Funeral DJPectors" 

1882 IS 83 Year. 0/ Service \ 1965 

Ambulance Service 

Kouts, Indiana 
Three generations of experience in area funeral services 
are pictured above - See our business history listed e!se­
where in this Centennial Book -­

EDWARD A. KOSANKE and JAMES E. KOSANKE - Directors 



About the year 1673 jesuit missionaries, Fathers 
Claude Allouez and Claude Dablon landed in the lake 
region that is now Porter County and covered the 
territory to the Kankakee River. 

In the following year Father jacques Marquette 
paddled up the Kankakee to its source on his return 
trip from the Mississippi. 

In 1679 a famous band passed down the beautiful 
river. Robert Cavelier Sieur de LaSalle was the leader 

and Chevalier de Tonti, the lieutenant. The next spring, 
LaSalle returned on his way to Frontenac with only 
three companions and passed through this territory 
on foot. 

In 1711, the natives of this area came under the 
influence of Father Chardon, a missionary. Many were 
baptized from his post at St. joseph, Michigan and 
because of this the natives were friendly with the French. 

In 1759 all of northern Indiana passed into the 
hands of the British who found their rivals, the French, 
had greater favor with the Indians. The Indians caused 
several skirmishes to help the French regain the ter­
ritory. However, peace prevailed and trading posts 
were established. 

In 1781, the northern part of the territory was 
invaded by Don Eugenio Pierre who had come from 
St. Louis to seize the land in the name of the king of 
Spain. Now the third flag waved over the area which 
was to be Pleasant Township. 

By the treaty of peace made between England 
and the unfted States in 1783 following the Revolutionary 

War. a fourth flag waved. Through the military efforts 
of William Henry Harrison and his valiant army. the 
monetary contributlons of Frances Vlgo and the 
persuasiveness of Father Gibault, the Northwest Terri­
tory which embraces five states became a part of the 
new nation. 

During this time there were very few white settlers 
in the region which was to become Pleasant Township. 
The Kankakee region was very valuable for its furs 
and fish but the white settlers and the natives were 
farther north because Lake Kankakee, as it was some­
times called, covered most of the southern part of 
the county. 



Congratulations Kouts On 
Your 10th Birth ay 

The Fort Wayne Gas Light Company - Northern 
Indiana Public Service Company's earliest prede­
cessor - was already 13 years old when Kouts was 
born, and we have been keenly interested in the 
growth of your fine community ever since. 

NIPSCO has had the privilege of serving you 
with electricity since 1921 and with natural gas 
for almost five years now. Our area development 
profile on Kouts published in 1963 -- containing 
highly valuable and extremely pertinent informa­
tion for industrial prospects -- was sent through­
out the country to assist in your search for new 
industry. 

The next century will be challenging indeed for 
both NIPSCO and Kouts, and we look forward to 
sharing in your progress each and every one of 
these eXciting years. 

Peppy Flame 

~~ 
symbol of service #j 

Northern Indla.na. Public Service Compa.ny 

in nipscoland 



The Ponawatomies in 1832 ceded to the United 
States the territory that is now our township. 

In 1835 came the sale of Public Lands. This 
sale was held in the town of LaPorte - a town of log 
cabins. 

During the "general division" April 12, 1836 
Pleasant Township was formed. The name was suggested 
by its location and appearance. The following action 
of the First Board of Commissioners provided "That 
the following territory shall constitute a township by the 
name of Pleasant, commencing at the southeast corner 
of Porter County, thence north to the northeast corner 
of Section 1, Township 34, Range 5, thence west to the 
southem boundary of Washington Township to the south­
west of the same, thence south to the Kankakee River, 
thence east with the same place of beginning." 

In July 1836, a county road was established from 
the quarter post on the north line of Section 30 Township 
35 Range 5 to Sherwood Ferry on the Kankakee. This 
was probably one of the first planned roads of the new 
township. 

Joseph Stearns and John Ship obtained a license in 
March 1837 to keep this ferry across the Kankakee. 

During the March 1841 meeting of the County Board 

125~ 

100£ 

of Commissioners, Morgan and Porter Townships were 
taken from the north side of then Pleasant Township, as 
well as Boone Township from the west side leaving an 
area of approximately 58 square miles. Pleasant Town­
ship still remains the largest township in the county. 

Crooked Creek flows southward through the center 
of the township and Sandy Hook Creek along the western 
border, both emptying into the Kankakee River. 

John Sherwood was the first white settler in the 
township, coming here with his family in 1834. During 
the next two years William Trinkle, John Jones, Henry 
and John Adams, William and Enoch Billings, John and 
Joseph Bartholomew, Martin Reed, Morris and James 
Witham, Lewis Comer, Charles Allen, Luke Asher, Hisel 
Coghill, Oliver Coles, Berrier and others were added 
to the population. The first election for township 
officer - a justice of peace only - was held at the house 
of Henry Adams on April 30, 1836 when eleven votes were 
polled. Lewis Comer was elected unanimously and be­
came the first justice of the peace. 

The first birth was that of Henry, son of William 
and Gillie Ann Trinkle, December 2, 1835. The first 
marriage was that of a Miss Jones to Alexander Wright 
about 1839, and the first death was that of Jeremiah, 
son of John Sherwood. 

TOWNSHIP32-33-N IANOI3-6-W 
-<:J--<:- .......... - .......,..---c.-,..,..............--­ ......... ---­

PLEASANT 
TOWNSHIP 

, 
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RAY'S GRILL
 
u. S. Route 421 Phone 9110
 

LaCrosse - Indiana
 

Congratulations
 

To Kouts
 

L. & M. TAP
 

LaCrosse, Indiana
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1. Heinold Elevator 7. Lutheran Church 

2. Kouts Ready Mix 8. Baptist Church 

3. Heinold Hog Market 9. Presbyterian Church 

~=~~====~====':=-=~~~7.d494. 10.J:ouU Elementary and High School Catholic Church 

S. J:outs Town Hall and Fire Station 11. Christian Church 

6. Post Office 12 • Kennoni te Church 
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As the word "No" has often changed the destiny of 
nations and of men, so the word "No" played an im­
portant part in the naming of Kouts as the following 
story attests: 

When the surveyors for the Pittsburgh, Cincinnati 
and St. Louis Railroad were working in the township they 
looked for a place to stay. There was no town in the 
vicinity but there was a home one and one-half miles 
west of the present location of Kouts occupied by the 
Tdnkle family. Since Mrs. Trinkle was busy making 
apple butter, a project conducted out in the yard that 
required constant stirring and adding apples until it was 
of the proper consistency, refused of neces sity. The 
strangers pushed on eastward and the gracious hospi­
tality of Mrs. Kouts who took the men as boarders re­
sulted in its name. 

The men designated this spot for a station and it 
was named Kouts Station. Later the town was laid out 
around this station with the horse driven coal docks and 
water tower located east of the present Pennsylvania 
depot and Maple Street on the north side of the tracks. 

In May 1867 it became Kout's Station with Hilary 
Wright as Postmaster who served till 1881: in November 
1882 Kout and on December 10, 1890 it was changed to 
Kouts as the name is now. Previous to this mail was 
brought into the area on horseback from Valparaiso via 
Tassinong, a trading post located in Morgan Township. 
This trading post consisted of several stores, two black­
smith shops, a shoe shop, a school, and a Presbyterian 
Church built for the use of people of all denominations. 
A bronze marker today shows the location of Tassinong. 

The Bank of Kouts was built in 1903 with living 
quarters upstairs for the cashier. Robert Parker of 
Remington, Jasper County, was president and L. W. 
Shaffner was cashier. On January 8, 1909 it closed its 
doors. A representative of the state auditor took charge 
of the institution. Some of the citizens of Kouts pur­
chased the building and organized the Porter County 
Bank which opened for business on July 31, 1909. Most 
of the stock in this bank was held by local men and its 
management was in the hands of well known citizens 
H. A. Wright, president; J. J. Overmyer, Vice-president 
and P. O. Norris, cashier. The capital stock was $15.000 
and the bank had deposits of $105,000. 

In January 1919 it changed to a state bank and the 
name changed to Porter County State Bank with P. H. 
McCormick of North Judson as president and Charles 
Cannon cashier. 

On April 11, 1927 the bank closed in receivership. 
During the time it was closed rhe apartment was rented 

to families needing living quarters and Mr. and Mrs. 
Walter Danielson lived in the bank proper. where Mrs. 
Danielson, the former Lucille Redelman, operated a 
beauty parloL 

On August 25, 1945 the present Kouts State Bank 
was organized with H. F. Kosanke as president and a 
starting capital of $35.000. The cashier then was D. D. 
McQuaig. 

In 1961 the bank building was completely renovated 
and modernized. The exterior was sand blasted, the 
trim painted, the apartment upstairs and the bank re­
modeled and up-dated to present day needs. 

There are seven employees and the present pres­
ident is Art Trede, vice-president is Ernest Thormahlen, 
chasier is Mrs. Bessie Kneisley, and assistant chasier 
is Mrs. Elizabeth Birky. 

The lot and building south of the bank was pur­
chased and the building razed in 1964 which was another 
improvement. 

Pictured above is Joe Shepard, who was on Kouts Fire
 
Department in 1921, when this truck was purchased.
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The Kouts Family 
(Originally spelled Kautz) 

The late Barnhardt Kouts, who was the principal 
representative of the family here for half a century, was 
a native of the state of Pennsylvania, where he was born 
in 1835, a son of Barnhardt and Salome Kouts. Their 
parents were both born in Germany,and brought with 
them to this country those sterling qualities which are 
so often associated with the German stock. The Kouts 
family were among the pioneers of Porter County, having 
located ·here before the railroad era and helping in the 
development of the resources of the country. Son 
Barnhardt Kouts married a Bridget Neal, a native of 
England, who died only a year or so after their marriage. 
He later wedded Mrs. Henrietta Eadus. Mrs. Henrietta 
Kouts, a kindly woman and highly honored resident 
of Porter County was born in this county, and was the 
daughter of John W. and Elizabeth (Shuey) Wright. John 
W. Wright, the father of Mrs. Kouts, was a progressive 
and public-spirited citizen and his name adorns the 
history of the bench and bar of Porter County. He also 
served in the offices of sheriff and county treasurer. 
Besides Henrietta, the other children of his family 
were: Nancy, who became the wife of Albert Spencer; 
Elizabeth Crawford; Ann J. Hall; and Hilary, who was 
a hardware merchant and president of the bank at Kouts. 

After his marriage, Barnhardt Kouts located in the 
town of Kouts. Before the construction of the railroad 
through this pOint he was engaged in farming, but with 
the coming of the railroad he and his brother-in-law, 
H. A. Wright, established the first store and built the 
first house on the new townsite. Beginning with a small 
stock of groceries, they developed their trade throughout 
all the surrounding country, and Mr. Kouts would make 
regular trips to Philadelphia to buy his stock and brought 

into the store, goods to the value of as much as five 
thousand dollars at a time. For sixteen years during 
his career as merchant he also acted as agent for the 
Pennsylvania Railroad, but finally his increasing business 
obliged him to give up this position. The partnership 
was finally dissolved, and Mr. Kouts then erected a 
two-story building in which he continued his business. 
On January I, 1893, a fire that originated in adjoining 
buildings wiped out his own property with a loss of eight 
thousand dollars, which was total since he had neglected 
to renew his recently expired insurance. This disaster 
was not sufficient to discourage a man of his character, 
and he at on e resumed business in the little store 
rooms where he had begun his career as a merchant, and 
with the encouragement of his wife was soon rapidly 
recovering from his losses. Afterwards, on a prominent 
corner in the center of town he erected the first brick 
business building in Kouts. This building located next 
to the bank was razed in 1964. Barnhardt Kouts was in 
the past, one of the most prosperous and influential 
merchants and citizens. 

One son, Leon B., was born to Mr. and Mrs. Kouts. 
Leon Kouts was one of the progressive young farmers of 
this vicinity. He was married to Miss Jessie Miller 
and they were the parents of three children - Kenneth 
Wright, Katy B. and Edith. Katy died when seven years 
old and Edith at the age of eight months. On the evening 
of November 12, 1911, in the midst of a hard wind 
storm, Mr. Kouts with his little son set Out to carry a 
pail of milk to his mother's home, and on the way a 
limb torn from a tree by the violence of the wind, 
struck him on the head and resulted in his death. The 
sudden death of this rising and influential citizen was a 
shock to the community in which he had been reared, 
and he left many friends to grieve over his loss. Leon's 
only descendant, Kenneth Kouts, resides in Crown Point 
and conducts a business in Hebron. 

Hilary Wright - Hay Press and Hay Barn 

With the dissolution of the Kouts-vVright partner­
ship Hilary Wright operated the Hay Press and Hay 
Barn on the plot of ground where the Bill Small's now 
live. The wild marsh hay was pressed, generally in 
the field by horse power, and brought here to be stored 
until shipped to Chicago as feed for the horses that 
pulled the street cars. A little track was built from 
the hay barn to the p'ennsylvania main line and the 
loaded cars were pushed by hand. Since this work was 
seasonal the empty hay barn became at times a center 
for social gatherings in the town's infancy. 

Mr. and Mrs. Wright and daughters Shirley (Anna), 
Edna and Muse lived in a home they built in Wright's 
Addition on the corner where Kosanke's Bottled Gas 
business is located. With the construction of the Chicago 
and Atlantic Railroad in 1881 they sold this first home 
to P. F. Fredericks who dealt in nursery supplies and 
built a new home farther east in their addition. This 
home is owned and occupied by the Lloyd Berndts. 

With the completion of the Erie Mr. Wright sold 
his hay barn near the Pennsylvania to George Wilcox 
and built a business office and scales, a hay barn and 
grain elevator along the Erie. The office stood in what 
is now Williams front yard, the elevator where the 
Standard Oil tanks are, and the hay barn farther east. 
Grain was hauled to the elevator in double box wagons 

with side boards but in grain sacks that held 2 and 
2-1/2 bushels. These grain sacks were in need of 
repairing and washing which was another household 
chore. The elevator was destroyed by fire November 5, 
1901 and Mr. Wright bought out Bob Arnold's hardware 
and lumber business and moved his office there. In 
this venture he was assisted by his son-in-law Walter 
Bush (Muse's husband) and continued there until his 
retirement. Mr. Wright was always active in civic 
affairs and his integrity was much admired by all who 
knew him. Truly he was the "Grand Old Man of Kouts". 

In this area the only direct descendant of the Wright 
family is Mrs. Nelson Metherd, a granddaughter, who 
lives southeast of Kouts on a farm. 

The hardware and lumber business operated by 
Wright is presently owned by Richard Chael and is the 
Kouts Lumber Company. 

The first Wright home sold to Fredericks was 
made into a hotel and around the mid 1890' s it was 
sold to Herman Behrends who with his wife and family 
came from Chicago. It was known as the Behrends 
Hotel for about a quarter of a century. With the widening 
of Main Street and the building of sidewalks and the 
aging of the operators, the hotel business was discon­
tinued and the building sold to Paul Wells. He had it 
moved a short distance to the east and made into apart­
ments. As such it served until it was razed by Kosankes 
to make a parking lot to serve the funeral home. 
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Mr. and Mrs. Frederick Chael 

Mr. and Mrs. Frederick Chael and five children, 
Henry and Herman, Lena, Caroline and Minnie, came 
from Mechlenburg, Germany in 1883 and stopped in 
Denham, Indiana. On hearing that work could be had in 
Kouts they moved here in June 1884 and the father went 
to work on the Pennsylvania section and later at the coal 
docks where he was employed until 70 years of age. 
Frederick, Martha and Erma were born in Kouts. This 
family is unique in that all the living members of the 
second generation are still in the town and several of the 
third and even the fourth generation are here. The son, 
Herman, went to work for Grant Hayes, a blacksmith, 
with a shop on the southeast corner of Main and Alice 
Streets - then the east end of town. Grant Hayes moved 
to Tennessee to do blacksmithing and Herman main­
tained the shop. Hayes decided Kouts was best and re­
turned. By 1917 Hayes sold his shop, the main part to 

Carl Peters and the back part to Chael who moved it 
to the present location, and for 45 years carried on a 
general repair shop in the lot next to his home bought 
at the time of his marriage to Ca rrie Schroeder. When 
he started the business it was fixing buggies and wagons 
and plows; through the years it changed to tractors, 
autos, combines, and even airplanes. Folks within an 
area of 25 miles knew of his work and his willingness to 
try to fix anything and how he always succeeded. Widows 
and children never had to pay. His oldest son, Harold, 
now has taken over the business. One of the oldest 
pieces of equipment in the shop is the forge which stands 
in the center and is one of the few forges left in this part 
of the country. 

Another son, Richard, owns and operates the Kouts 
Lumber Company which was begun in the 1880' s by Will 
Arnold who sold our to Hilary Wright. 

The following population statistics w'are obtained from the United
 
States Departm,1nt of Commerce Bureau of Census, Jeffersonville
 
Census Operations Office, Jeffersonvi II e, Indiana 47130.
 

DATE TOWN OF KOUTS PLEASANT TOWNSHIP PORTE R COUNTY 

1850 311 5,234 

1860 479 10,313 

1870 615 13,942 

1880 214· 892 17,227 

1890 984 18,052 

1900 1,209 19,175 

1910 1,424 20,540 

1920 1,563 20,256 

1930 583 1,497 22,821 

1940 732 1,685 27,836 

1950 718 1,640 40,076 

1960 1,007 2,031 60,279 
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Herman Rosenbaum Store 

Left to right: Oscar Knoll, Fred Rosenbaum, 
81ll Rosenbaum. 

In 1874 the Herman Rosenbaum family - the wife 
4 sons and 4 daughters came to town from Brems, 
Indiana, and built a general store on a street running 
parallel to the railroad on the plot where the Cities 
Service Station used to be. This was a two story building 
and the family lived upstairs until prosperity prompted 
them to build a spacious home on what is now State 
Road 8. Here they purchased over 12 acres of land 
from Kruells in the early 1890' s. They sold this area to 
interested buyers for home sites in acre sized lots, 
which much of it is today except for the McKinney 
Addition that has 9 homes built on 2 acres served by a 
dead end street. This Rosenbaum home was destroyed 
by fire on March 7, 1936 and today Mrs. Viola Francis 
lives in a home built recently on the lot. 

With the passing of Herman Rosenbaum the store 
was operated by members of the family, a son, William, 
and daughter, Adeline, until the 1930' s. Adjacent to the 
store on the east was a salt shed where customers 
bought salt by the barrel. Later in the teens it was used 
as Levy's Dress Shop where power driven sewing 
machines operated by local women made dresses for 
both wholesale and retail. 

Besides groceries, Rosenbaums also sold a fine 
quality of dry goods, men's clothing, even dress suits, 
shoes, clocks, and hardware, truly a general store. 

As you will read in the Kosanke history Mr. 
Ewalt Kosanke's first furniture shop was sold and moved 
to make way for a larger business building. 

Rosenbaum's bought it and located it just across 
the street west from their general store and here the 
three sons had turns at operating a hardware business-­
first by Fred, then by Frank, and lastly by Gus. 

None of the original family are living today. 
In this centennial year a daughter-in-law Mrs. 

Frank Rosenbaum, a grandson Fred Rosenbaum, two 
granddaughters Ruth Rosenbaum Struve, Alice Rosen­
baum Goodpa sture, three great grandsons Dean, Dale 
and Robert Rosenbaum, and a great granddaughter 
Drelah Rosenbaum perpetuate the name in the town. 

In this period, going east on the street from 
Rosenbaum's Store, Johnnie Hall had a saloon· with a 
most uncommon sign made by the civil engineers that 
were working for the Pennsylvania Railroad. It was 
shaped like an old fashioned bee hive and lettered with 
this poem: 

In this hive we're all alive 
Good liquors make you funny 
If you're dry; come in and try 
Good liquors for your money. 

Left to right: Bill Pahl, Gust Rosenbaum, Robert Rosenbaum and Frank Rosenbaum. 
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Michael J. O'Brien 
In 1883, Mike 0' Brien and family moved to Kouts 

from Valparaiso and opened a grocery store on the 
present site of the Town Hall. john Welsh of Marshall 
Grove helped finance the two story, building. The first 
floor was a grocery store. Coffee, sugar, flour, cereals, 
salt, crackers, etc. were measured out of the barrels 
and sold to customers in desired poundage. The candy 
in pails and store cookies in big boxes with isingglass 
windows were so tempting to farm children who got to 
town rarely. But the most fascinating thing in the 
O'Brien store was the cuckoo clock and happy was the 
child who could linger there until the noon hour. Our 
modern noon whistle has no such charm. 

The 0' Brien family lived in the home now occupied 
by the Floyd Kerlinska 'family. A son, Frank, succeeded 
his father in business. He and his wife, the former, 
Mayme Hannon of Marshall Grove, built and resided in 
a home back of the store now occupied by Laura and 
Emil Pulaski. They graciously served satisfied custo­
mers until 1916 when they sold their business to Mr. 
and Mrs. joseph Luers of Rensselaer. The second 
floor of the building known as 0' Brien's Hall, served 
as a meeting place for the lodges, social functions, 
high school classes and for a period of time as a 
Methodist Church. The hall wa s reached by an outside 
stairs on the west side of the building, while the land 
west of the building was taken up with hitching racks. 

A son james (Jim) O'Brien built the store now 
owned by Hiatt and for a time ran a grocery store. 
Later he became the Kouts postmaster. The surviving 
O'Briens, Agnes Merry, Bertha Renneb?Llm, Sophia Cot­
ton, and the 0' Brien twins, Leo and Loui s, now live in 
California. 

August Hofferth 
Another business man that served Kouts and 

surrounding territory for over seven decades and 
bridged the two centuries is that of August Hofferth 
and sons Burt and Emil. 

August's brother, john, immigrated from Germany 
to Kouts in the early 1880' s. There was work to be had 
in Kouts so he sent word to August to come. Not only 
did August Hofferth come but he brought two more 
worthy Augusts - Honehouse and Wandrey - both names 
still found in Kouts. 

August Hofferth had been trained as a brickmason 
and learned plastering so he was always busy in the 
growing town and farm community. He married 

Theresa Wittenberg who had come to the township with 
her parents from Germany in the 1860's. He built 
the cement plant in 1906 and was helped in the business 
by his sons. Besides block stones the Hofferths also 
made burial vaults and for a time concrete tile. At one 
time in the operation of the plant, machinery was 
installed that enabled them to turn out 5 blocks a minute. 
Due to a lessening demand they quit making block stones 
in 1946 and in 1958 the Hofferth Brothers sold out to 
John Rogowski whose Kouts Building and Supply business 
is located a block farther east. The building that housed 
the cement plant was bought and remodeled to be used 
by the Kouts Cabinets operated by Ralph Birky and 
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Benkie's Drug Store - Mr. Benkie and son, Raymond, wearing white shirts. 

carrier. 
In 1934 Burt Hofferth started in the insurance 

business as a side line and today is kept busy with its 
demands, while Emil is still called upon and on occasions 
lays up with his skilled hands an attractive stone or 
brick front or fireplace. Burt, too, served the community 
as postmaster from 1913 to 1921. 

Wright). so were Hilary Wright and James Hodgins 
brothers-in-law, as their wives were Susan and Maria 
Maxwell. Mr. Hodgins had a hay press and was an 
implement dealer. Mr. and Mrs. Hodgins always kept 
boarders and roomers too, and built the spacious home 
where Grace Cannon presently resides for that purpose, 
and at the time there were only two other houses on 
that side of the street south of them. A Mr. Grogert 
lived in the Hazel Hofferth house and Mr. Theil where 
the senior Fred Rosenbaum home is now. Around the 
turn of the century sevet'al families and individuals went 
to North Dakota to homestead. Mr. Hodgins joined 
in the Great Migration but Stayed only two years. It 
was too rugged and Mrs. Hodgins didn't choose to go. 
Although James Hodgins was born in Canada and never 
became a citizen of the United States, his zeal in 
promoting the Fourth of July celebration could not have 
been more intense were he a descendant of a D.A.R. 
However, he was a member of, the Grand Army of the 
Republic. Mr. Hodgins was a very versatile person 
serving as Justice of the Peace performing marriages 
and on rare occasions conducted funerals in the absence 
of a minister. Another talent lay in his ability to direct 
a band and deliver a good address. 

The location of the present Legion Hall was deter­
mined by the gift of the land to them if they would erect 
a hall upon it - if not it would revert to the Hodgins 
estate. 

His kindness and generosity to the children of his 
era is held in grateful remembrance by all the senior 
citizens whose memory reaches back to "Uncle Jim" 
as he was fondly called. 

and Mae, in 1890. Kouts was not an unknown place to 
him because his father and uncle had worked here on the 
construction of the Pittsburgh, Cincinnati and St. Louis 

Main St looking South, Koub, Ind. I-kir 

John G. Benkie 

James Hodgins 
No early history of Kouts would be complete 

without giving recognition to James Hodgins, since his 
legacy to the community is occupied by the present 
school plant and grounds. Mr. Hodgins came to Kouts 
from Canada, his blrthplace, where he had been a 
teacher, and in 1881 purchased 39.64 acres of land in 
the southeast part of Kouts from Barnabas and Henrietta 
Kouts for $2000. Just as Barnhart Kouts and Hilary 
Wright were brothers-in-law (Mrs. Kouts was Henrietta 

Monroe Helmuth whose custom made cabinets are a 
pride of the area. 

Besides the sons Burt and Emil,there were two 
daughters, Hattie and Alta. The former married Ed 
Rosenbaum, that genial never to be forgotten rural mail 
carrier, and their daughter LaVerne Sommers is active 
In the community life and serves as a relief rural 

Another early business man that served Kouts 
long and faithfully was John G. Benkie who came here 
from Wanatah with his wife and two daughters, Etta 
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Railroad in the 1860' s. 
Mr. Benkie, a pharmacist with experience both in 

Wanatah and Chicago, bought the building just south of 
the Erie Railroad from Dr. McKee who left Kouts to 
prartice in Chicago. When Benkies first came to Kouts 
they lived in a cottage where the Heinold Elevator garage 
is now, and in 1895 built a large home on the same 
street with Kosankes and next door to the Rosenbaum 
home. (The cottage was moved out on 49 and incor­
porated in the Doyne Stewart home.) 

A son, Raymond, and daughter, Louise, were born 
here. In 1900 Mr. Benkie enlarged the drug store and 
it housed the first telephone exchange Kouts had of only 
twenty subscribers. In 1918 a new front was added and 
in 1925 an addition was built on the back bringing the 

building to its present size and appearance. After a 
course in pharmaceutical school Raymond joined his 
father in the business, and he and his sister, Etta, 
operated the drug store alone after the father's death 
in 1939, and until Raymond's death in 1950, when the 
business was sold to Louis and Dorothy Marquardt. 
The building still owned by the Benkies is rented by 
the Jorgensen Heating and Sheet Metal. 

Housing the first telephone exchange in his store 
as Mr. Benkie did, cast its spell on one of his family. 
Louise served as an operator for over thirty years 
both in Kouts and later in Valparaiso as the Kouts 
office was closed by automation. Louise retired in 
1963 and she and Etta occupy the family home maintaintng 
an active and ever friendly interest in the community. 

Charles W. Betterton, Sr. 
Another family that gave Kouts an early business 

man was that of Charles W. Betterton, Sr., who with his 
wife Christinia and family of two sons, William J., and 
Charles W. Jr., and two daughters, Emily and Margaret, 
came to the Kouts area from New Albany, Indiana 
shortly after the end of the Civil War. The Betterton 
family originated in England where there is a town by 
that name. They settled on a farm on the Baum's Bridge 
Road, across and a little north of the Elmer Werner 
home. Mr. Betterton was a cabinet maker and it is the 
two sons that had a share in Kouts history. Charles, Jr. 
was a salesman for J. 1. Case machinery and a talented 
musician of whose skill and contribution you have or 
shall read in another chapter. His son, Jesse Oatman 
Betterton, was the first and only graduate of Kouts 
High School in 1900. This family moved to Omaha, 
i\'ebraska and Kouts' first graduate went on to finish 
college as a mining engineer. 

William J. Betterton married Margaret Lauer 
around 1884 and at first they lived on a farm near 
Baum's Bridge. During this era he served as township 
assessor. Through the years ten children, three 
daughters and seven sons, were born, one son dying in 
infancy. Leaving the Baum's Bridge area they moved 
to English Lake where he had a general store. From 
English Lake they moved to the town of Kouts, buying 
the George Trumblee property on the south end of Main 

Street, the house now occupied by Leonard Good. For 
a decade he conducted a general store, groceries, dry 
goods, hardware, etc. in the building on the west side 
of Main Street next to Kosanke's Store. Prior to this, 
Charles W, had a feed grinding store on the site of the 
Rock residence. 

After selling his grocery business Will Betterton 
operated a saw mill and feed grinding service on the 
area west of the home about where the Vance William's 
home is now, as that street was not yet opened. From 
1914 to 1918 he served as trustee of Pleasant Township 
and at the same time owned and operated a large steam 
threshing machine and separator, so large it reqUired 
thirty to thirty-five men to feed the separator's hungry 
maw and haul away the grain to the elevator. 

Their son, Joe, was one of the crew of the battleship 
.. Kansas" with the United State Navy when the fleet was 
sent a round the world in 1908 during the Theodore 
Roosevelt administration. This fleet stopped at all the 
important seaports of the world and was the first 
intimation of our power. 

not her son, Jack, was always in demand as a 
garage mechanic as was Pete for carpenter work. 

The two living members of the family are a 
daughter, Mary, in Florida, and a son, Oley, who 
devoted his life to teaching with only time out for service 
with the navy in World War 1. He is a retired principal 
and resides ill Porter, Indiana. 

Kosanke's Store - Ed Kosanke on left, Ewalt Kosanke on right. 

Ewalt Kosanke 
A continuous successful business in its third here from Wanatah with his wife and here reared a 

generation is that of Kosankes Funeral Home, having family of three sons, Herman, Wil11am, and Edward, 
been established in 1882 by Ewalt Kosanke who came and two daughters, Nettie (Humphrey) and Laura (Wolf). 
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Ewalt built a small building on the present site 
of Keehns Hardware, and there made furniture by hand 
and repaired broken furniture for his customers. They 
lived in a cottage just south of the furniture store. When 
Mr. Key another village blacksmith died, a mortician, 
Mr. LaPell, had to come from Valparaiso to take care of 
the funeral. The distance was so great that Mr. LaPell 
urged Ewalt Kosanke to take up undertaking in conjunction 
with his furniture making. He complied and later the 
three sons followed the same profession. 

A larger building was needed so the first shop 
was moved down Main Street to the site 0; the I.G.A. 
parking lot and there Gus Rosenbaum, son of Herman, 

had a hardware store. 
When Kosankes built the larger building it was a 

two story structure. In this building was a thriving 
furniture and undertaking business. A cyclone damaged 
the building badly in 1917 and again in 1935. In 1935 
they removed the second story. In the early 1900' s 
Ewalt built a large home where the Kosankes Funeral 
Home is now. ,",Vith added improvements of the funeral 
chapel in 1941, more improvements in 1960 and again 
in 1964, Kouts boasts a funeral home whose facilities 
and gracious, kindly service ranks with the best in the 
state. James Kosanke, grandson of Ewalt and son of 
Edward, is in charge of the business and lives in the 
original home modernized and styled for years to come. 

George Frederick Wolbranclt 

George Frederick Wolbrandt, his wife Louise and 
family of four sons and four daughters, came here from 
Des Plaines, Illinois before 1870. When he came from 
Germany where he had driven a stage coach between 
Mechlenburg and Berlin is unknown. 

Wolbrandts bought the Simon Witham farm which 
today includes the southwest subdivision. Since his 
boys did not W3nt to farm, he sold it August 1, 1870 and 
bought the tavern on Mentor St. east of Rosenbaum's 
Store. The tavern was a boarding and rooming house 
with a bar. 

The older Germans say they took in and cared for 
all early immigrants who had no place to stay. Mean­
time they helped them find work and adjust to life 
here. Mrs. Wolbrandt was a midwife wno cheerfully 
helped all who needed her and cared for the family 
doing all household tasks. 

In the mid 1880' s they sold the tavern to Knolls 

who came from Medaryville. Mr. Wolbrandt then had 
a meat m,1rket on West Mentor St. in the area between 
the Danford and Neuffer homes. With business dis­
continued there he rented the first Barney Kouts building 
on the west side of Main St, and there had a meat market. 

Three sons, Fred, Charles, and George, all went 
to work on the railroad, the former as an operator at 
the tower and the other two as signal m<lintainers. 
August went to Jasper County where he farmed. 

The daughters married and descendants of three 
of them are Kouts residents today: Minnie's (Mrs. 
Dan Metherd) daughter, Mrs. Lillie ichols and her son 
Herbert; Emma's (Mrs. Henry Herring) son Jim Herring 
who operated The Kouts Inn} grandchildren, Cecil and 
Gene Wise, anj the four d3ughters of Lee Herring, as 
well as Sophia's (Mrs. Keehn) grandson, Jack Keehn, 
who operated the hardware store until February of this 
year. 

The Hunter's Home and Hotel and Saloon 

George Glissman 

George Glissman was born in 1840 in Schleswig­ Hllding, f rnished information and pictures for our 
Holstein, then a part of the kingdom of Denmark but Centennia. book.) 
since 1864 belonging to Germany. When he left his After his first wife's death Mr. Glissman married 
home in 1861 for America he came directly to Porter Elizabeth Teut (Tight) in 1875 and it is thought they 
County. Two sisters, Anna and Dora, also came; the then had the hotel on the present site of the town water 
former married and moved to Iowa, while the latter tank. It was known as "The Central House" until 1900 
married Benjamin Hineline and has descendants in the bm later as "The Hunters Home:' It was a large hotel 
COUnty. providing board, lodging, and a bar. George and Eliz­

George marrried Anna Hurst and they lived north abeth had four children but the only descendants are 
of Kouts wnere the Knopinski farm is now. (Their children of Henry and Barbara (Misch) GUssman none 
twO grandchildren, Arthur Gllssman and Henrietta Viola of whom live in Kouts. Henry died in December 1963. 
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It was to this hotel hunters flocked during the 
hunting seasons. It was in close prOXimity to the railroad 
stations where accommodation trains arrived and 
departed four times daily in each direction. 

In addition Mr. GIissman kept a kennel of hunting 
dogs for the use of his cutomers who returned regularly 
to enjoy the abundance of game in the Kankakee River 

area. Too, he had an ice house where ice cut on the 
river was stored not only for his own use but to sell. 

The draining of the river closed out the hOtel busi­
ness and Mr. GIissman died there in 1914. After his 
death the bUilding was used as a two family dwelling 
part time and as a storage place. In 1923 or 1924, 
while occupied by the Herring family, it was destroyed 
by fire. 

Left to right: Leonard Wyant, Joe Anderson, Leo O'Brien, Emma Pontow, Christine Teut (Tight), 
Elizabeth Glissman, George Glissman, Henry Glissman (on horse). 

Fred Perry 
Undoubtedly the most varied and longest business 

career can be claimed by Fred Perry who ca me from 
Valparaiso to Kouts in 1902. He was of French Canadian 
ancestry, the name originally spelled Pare'. Fred 
went to wOI"k in Sed Unruh's bakery on Main Street. 
In 1904 he took two important steps - he married Oliv~ 
Wyant and bought the bakel'y shop and business and 
both ventures were successful. They had two sons, 
Theodore and Kenneth, both deceased, and a daughter, 
Janet Hllliard. Mr. and Mrs. Perry celebrated their 
60th wedding anniversary September 26, 1964. Good 
fortune prompted .. Bake" as he was commonly called 
to buy the building and land from H. V. Deopker next 
north to Kosanke's Furniture Store. With the opening 
of Will Street (named after Will Betterton) in 1916, 
Mr. Perry moved the building, faced it south on "Vill 
Street (now Claussen's home Site), remodeled and opened 
the Gem Theatre. With the bakery and theatre, Mr. 
Perry had help from two local young men, Delbert 
Hicken at the theatre anG Vaughn Lane at the bakery. 
The theatre was a real boon to the town - admission was 
a nickel and because of a queer qUirk in the film circuit, 
the best movies were shown in Kouts even before they 
were shOwn in Chicago. The silent movies had musical 
accompaniment played on the piano by Edith Porter Knoll 
succeeded by J. Raymond Benkie. With the advent of 
talking pictures that feature was added. Charlie Cannon 
and George Hanaway were so persistent in their demands 
for buying the theatre that in 1920 Mr. Perry yielded 
and went to Remington, Indiana where he acquired the 
show house there. Loneliness for Kouts and environs 

brought them back in less than a year. Mr. Perry then 
went to work with Turner Eadus as contractOr and 
together they built gravel roads around Otis, Chesterton 
and Lake Eliza. In 1927 the depression left the road 
builders broke financially but not in willingness to 

Hilliard's Restaurant Today. 
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work. At this time Mr. Perry bought out Theodore 
Pietsch, the baker who had come to Kouts in 1921 
and was located in the building on the east side of Main 
Street now occupied by the Alcoa Aluminum where he 
conducted the business until 1932 when he bought the 
restaurant from Caroline Hamann and then ran both 
bakery and restaurant. 

With better roads, bread trucks, and the Depression 
wnich forced many to do their own baking, Mr. Perry 
discontinued baking but retained the restaurant. 

In 1942 he accepted a position with the Alcoholic 
Beverage Board and served on it until 1956. 

In 1944 he leased the restaurant for three years 
and in that time there were three restaurateurs, Frank 
Green, Wlllard Sutter and Paul Martin. 

Janet Perry Hllliard and her husband John took 
charge in 1947. Due to increased business more space 
was needed and in 1957 an attractive dining room was 
added. This feature accommodates family dinners, 
parties, and weddings, and the restaurant now provides 
employment for twenty people. 

Prior to failing health, Mr. Perry was on hand with 
his friendly and genial manner to greet the hungry and 
bid them welcome, a service that is now missed. 

Mrs. Margaret Williams 

Mrs. Margaret Williams. affectionately called 
.. Aunt Margaret" by her customers still living in the 
town today, had a little grocery store built north of the 
Pennsylvania Railroad and on the west side of the 
street. These customers with a touch of nostalgia tell 
tnat Aunt Margaret had the "best candy" ·and that she 
was so understanding, patient, and helpful while each 
made his choice - th3t precious penny must be wisely 
spent. These same patrons too fondly recall how she 

and Mrs. Nancy Shuey sat enjoying their rocking chairs, 
smoking their clay pipes and discussing items of local 
interest in the interim between customers. This store 
was moved a little to the south and incorporated in 
Hiatt's Plumbing Shop. 

Next to O'Brien's store Aunt Liza Fay lived in 
and operated the "Cottage Inn" where she roomed and 
boarded the salesmen known as "drummers" who travel­
ed by train and solicited orders from the business men. 

namej 

The Germans were predominant and history re­
cords the names of: Behrends, Benkie, Chael, Coleman, 
Denzine, Gesse, Gramps, Heimberg, Herring, Hofferth, 
Honehouse, Jarnecke, Klemm. Kneifel, Krueger, Kosanke, 
Kouts, Kruell, Lauer, Miller Neuschafer, Pontow. 
Reinke, Steiner, Trinkle. Wandrey, Weise. andWolbrandt. 

The Polish names are: Baranowski, Cincoski, 
Diskavish, Orazer, Lapelski, Knopinski, Mishnick, Mroz, 
Pulaski, Radilyack and Shutske are representative of 
their group. 

In the early history of Kouts and Pleasant Township 
tnree large ethnic groups have dominated the population. 

Not all names included in the ethnic groups were 
employed on the railroad for some sought employment 
on farms and saved until they, too, could buy a few 
acres of their own. With hard and persevering work 
those few acres have grown to prosperous farms. 

The building of the Pennsylvania with its opportunity 
for work in t.he very early settling of Kouts followed by 
the constructlOn of the Chicago and Atlantic in 1881 drew 
many people to Kouts. Several worked on the railroads 
unt!1 the~ accumulated enough to buy a little land; really 
theIr main objective: to own a farm rather than work on 
the railroad. When both railroads double tracked still 
more work was available. 

The Irish are represented by the names: Anderson, 
Barry, Bartholomew, Best, Biggart, Burke, Callahan, 
Cannon, Casey, Clark, Dwyer, Grffith, Hannon, Maxwell, 
McCartny, McNeff, O'Brien, Quirk, Ryan, Smith, Walsh 
and Welsh. 

Not classified under the three groups above are: 
Asher, Betterton, Berrier, Brown, Childers, Crawford, 
Douglas, Hall, Meadows, Morrison, Spencer, Shuey, and 
Stoddard. 

An early ranch formed of 5500 acres in the eastern 
part of Pleasant Township and western part of Dewey 
Township, LaPorte County, was known as the Reeves 
Ranch, from the name of the first owner Arthur Reeves 
of Richmond, Indiana. Lee G. Howell followed by Frank 
Wood were first managers of the ranch and lived in the 
managerial home recently vacated (Feb. 27, 1965) by the 
Rudy Dolezal family. 

With the death of Arthur Reeves the ranch was 
inherited by his aged mother, Mrs. Mark E. Reeves, 
who turned over the responsibilities to her son-in-law 
William Dudley Foulke. In 1910 for lack of competent 
management the ranch was offered for sale at $75 an 
acre but there were no takers. 

Then Mr. Foulke appealed to the Department of 
Agriculture at Washington, D.C. for help in finding a 
manager. The Department recommended J. A. Warren 
of Nebraska who was on a leave of absence due to illness. 
In 1911 with return to health, Mr. Warren was back 
at work as Consulting Agriculturist for the Holly Sugar 
Beet Co. of Holly, Colorado. He accepted the offer to 
manage the ranch on a trial basis, and Mr. and Mrs. 
Warren and family moved here from Nebraska. 

In 1911 the Grasmere Land Com!Jany was formed 
with directors Mrs. Foulke, A. D. Gayle, and J. A. War­
ren; Mrs. Foulke's sons-in-law Dr. Urey, Cates, Gayle, 
Hughes, and Morrison were stock holders, as were the 
directors. 

Just before the Depression some of the ranch was 
sold as individual farms but returned for lack of 
payments. 

When Mr. Warren retired in 1941, Wilbur Coultas 
became manager of the ranch until 1944 when it was 
again. sold out in farms. Mr. Warren purchased the 
home place where he returned to live, the Fred Deli, 
Dick Deli, Neal Pumroy, and Elliott Warren farms. 
Elliott later purchased his farm. Other farms carved 
from the ranch are those of Forest Warren, Hefners, 
Warren Birky, Norbert Dolezal, Hastings, Dr. Jack 
Dittmer, Albert Sinn, and Jake Galbreath. 

A daughter, Mrs. Myrna Warren Tuesberg, lives 
in Kouts. 
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Gustave Kosanke Family Home 

Gustave Kosanke and family came to Kouts from 
Wanatah at the same time his brother Ewalt did. He 
opened the first meat market in a building on the present 
location of Hilliards Restaurant and lived in the house 
just north of the store. In this family were four sons, 
OttO, Julius, Fred and Henry, and three daughters, 
Elsie, Lenora and Louise, none of whom are now living 
in the area. 

Gus, as he was known, drove through the country 

William Abraham 
Wilhelm Carl Abraham was born in Ruheim Pro­

vince Posen, Germany in 1842 and came to America in 
1866. He first located in Jasper County but came to 
Kouts in 1868. Here he married Louisa Schwanke in 
1871 and in 1872 became a naturalized citizen. 

They owned five lots on the corner of Kouts and 
Pulaski St. just north of the Pennsylvania where they 
built a home. Mr. Abraham bought and sold hay and 
horses and dealt in coal. The coal sheds were between 
the old Kouts Elevator and stockyards along the Pen­
nsylvania R.R. On the home property he operated a 
sawmill and cider press during a period of time. He, 
tOO, built a blacksmith shop in the same area which he rented 

with horse and buggy, bargaining with the farmers for 
animals which he killed at a slaughter house west of 
town adjacent to the Ira Dye property. They, too, 
built a big home on the street across from the Rosen­
baum home, presently occupied by the Milford Fox 
family. Gus was succeeded in business by his son 
Henry (Hank) who operated the store till 1916. He 
sold out to William Resh from Boone Grove and moved 
to Argos, Indiana. 

to Grant Hayes until Hayes built his own shop on the 
southeast corner of Main and Elizabeth St. 

After the death of his first wife Mr. Abraham 
married Lena Jahnz and to this union four children 
were born, none of whom live in Kouts. The original 
home was destroyed by fire in 1907 and a second home 
built to the east of the old site. 

Henry Herring 

Henry Herring had a business before 1900 with 
little or no competition -- that of dredging and house 
moving. Now you know how the buildings that didn't 
burn got moved to a new location. 
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Three events in Kouts and environs were publicized 
in the Chicago paper prior to 1900. 

In September 1887 a Chicago and Atlantic passenger 
train was standing at Sandy Hook Ditch taking water 
when a Wabash freight train smashed into it, telescoping 
the passenger train. No one knows how many were 
killed but the injured were brought to the old Kouts 
Hotel on the east side of Main Street operated by Millers. 
Every room was filled and the town women, Mrs. Henry 
Herring, Mrs. George Wolbrand~ and daughter, Minnie, 
Mrs. Henrietta Kouts, and Mrs. Ben Anderson, went in 
and cheerfully helped in caring for them until they were 
again able to travel to their homes. One case was 
expecially pathetic - that of a young boy whose parents 
died at the scene of the wreck. The railroad company 
wanted the Millers to keep him and they would repay 
them generously. Since Mr. Miller was a Civil War 
veteran and then an old man, he could not accept such 
responsibility. Litigation foJ lowing the wreck caused 
the bankruptcy of the Chicago Atlantic Railroad. There­
after, the road bed and rolling stock were taken over by 
the Erie. 

Another news item was shrouded in mystery. A 
"wild man" was living in the vicinity. He made an 
awful noise terroriZing the people and dogs. Possees 
were formed to search for him during the day in the 
wood and marshes. young men did their courting in the 
daytime and no one was out after dark save the "wild 
man" 2nd his accomplices. After several months of 

terror it disappeared quite coincidentally with the young 
men going to work in distant places. 

Then on March 31, 1889 the worlds featherweight 
boxing championship match fight took place in 0' Brien's 
Hall. Prize fighting was outlawed in Chicago and through 
the influence of some Kouts itizens with Chicago connec­
tions the fight was brought to Kouts. Arrangements 
wel-e carefully made - the justice of peace was taken 
for a ride to Valparaiso - the special train on the Erie 
with its cargo of contestants puffed into the side tr.lck. 
Frank Murphy of England and Ike Weir, the Bellast 
Spider, 100 Chicagoans, men in high silk hats and tails 
speedily made their way to the hall. 

It was midnight when the fighters climbed into the 
ring, donned skin tight gloves and went to work for the 
$1500 and the title. Three hours and 60 rounds later it 
still had not been won. At .. a.m. Weir the Irish champion 
was weakening. Weir ral lied and at 80 rounds, as 
neither could stand well. they called the fight to a draw. 
They made their way back to the waiting train and left 
town after the history making event. 

Mike O'Brien and his helpers hastily tidied up the 
hall so that it would be ready for 1\lethodist church 
services on Sunday morning. The l\!ethodists were 
incensed at such use of their church but ~!r. 0' Brien, 
an enterprising man, retorted that he'd gotten more rent 
for the one night than the church goers paid in a year. 

The famous hall with the store and locker plant 
operated by William Hefron as the Royal Blue Store was 
destroyed by fire on October 28, 1954. 

Ike Weir (the "Belfast Spider"), then the world's skin-tight gloves, for a purse of $1500. Murphy wa the
featherweight champion, fought Frank Murphy of England favorite and although the Spider we k n d at the la,t,
at Kouts, Indiana, for the featherweight championship of he retained his championship title. Tilt! dar \1'lt eh
the world in one of the most colorful fights in ring 31, 1889.
history. Weir and Murphy fought eighty rounds with 
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WEST SIDE OF MAIN STREET, LOOKING NORTH 

EAST SIDE OF MAIN STREET, LOOKING SOUTH 

MA I N STREET KOUTS, INDIANA 
Come walk with me down the east side of Main 

Street in the early 1890' s. You've already read about 
Benkie's Drug Store. just north of it joshua George, 
a cobbler, then an old man, besides repairing shoes, 
made shoes to order. Mr. George had served Kouts 
faithfully for many year's and at one time he and 
john Schultz also in Kouts, were the only two boot 
makers in Porter County. Next to the drug store on 
the south was Bloods Barber Shop; adjacent to it Ben 
and jack Anderson had a livery barn where rigs could 
be rented or they would taxi by buggy to their destination, 
customers who were horse shy. Nearby stood a paint 
and wall paper store operated by Otto Knoll. The 
building occupied by Gina's Pizza Shop was built by 
August Wandrey who had an ice cream parlor on the 
first floor and a hall for meetings upstairs. The ice 
cream business was not lucrative and the owner changed 
to a saloon. A dwelling stood in an orchard between 
the Wandrey building and Gust Kosanke's butcher shop. 
In the area east of the butcher shop Mrs. Winslow had 
the old Kouts Hotel. (This hotel had been built early 
in Kouts history with "Uncle" George and .. Aunt" 
jane Miller in charge. He started the hotel when he 
came here after the Civil War.) Evidently business 
was not too rushing for she did dress making as a side 
llne. Although Barney Kouts built the first brick 
business building in town he rented it to Massey and 
Freeman, the latter buying the merchandise and joe 
and Rose Massey doing the selling with Minnie Dillingham 
as clerk. As we walk on toward Rosenbaum's store 
look left and see the horse driven Coal Docks and Water 
Tank on the north side of the Pennsylvania tracks just 
opposite Maple Street. Since YOU've read about Rosen­
baum's store we'll saunter on down the street and cross 
over to watch the village blacksmith, Bill Cincoski, 
a master smithy, ply his trade in a shop on the site of 
the john Stark's home. 

Coming back to the north Pent Witham had an ell 
shaped home - the part two storied which they used as a 
home and the one storied part faced on now Mentor 
Street and in this Mrs. Witham had a millinery store. 
just north across the street was Dr. Atkins Drug Store ­
across the railroad stood Barney Kouts' first building, 
then one story handling dry goods mostly - back of the 
store a short distance stood the jerry McCarthy home. 
Let's travel on. jim 0' Brien had a grocery store 
(now the Hiatt bUilding) and during the two separated 
presidential administrations of Grover Cleveland, it 
was also the post office. Standing close to jim O'Brien's 
store was Harry Reiter's business which started out in 
a small building but with additions east and west and 
aft, it took on its present aspect. Harry was a watch 
repairman and sold jewelry and was very enterprising 
indeed. Next stood Sed Unruh's bakery shop. This 
shop, too, had an upstairs and the rooms were rented 
at intervals to dentists who served Kouts intermittently' 
and for other painful extractions if you held a poo; 
hand and were the loser. 

As w~ s.troll n?rthward we come to Barney Kouts' 
second bUIldIng WhICh burned in the 90' s, the Cottage 
Inn ~nd 0' Brien's Store of which you read earlier. 
LeaVIng 0' Brien's Store we tread on a brick sidewalk 
to the Ewalt Kosanke home and to the Kosanke Store. 
Adjacent to it was the Betterton store and few steps on 
to another blacksmith shop where George Wyant held 
forth. An now we come to the last business building 
the lumber yard where john Arnold is proprietor. 

After reading this far you realize that between 
fires and movings, additions, subractions, and face 
liftings, few business buildings in Kouts even faintly 
resemble the original. 
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Now that you have read the history of the early 
business people, an attempt will be made to trace the 
craftsmen and artisans that constituted a large part of 
the town's population and supported the three or four 
grocery and general stores, the meat markets, restau­
rants, recreational centers, etc. Let us take the occupa­
tions in alphabetical order which cannot be chronological 
order for they do not coincide. 

AUCTIONEER - The first auctioneer to come to 
Kouts was William Martin who came here in 1917. Today 
his son, Lester, follows the trade. 

BAKERS - In a previous account you read of 
Sed Unruh, the town's first baker, Fred Perry who suc­
ceeded him, and Theodore Pietsch, who came in 1921 
and had a bakery for a decade. Emil Wiesche, a German 
baker, served for a short time in the late 20' s and the 
last one was Sam Myren, who conducted a bakery and 
quick lunch restaurant on the corner next to the bank. 

Left to Right: Gleason Falls, Henry Kosanke, 
George Runyon, and Martin Radilyack 

BARBERS - The barbers have been numerous and 
Kouts always supported two shops and two barbers in one 
shop. Before 1900 William Ellis, Pete Lyons, Archie 
Blood, Stoey and Emory Goodpasture were barbers; 
Leo Drazer, who went on to be a dentist practicing in 
St. Louis; later Julius Kitzman, Bill Rampke, Joe Hart, 
Joe Harris, and by 1911 an advertisement revealed Ira 
J. Dye as tonsorial artist and John Wandrey and Martin 
Radilyack as barbers. Melvin Hendrickson came here 
from Wheatfield in 1914 and followed the trade until his 
death in 1940. Perry Griffith, Bill Neider known as 
"Bill the Barber", Wally Ruark, and Sherman Riddell 
have, toO, served Kouts. To Vernon Schultz goes the 
distinction of 34 years of continuous service as a barber 
beginning in 1930 when shaves were 15¢ and hair cuts 
were 3S¢. In 1956 Bill Johnstonopened a shop on N. Main 
St. and when Vernon Schultz retired in 1964 he was re­
placed by a native son, Vincent Sommers, son of Mr. and 
Mrs. Clarence Sommers. 

BEAUTICIANS - The first beauty operator was 
Edith Knoll who gave Marcel waves with a hot iron, 
followed decades later by Alice Hendrickson who opened 
a beauty shop in her father's barber shop after finishing 
her course at Mrs. Hill's in Valparaiso. Then when 
she married she had a shop in the Lyons Building where 
she also lived until moving to Valparaiso. Wilmetta 
Dykes Hiatt operated a shop in Mrs. QUirk's grocery 
store in the 1930's. Doris Schultz has had a shop since 
July 15, 1944. She took her training at Travis Beauty 
School in Hammond. 

CARPENTERS of the earlier era are George 
Tromblee, George Cannon, Sam Steiner, Link Arnold, 
Rudolph Hotchchilds, Charlie Taylor, and Harry Miller. 
The latter came here for the express purpose of building 
chicken houses for William Howell who planned to raise 
chickens to sell to the restaurants in Chicago during 
the Columbian Exposition of 1892-93. Mr. Howell's 
lack of knowledge of "setting hen habits" (thiS pre-dated 
incubators) doomed the project to failure, but Harry 
found ready employment. Carpenters after 1900 were 
William Lane, Ed Snodgrass, Frank Bradney, Desilver 
Lyons, Klemz Brothers, William Peters, and Vern HOp­
kins. The latter came here following the 1917 cyclone 
when much carpenter work was in order to repair the 
ravages of the storm. 

DRESSM KERS were Mrs. Winslow, Mary Radil­
yack, Mary Fry Pagel, Mrs. Harry Rollar, Mrs. James 
Nichols, Mrs. Perry Griffith, and Mrs. Clara Wandry. 
With the coming of ready-to-wear there was less demand 
for this se;-'.'ko:'. 

LAWYERS - Through the years Kouts has had three 
lawyers: James A. True, Thomas (Pat) Crowe and 
Parmenius (Pete) Lyons, the fOt'mer serving as a Justice 
of Peace and the latter as township trustee during 
whose tenure paper and pencils replaced the slates. 

TOW' MARSHALS - Since the 1880's Kouts has had 
less than a score of marshals or constables. 

The first one who served was Dan Doon. He was 
conveniently spirited out of town during the championship 
fight in 1889 so had no problem. He just wasn't here. 
Dan Doon also served as janitor at the Kouts School 
while he was marshal. Other men who have held this 
post are: Otto Knoll, Charlie Lane, Herman Kosanke, 
Luther Wise, August Vergin, Burney Maxwell, Walter 
Jackson, Herman Chael, Grant Shoup, Simeon Rice, 
Homer Stewart, Joe Shepard, William Schultz, Ewalt 
Jahnz, Charles Mason, and presently Leland Jarnecke. 
Ewalt Jahnz went on to serve as deputy in the Porter 
County Sheriff's Department, a post he has held for 
years. 

The masons, cement workers, brick layers, and 
plasterers were represented by George Glissman, 
August Hofferth and later his sons, William (Teut) 
Tight, Walter Pfeiffer, and Leland Jarnecke. 

MILLINE RS - nd to keep mi lady prope. ly hatted, 
Mrs. Pent Witham, Mrs. Winfield Pierce, Mrs. Cecelia 
Childers, and Mrs. Sanders offered chapeaus styled 
to the period when they were in husiness. 

M SIC TEAClIERS giving piano lessons were Mrs. 
Elizabeth Rivet, Mrs. Edith Knoll, Mrs. C. r'. Hockett, 
Marie Quirk, Gladys Pumroy, and presently Mrs. Minnie 
Koepke. 

PAINTERS and DECORATORS - Afterthe carpenters 
and plasterers got the buildings finished, the paimers 
and paper hangers moved in to beautify and fini sh the 
raw materials. This work was done by Al Cleveland, 
Charlie Ferguson, Enos Schloetter, Otto Knoll, Herman 
and Bill Kosanke (paimers), and Porter Childers who 
taught the trade to Herman Honehouse who later appren­
ticed James Griffith, Otto Metherd and Ferdinand Redel­
man and Sons. 

VETERII ARIA' - Dr. L. H. Hough was the first 
and only veterinarian Kouts ever had. He came here 
in 1922 with his wife and four children from Scottsburg, 
Indiana. A graduate of Indiana Veterinary College, 
Indianapolis, in 1909, he served this community until 
his death in May 1936. Two children, Mrs. Thomas 
Quirk (Ida) and Robert Hough are now residents of 
Kouts. 
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Pennsylvania Accomodation Trains. He wooed and won 
Mae Benkie and after their marriage in 1913 they chose 
to live in Hebron. 

In 1914 and 'IS the Christian minister's (Rev. Whitt) 
son-in-law, Dr. Myers, practiced in the same offices 
used by Dr. Hill. 

In the 1920's Dr. G. D. Conover of Valparaiso served 
Kouts a day a week with his office located on Mentor 
Street east of the Rosenbaum Store. 

From then until 1960 Kouts dental problems were 
attended by dentists in Valparaiso, La Crosse, Wheat­
field, Hebron, Wanatah and North judson. 

On September I, 1960 Dr. Rober' E. Hott opened 
his office in the Runyan building on the east side of 
Main Street. In November 1962 he moved to the new 
Medical Arts Building located in Good Acres north of 
Kouts. Dr. Hott received his dental degree from Indiana 
University in june 1958 and then spent two years in the 
armed services. 

At long last Kouts is enjoying and appreciating the 
skilled services of a full time dentist. 

Dr. john Wright, an optometrist, opened a part 
time office in the Medical Arts Building in the spring of 
1963. He comes to Kouts on Wednesday from DeMotte 
where his main office and home is located. 

Opfomefr'j 

In the practice of dentistry only five names appear 
in the early history. Of the four only two were resident 
dentists and not for more than that many years each. 
The other two maintained offices in a nearby town and 
had an office in Kouts open only on one day a week. The 
community was fortunate that Mr. Benkie, Dr. Noland 
and Dr. Dittmer had forceps and were skilled in using 
them. Teeth would ache most when the dentist was not 
here. 

The first resident dentist within anyone's memory 
was Dr. Hill who had office on the west side of Main 
Street over Unruh's Bakery. He was here in the early 
1900' s. 

Dr. Hill was succeeded by Dr. Charles L. Bartholo­
mew of Valparaiso who served Kouts one day a week 
from 1908 to 1912 commuting with horse and buggy. 
His office was over the bakery on the east side of Main 
Street. Dr. Bartholomew eventually gave up dentistry 
for undertaking, his father's business. 

He was followed by Dr. Frank Ling from Hebron 
who had an office for a little over a year in Benkie's 
Drug Store. Dr. Ling commuted from Hebron on the 
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Dr. Philip D. Noland 

Various doctors' names have appeared in this 
history and in quick review will rename Dr. Adtkins, 
Dr. Ibach, Dr. Kellog, Dr. Welch, Dr. Sprague, Dr. 
McKee, Dr. Ellis, Dr. Hockett and Dr. Chevigny. 

Besides being a physician, Dr. Adtkins had a drug 
store on the site of Fritz's Tavern. It was a two story 
building and the family lived upstairs. Those whose 
memory serves them best remember the large apothe­
cary jars that decorated the drug store windows and 
besides drugs, he also had cigars, candy and gum. They, 
too, recall that Dr. Adtkins and his brother who made 
his home with them, both wore long white beards. 
When they lef~ Kouts they located in Kansas. 

The two doctors who stand out and who chose to 
live out their days in Kouts are Dr. P. D. Noland and 
Dr. S. E. Dittmer. 

Dr. Noland came to Kouts with his wife from Boone 
Grove in 1888. Two daughters, Anna and Eva, were 
born here. In 1893 Dr. Noland went back to school in 
Chicago and had Dr. Chevigny come to take his place 
for a year. During that time Dr. Chevigny and family 
lived at the Behrends Hotel. In 1910 Dr. Noland built 
the home where his grandson Phillip Reif, (Eva's son) 
now resides. It was a residence with office and waiting 
room built in. With horses and buggy Dr. Noland made 
home calls throughout the area until the automobile 
came into common use. Perhaps the most trying time 
of his medical career was the "flu" epidemic of October 
and November 1918. For three weeks he traveled 
constantly from home to home administering to the 
sick only stopping at home for food, a bath, clean clothes 
and a qUick nap. He lost no patients except those with 
other complications. As Dr. Noland became semi­
retired he served Pleasant Township as Trustee from 
1922 to 1926 - that difficult era when the Ku Klux Klan 
dictated policy not only in Pleasa:lt Township but the 

Dr. and Mrs. S. E. Dittmer 

Dr. and Mrs. S. E. Dittmer and son, jack, arrived 
in Kouts in 1912, coming from Charleston, Illinois. 
He began practicing medicine in an office over Cunning­
ham's Store. His skill especially as a diagnostician, 
his wit and humor and great compassion endeared him 
to his patients. A daughter, jane, and son, Tom, were 
born in Kouts. 

In 1918 Dr. Dittmer answered the call to colors 
and served in the army in Camp Greenleaf, Georgia, 
resuming practice after the Armistice of 1918. 

With no adequate hospital facilities in the county, 
Dr. Dittmer usually took his surgical patients to St. 
Bernard's Hospital in Chicago by train. In this hospital 
his medical opinion was highly respected. Lesser cases 
or those objecting to the distance in going to Chicago 
were cared for in the Christian Hospital in Valparaiso. 
Here the nurse in charge, Clara Gulbransen, had no peer 
in her profession. With Dr. Dittmer's guidance and her 
skilled nursing his patients were returned to health and 
vigor. 

In 1917 D1ttmers bought and remodeled the McCarthy 
house built on the site where Dr. Ellis's home was 
destroyed by fire in 1906 and in this home he lived 
until his death in December 1951. 

His sons, jack and Tom, are both outstanding phy­
sicians and surgeons maintaining a joint office in Val­
paraiso while jack also has an office in Kouts. 

While doctors came and went in Kouts the pioneers 
were fortunate to have in their midst a most under­
standing and efficient licensed midwife in the person of 
Mrs. Anthony D1skivish, who with her husband had 
come to this country from Poland in 1870. Mr. D1skivlsh 
worked on the Pennsylvania Railroad until 1887 when 
they bought and moved to the farm where the Gerald 
Shutskes now live. Mrs. Diskivish went wherever and 
whenever she was needed and besides assisting at the 
birth, stayed and cared for the mother, baby, and rest 
of the family until the mother could resume her duties. 
Her name is spoken almost reverently which indicates 
the esteem with which she is held by those who remember 
her acts of Christian charity. A daughter, Mrs. Frances 
Adams, lives near the south edge of town.state and nation as well. 



HEINOLD ELEVATOR COMPANY
 

The Kouts Roller Mill as it looked when purchased by 
the Heinold family in 1937 

'­
The Mill in operation after remodeling 

Aylesworth Elevator - 1940 Boone Grove Elevator - 1956 

Square Deal Feed Mill, Kouts - 1958 

For 28 years the Heinold Elevator Co. has been growing 
with the Town of Kouts and the N-W Indiana area which 
the Company serves. From the original Heinold family 
partnership there has emerged an ever-expanding 
business which now employes over 65 area people. 
Here traced in pictures is the story of the Heinold 
Company, it's 5 elevators, Square Deal Feed Mill, 
Square Deal Fert11izer Plant, Grain Storage Area, 
Trucking Division and new Kingsbury Research & Feeder 
Center. • .for information on Heinold's, call Kouts 
766-2234. 

A view of part of the Heinold "fleet" that delivers 
Square Deal products over N-W Indiana and the Chicago 
area. 



APi ture Story of Heinold's Growth
 
HGrowlng With The Growing Needs Of Today's Progressive Farmers" 

, " 
f:Ltt 

t>;ew elevator built in1944 - Matt & Virgil Heinold test The original site as it looks today - Kouts Elevator,
the first load of grain trucking &warehouse 

Knox Elevator - 1961 Rensselaer Elevator - 1962 

Aylesworth as it looks today - Elevator, Square Deal 
Bulk Fertilizer Plant and 1 1/2 million bu. grain storage Heinold's newest - Kingsbury Research and Feeder 
center Project - purchased in 1964 
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Roller Mills, Kouts, Ind. nil-..'!-·r 

For the present day photographs in this book 
acknowledgement is made to Mrs. Louella Jensen of 
"Kouts Times", Chet Dyniewski, and Ted Hitz, the 
photographers, and to John Schnurlein who saw the need 
and requested the work done. 

drying equipment, They, too, bought the competing 
Kouts Elevator from Eldon Kuehl. It was razed in 
1963 to make way for a new eqUipment warehouse and 
pre-miX room. 

Heinold Elevator was incocporated in June 1958 
with approximately 300 stockholders at present. And 
in 1958 the new Square Deal Feed Mill was built in Kouts 
to replaee the one destroyed by fire September 25, 
l~r6. The mill on Mentor St. provided bulk storage for 
300 tons of ingredients and the housing system is un­
loaded via a push button batching arrangement involving 
the latest design and geared to a production of 20 tons 
of feed per hour. 

The first cement block garage next to the Catholic 
Church was built in 1947 and the second one July 1956. 
The new office building and warehouse on Mentor St. 
were completed in April 1963. 

The firm employs 73 people. has over 30 trucks 
and serves the needs of farmers in a six county area 
of northwestern Indiana. 

The phenomenal expanSion of Heinolds outside of 
Kouts is pictorially shown on their ad page. 

In bygone days a mile east and a mile north of 
Kouts, a wind powered mill stood on a farm owned by 
George Haste. Within the memory of the oldest resi­
dents a Holland Dutchman named Keil operated the mill. 
Here the early settlers took their sacks of grain to be 
made into meal or grist. When you inquired as to 
when it would be ready, the old timers quoted the fol­
lowing: "VeIl, I don't know! Ven the vind no blow, I 
can no grind, ven the vind it blow. you come three 
days: ' 

Another mill, water powered, stood by Crooked 
Creek, on what is now the Paul Drazer farm. 

Both mills were unnecessary after W. N. Anderson 
built the Kouts Roller Mill in Kouts on the present site 
of the Heinold Elevator. The mill stones were imported 
from France. Mr. Anderson employed Gust Denzine 
as miller. He and Mrs. Denzine lived in a house adjacent 
to the mill until they built the first house on the north 
side of 8 now occupied by Elbert Schneckenburgers. 

With the death of Mr. Denzine in 1908 
Mr. Anderson employed Ed Dolman of North 
Judson as miller. Ed Dolman wa s succeeded in the 
late teens by Mr. Hentgen who worked a few years until 
commercially ground flour took away the business. 

In conjunction with the milling business, Mr. Ander­
son also was a dealer in hard and soft coal, saddles, 
horse furnishings and mended harness. With his 
advancing years, business ceased and in 1937 the mill 
was purchased by Matt Heinold. 

The Matthew Heinold family moved in 1921 from 
Gridley, Illinois to the farm south of Kouts now occupied 
by Ted Koselke. Here they farmed until the purchase 
of the Kouts Roller M1lls. This purchase included the 
Anderson home in which the Matt Heinolds lived now 
the Jonas Birky home. ' 

The original Heinold business was a partnership 
consisting of the founder Matt, his son Virgil, and 
daughters Dorothy Stewart and Fern Antrim. They 
rebuilt the Anderson mill into an elevator and in 1940 
purchased the Aylesworth Elevator Co. In 1943 the re­
built elevator was destroyed by fire and replaced by a 
new concrete structure. 

1952 witnessed great expansion at Aylesworth for 
they built a grain storage plant, concrete, fireproof 
elevator of 392,000 bushel capacity with cleaning and 
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In the establishing of an incorporated town Kouts 
followed the slogan: "If at first you don't 'succeed, try, 
try again." 

It was in 1914 that five civic minded citizens saw 
the need for corporation and spear headed the movement. 
They were: H. V. Deopker, Walter Bush, Herman Kosan­
ke, and J, J. Overmeyer, with E. M. 0' Brien as notary 
public, A long list of citizens signed the petition but the 
County Commissioners disregarded the appeal and 
the measure never came to vote. They tried again in 
1917 and this time Dr. S. E. Dittmer W:lS the first 
signer, but when it came to vote the voters rejected 
it. It was not until 1921 that they voted to accept town 
government. Accordingly a mile square, a half mile 
In each direction from the junction of State Roads 8 
and 49, became the incorporated town. The population 
at that time was 576 with 156 households and 170 voters. 

The first election for trustees and a clerk was 
held in the old school house in February 1921 with the 
following results: District One, William Denzine; Dis­
trict Two, Henry Herring; District Three, Ira Dye; 
District Four, Ray S. Berline, and the clerk, Burt 
Hofferth. August Vergin was appOinted as the first 
town milrshal with Thomas E. (Pat) Crowe as the town's 
first attorney. Mrs. Vergin resigned in July and Burney 
Maxwell was appOinted. 

The government was run on money borrowed from 
the trustees from election time (Feb.) until the begin­
ning of the next year. There was no town ha II so the 
second floor of the old Kouts building, vacated in 1964 
by Mrs. Cunningham, was rented as a meeting place. 

The first budget was small, only slightly over a 
thousand dollars with $75 a month allowed for the 
town marshal, $25 a year for each trustee and $50 a 
year for the clerk. With no electricity nor water, 
and most of the roads in town taken care of by the 
county, a large bUdget was unnecessary. 

Electricity was extended from Hebron to Kouts 
in 1921 from the Walter Beal generating plant in He­
bron. By 1924 power came from the Valparaiso Lighting 

Co. and then the Northern Indiana PUblic Service ab­
sorbed both plants and electricity W'iS brought from 
the State Line generator in Hammond. 

In a December 1922 meeting of the Town Board 
Henry Herring offered the following resolution: 

That whereas the Town of Kouts is without a 
place to keep their fire truck and also without a lock 
up, and without a place to hold their meetings and 
whereas H. V. Deopker has offered to sell to the Town 
of Kouts the cement block building and about 22 ft. 
of ground (frontage) off the north side of lot for the 
sum of $2500, one half to be paid in 2 years and th.. 
balance in 3 years with the rate of interest at 6 %be 
it resolved - that the Town Board purchase the same 
when he furnishes a good and sufficient warranty deed _ 
motion carried. 

In July 1923 the order of business carried a 
motion by Ira Dye, seconded by Henry Herring, that 
the front of the town hall be taken down for the purpose 
of putting in an .. I" beam instead of the wooden beam 
which will be too short when the front is remodeled for 
the purpose of accommodating the fire truck) also to 
fill in the back end with blocks and a wall to form a 
lock up. Motion carried. 

A committee of two, Herring and Dye, was ap­
pointed to look after the work on the town hall. 

The jail was built at a cost of $36U and locks, cots 
and a coal stove were added equipment. 

The fire siren was ordered in May 1925 at a 

" 

"Ye Old Town Jail" Kouts Water Tower 
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First Town Hall 

cost of $360 with Ralph Knoll and Paul Gordon doing 
the electrical work at a cost of $175. 

In july 1925 a resolution was passed to sound 
the siren at noon each day for the purpose of testing and 
to keep the siren in working condition. So for forty 
years we've known when to eat lunch or dinner. 

The struggle for water in town. too. required 
perseverance. In 1930 a petition was mde to erect a 
municipal water plant but the Public Service Comm.'.ssion 
rejected it because a town is allowed to be banded for 
only 3% of ite; taxable evaluation and that sum was insuf­
flcient to build a plant. The rejection was a blessing 
in disguise for in 1939 on the se:::ond try. a mllch larger 
and better plant was made possible through government 
assistance. At the time an alert town resident read that 
Lakeville, Indiana W:lS ins~alling a water system through 
P.W.A. help. Accordingly Town Board President Fred 
Perry and Town Attorney Edward j. Ryan drove to 
Lakeville to confer with their town officials. With their 
findings they drove on to South Bend to see Clarence 
Manion who had cha rge of P.W.A. in this region and he 
promised to use his influence 011 behalf of the Kouts 
project. In due time wells were drilled on the George 
GUssman property which had been purchased by the 
town. The W.P.A. furnished the labor and P.W.A. some 
of the material required and Kouts had an adequate 
plant. 

At one of their meetings the Town Board gave 
priority to na ming the streets. The leading north-south 
street remained Main Street as it has always been but 
commonly called -19 today, while the leading east-west 
street was named Indiana Street, now State Road 8. Rose 
Street was named for Rose Yoder of whom you shall 
read in the Christian Church history; Kouts Street in 
honor of the first family; Maple Street for the trees 
that enhance it; Church Street because two churches are 
at its beginning; Poland Avenue for many of our early 
Polish residents who lived on it; Will Street for Will 
Betterton; College Avenue for it ran past both the old 
and new school. and Mentor Street retained the name' 
given it by Charlie Betterton. Sr. The street running 
parallel to the Erie Railroad was named Erie Street 
while the one running north of and parallel to the Pen­
nsylvania Railroad was called Railroad Street. 

The board had their moments of levity for to 
Pete Lyons. a staunch Democrat. the street past his 
home wa s named McKinley, while not wanting to neglect 
a rank Republican, the street beside Will Betterton's 
home was named jefferson Street. 

In 1957 construction on a new Town Hall to cost 
$17,000 was begun on the site of the old O'Brien Hall, 
more recently Bill Hefron's Royal Blue Store, destroyed 
by fire. It was dedicated in 1958 and serves as a meeting 
place for not only the Town Board, but also for a voting 
place. other civic meetings as well as a garage to house 
the fire trucks. 

Howal'd McKinney developed the two acres in the 
Rosenbaum addition on the north side of Road 8 with 
the house now owned by Mrs. Gust Lippert being the 
first one built. 

A new subdivision W;IS started in an area southwest 
of town in 1952 with Lee Birky building the first homes. 
In 1954 Sam Strong furthered development but sold out 
to IJal1 wllOse home sitee; are on the south side of jef­
ferson Street. with Hamstra Builders building on the 
north side of jefferson. This area was brought into 
the corporation in March, 1959. 

f\ lien Good opened Good Ac res to the north of town 
on the west side of 49 and here built the Medical Arts 
Building and plotted the rest of the area for restricted 
homesites. Shady Lane on North Church Street is under 
development iI s is the Betterton property on S. Main 
Street. The Wieland property on the east end of town 
awaits d-=velopment. 

Centennial Year finds the Town Board and citizenry 
faced with the challenging problems of a sewage disposal 
and new storm sewers. 

- -

--­--­--­-...• 
Present Town Hall and Fire Station 
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Present Town Board Members - Pictured left to right, ing, Town Attorney, Quentin Blachly, Carl Schnekenburg­
Virgil Heinold, Melvin Cannon, and William Salzer, Stand- er, Clerk Treasurer and Harold Chael. 

Kouts Area Law Enforcement Officers: Pictured left to fic Officer, james Boe, Indiana State Trooper and Le­
right, Ewalt jahnz, Deputy Sheriff, joseph Shepard, Traf- land jarnecke, Kouts Town Marshall. 
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Present Town Hall and Fire Station 

Rogowski, and George Maul made the trip to drive the 
truck to Kouts. 

J. . Hiatl and Howard Cannon served as heads 
of the Fire Department between the time served by 
Ewalt Jahnz and the present. 

Chael-Fire Chief, Leo Fullgraf, and Floyd Miller. On 
truck: Robert Claussen, James Kosanke-Ass't Chief, 
Bernard Kroft, John Sandberg, Norman (Mike) Haring, 
John Timm, and Gene Manago. 

Seated: Fritz Maul, George Maul, and Al Whited. 
Standing on the ground: Ewalt Jahnz, Joe Shepard, Le­
land Jarnecke, Lester Rhynard, Cecil Maxwell, Harold 
Dommer, Harold Chael, Asst Chief, John Rogowski, Dick 

In the April 25, 1921 meeting a resolution was 
proposed for the purchase of a triple tank chemical 
engine outfit from Obenchain-Bauer Co. of Logansport, 
Indiana for the sum of $2075 with Cannon and Peters 
Ford Dealers of Kouts to furnish a Ford ton truck chassis 
with self starter for the sum of $682. The resolution 
was passed, the outfit purchased, and put into service 
on May 5, 1921. 

The first fire fought by the department with the 
new truck was that of the Fred Heinold residence on 
August 4, 1921. 

The Fire Department was on a voluntary basis 
and Paul Gordon, Gust Rosenbaum, ugust Vergin, Bur­
ney Maxwell, and Herman Chael were names listed in the 
department's infancy. 

By 1930 the Ford chassis was replaced with a 
larger Chevrolet chassis (1 1/2 ton) and Ewalt J 3hnZ 

became the fire chief. With the installation of the 
water plant, fire was fought with water pressure on the 
hose. 

In 1946 Kouts acquired the first pumper truck and 
In January 1965 a new American-LaFrance fire truck 
was purchased in Elmira, New York for $23,000. Present 
Fire ClUef Richard Chael, his brother Harold, ] 0hn 
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"Kouts Is Four In Score 

Ready For A Hundred More" 

Radio Relay Tower South of Kouts 
Another link in the nation's growing web of defense 

and civilian communications is that of the new microwave 
radio relay system which stretches f om coast to coast. 
In Illinois these towers are located at Winnebago, Lee, 
1\'Orway, Bonfield, and Momence, and in Indiana at Kouts 
and LaPorte. 

At the present time many of the nation's trans­
continental telephone circuits pass through hicago. The 
new radio relay route will carry calls around Chicago 
which is a safety factor in nationa I defense if the 
telephone equipment in Chicago should be destroyed. 

Each tower in the system will use newly deve loped 
antennas shaped like "horns of plenty" which send 
beams of radio waves toward the next tower in line as 
well as receiving antenna which gather them in. Then 
they are amplified and sent on. Each pair of "cornu­
copia horns" can handle as many as 20,000 telephone 
conversations at a time. 

The steel towers range in height from 187 feet at 
Winnebago to 340 feet at Kouts. The Kouts tower was 
built and completed in 1956. 

Very few attempts have been made to establish 
manufacturing enterprises in Kouts. Joseph Hackman 
erected a sawmill on the bank of the Kankakee River in 
the very early days, but in the 1870's sold it to James 
M. Pugh who converted it into a portable mill and used 
it In various parts of the township. 

H. A. Wright started a cheese factory about 1877 
(where Breitzke's live) but shortly abandoned the under­
taking. 

In 1887 Jerry Ryan started an aX-handle factory­
which employed five or six men but for lack of sUltaOle 
timber that business was discontinued. 

The cutting and ba ling of marsh hay was big 

, 

Miss Kathy Robbins - Kouts Centennial Slogan Winner 

business until the straightening of the Kankakee and 
digging dredge ditches turned a II the area imo productive 
farm lands. 

After 1910 mine props were cut from the river 
timber untHthe supply was exhausted. They were 
shipped out by rail from Kouts to their destination. 

Albright and Ely. representatives of Elkhart Lum­
ber Company, had a saw mill on East Mentor Street 
apprOXimately where the stockyards are now, but it was 
destroyed by fire in the early 1920's. Over a million 
board feet of lumber was lost. 

In 1915 a reed furniture and basket factory was 
started by Joe Mroz in the Glissman Building known as 
"The Hunters' Home". In this venture George Maul and 
Prokop of LaPorte worked with Joe. From "The Hun­
ters' Home" they moved to the Frazier Building (next 
east of Mrs. Kasl's home). After a few years the factory 
moved to LaPorte and Joe and George went into the 
slaughtering business. 

In the 1920' s Dodson had a so-called pickle fac­
tory in Kouts. It was merely the large vats of salt 
brine in which the pickles were stored until shipped 
by rail to the processing plants. These vats stood east 
of the Kouts Elevator along the Pennsylvania Railroad. 
Claussen succeeded Dodson in this project but the com­
munity soon tired of the back breaking activity. 
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Pennsylvania Depot with Agent Adolph Kaysen 

Rail service at Kouts is provided by two lines. 
The Logansport Division of the Pennsylvania line, P .C.C. 
& St. L. R.R .. which was built through here in 1865, was 
the beginning of the town. 

The Chicago and Atlantic Railroad built through 
Kouts was begun in 1881 and the first trains ran over it 
on December 25, 1883. The work had been hampered by 
the stretch of wet marsh land between Clanricarde and 
\\'ilders where all the roadbed had to be built with wheel­
barrows and shovels. Very little work could be done with 
horses as they were too heavy. The 1887 wreck at Sandy 
Hook Ditch caused the bankruptcy of the Chicago and 
,\tlantic and it then became the Chicago and Erie. 

The Pennsylvania double tracked in 1904 and the 
Erie in 1916. Each road ran two accommodation trains 
each way daily. 

With the Erie crossing the Pennsylvania in Kouts, 
operators and lever men have always held important 
and responsible positions. Formerly it was just two 
shifts as each turn wa s 12 hours instead of 8 hours as 
now. Early operators whose names could be recalled 
were; Fritz Wolbrandt, Godfrey Nimon, Ted Swartz, 
Charlie Bentley, Mike Shutske, Cleo Kent, George Hana­
way, Edward M. O'Brien, Gleason Falls, Edwin and 
George Pumroy. The last 6 men knew and used the 
Morse Code so were telegraphers. too, as trains were 
dispatched that way. Today they use telephones. Thoma s 
QUirk, Sr. was operator at the Lomax tower and lived 
in Kouts. Jack Radilyack, Henry Furness, and Hany 
Rollar worked at the Clanricarde Tower long since 
discontinued, as well as the tower at Goodpasture's 
crossing (where J. L. Vogel now lives) where Bert 
Warble was operator. Present operators are: Charles 
Underwood, Jack Frasere and John Paulsen. 

The Pennsylvania depot agents were: Barney 
Kouts, Pent Witham, Turner Eadus, A. J. Howard, Pat 
Halligan, Tommy Britton, Joseph V. Vogel, Jay Banter, 
Bob Maudlin, Mrs. Howard Enoch, also her husband 
Howard Enoch, Wanda Kinney, and now Adolph Kaysen of 
Hebron who serves only a certain hour each day. 

The Erie agents were; Mike 0' Brien, Ray Berlin, 
Moonshower, D. E. Jones, Waldo Gray, Claude Walters, 
Wayne Mallett, Kenny Appleman, Harry Teems, and 
presently our genial and ever obliging Lester Hoover. 

To keep the trains moving safely. a number of 
sigGal men were stationed in Kouts. George Wolbrandt, 
John Metherd, Fred Chael, Dempsey Wandrey, Ernest 
Wandrey, Harvey James, Wilbur McIntire, and Alfred 
Chatten are some names that come to mind and each 
served many years. 

In addition Henry Dux was employed by the Pennsyl­
vania as car repairman, working on any box cars needing 

Erie Depot with Agent Lester Hoover 

:Jran j porlalion 

repair found on the siding between the coal docks and 
Crown Point. 

The section men had the responsibility of keeping 
the road bed in repair and ready for the heavy train traf­
fic. The Erie and Pennsylvania each had four sections 
with the bosses and workers living in town. Some of the 
Erie bosses were Pat McGrath. Tommy Clark, George 
Bernoski, William Cunningham, Roy Adams, and Ted 
Hurley. 

On the Pennsylvania were found Louie Pfost, Jerry 
McCarthy, Louis Wandrey, Jim Garrigan, John Dwyer, 
Lawrence Starkey, Hiram Jackson, and Fred Henning. 
Now these sections are lengthened and few if any of the 
men live in town. The men commute in company owned 
trucks and on company time. 

Before the installation of gates at the Main Stree. 
crossings both roads employed crossing watchmen, with 
John Lapelski, Alec Williamson, George Maul, Gust 
Jahnz, Ed Garvey, and Mrs. Fred Henning each serving 
a period of years, while August Honehouse and Verner 
Blachly guarde the Erie until gates and flashers were 
installed in 1941. 

Besides the railroaders you've read about, another 
group of men held responsible positions at the Coal 
Docks and Water Tank. All the Pennsylvania trains 
stopped in Kouts for coal and water. While the men 
appreciated the work so close at hand, the townspeople 
became weary waiting for the crossing to clear, the 
women disgusted if not furious when the refueled train 
belched out soot on their washings and clean porches. 
Finally the agitation became so great that the Pennsyl-­
vania built new modern docks two miles west of Kouts, 
where a tiled ditch brought water from Sandy Hook Ditch 
to their water tank. They opened for their first trains 
on February 14. 1907. (A real Valentine for the town.) 

Fred Chael, Sr. and Dan Metherd are names of 
early workers at the docks as are Lawrence Starkey, 
John Wandrey and Joe Craig. 

By 1911 the Sandy Hook Ditch was dredged lower­
ing the water level and wells had to be drilled. They 
drilled 290 feet and found plenty of water. But before 
the first train reached Logansport, they had an urgent 
call ordering them not to use that water for any more 
trains. It was too salty! By drilling more wells and 
installing a pump to lift the water from the Sandy Hook 
Ditch, a supply of water was in reserve. 

Joe Craig was foreman at the docks from 1909 till 
1911 when Jim Hooley who had seniority took over the 
job until 1914; then John Dunkel took over till 1926 
when Joe Craig was welcomed back and held the job 
until his retirement in 1946. Alva Hardesty took Joe 
Craig's place and then Ray Sommerville until the use 
of diesel engines closed the docks. They were dismantled 
and torn down in 1957. 
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New Post Office in Kouts 

Zorn, Joe Vannett, Mrs. Pent Witham and sons, 
Maxwells, Sims and others, who went to North Dakota 
to homestead. 

On March 27, 1902 Charles vVolbrandt, a nephew 
of George Wolbrandt, was appOinted and for the first 
time Kouts had an office in a building which was 
exclusively a Post Office. It later became a barber 
shop. Mr. Wolbrandt's daughter Vivian (Mrs. Francis 
Hawbrook) lives in the Five Points area as well as 
grandchildren and great grandchildren, Tetzloffs and 
Selmans. 

On August 23, 1913, Burt Hofferth was awarded the 
job and it was during his tenure that the business outgrew 
its first building. Since Mrs. Kouts owned the building 
and was made aware of the overcrowded condition, she 
immediately hired Frank Bradney as carpenter, to build 
a larger building just east of the old one. It was during 
these years that Kouts became a third class office. 
Burt resigned in 1921 to go back into private business. 

Clara Young was appointed in April 1921 but due 
to a technicality reqUiring the. postmaster to be a free 
holder in the town or township, served only three months 
when she was succeeded by Albert Honehollse. When 
politics changed again, Mr. Honehouse was succeeded 
by Ira Dye who took ove r on January 1, 1933, and served 
for twenty years. 

On November 1, 1953 Lester Rhynard WaS awarded 
the position and in 1955 the post Office mOved from its 
location of over a half century, to its new home on 
State Road 49. With increased business due to growth 
of town and community, Kouts became a second class 
office in 1954. The income from the sale of stamps, 
government cC'rds and envelopes determines the class 
rating of an office. Mitchell Starkey has served as a 
faithful and competent postal clerk since June 1959. 

Through the years Kouts has always been privileged 
to have excellent mail service with both railroads dis­
patching and discharging first class mail several times 
daily on their fast trains. However at present, just 
one mail sack a day is sent and received on the Pennsyl­
vania, none on the Erie. The bulk of the mail is brought 
in by truck, as is the parcel post, and is dispatched in 
like manner. 

According to records from the Federal Government 
the first name of our town was Foster, and Peter C. 
Bonham was temporary postmaster. 

It was on May 14, 1867 that Hilary Wright was 
appointed postmaster of Kout's Station, a fourth class 
office, and he served until March 11, 1881. Mr. Wright 
was succeeded by Sebastian Douglas who served only 
twenty-one months. 

Lyman Atkins got his appointment on December 4, 
1882. He was Dr. Atkin's brother and had the office 
in his brother's drug store. 

On February 5, 1886 Jim O'Brien took up the duties 
in his store under Grover Cleveland's administration 
and served under Cleveland's both terms which were 
separated by a term under Benjamin Harrison's presi­
dency when Johnny Hall was awarded the job. 

Due to a change in politics Truman S. Caswell 
(called Stoddard Caswell) relieved Jim O'Brien and had 
the Post Office in a small bUilding, office and home 
combination, across the alley from the old Post Office 
on what is now the Dittmer property. It was moved 
to North Main Street and converted to a barber shop. 

Since Mr. Caswell was paralyzed from an accident 
in the timber when a falling tree caused a permanent 
back injury, he served his customers from a wheel 
chair. He resigned in 1902 to join the families of Mark 

A group of 68 townsmen and farmers led by a 
better business promoter pooled their resources and 
built the Kouts Creamery in 1912 with P. O. Norris 
current bank cashier as secretary-treasurer. It always 
operated on the brink of broke, never paid dividends 
and the stockholders finally sold out to Martin Walters 
whose sons continued the business. They shortly went 
over the brink and the building was taken over by the 
Bowman Dairy in 1925. This place hummed with activity 
and was a .. shot in the arm" to both business and the 
farmer. Farmers hauled milk for a radius of twenty 
mUes to the dairy where it was tested, cooled, and 
piped into thermos trucks for its journey to Chicago. 
Dairy managers included Ed Capouch, George Mathews, 
Harvey Lloyd, Harry Carr, and Ed Knopinski who 
succeeded each other in that order. 

Chris Daumer, owner and manager of the thermos 
trucks, bought and renovated the former Ford garage 
built by George Knoll. Some of his faithful drivers 
were Don Rhynard, Clarence Sommers, George Talbutt, 
Leon Henderson, Vernon (Gangle) Burns, and George 
Wilson. With newer methods of milk handling, Bowman 
Dairy closed in November of 1951. Heinold Elevator 
bought the building and use it as a storage place. 
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Pictured above Mrs. Rosenbaum at reins of rural mail 
route buggy which she used until 1923. 

History records that the first rural route in the 
United States was established in Charleston, West 
Virginia in 1896; it was 15 miles long. At the present 
time our nation is served by 32,000 routes, averaging 
55 miles per route. 

It was on November 15, 1904 that the first rural 
free dellvery was started from the Kouts Post Office. 
Earl Pierce was the first carrier and served until 
February 1913. His brother Nyle was his substitute. 
The route of 21 miles was covered with a horse drawn 
ma1l wagon and in 1913 with the introduction of Parcel 
Post, had an added feature for everyone's convenience. 

The inimitable Edward (Eddie) Rosenbaum was ap­
pointed to succeed Earl Pierce. 

With the establishment of a second route from the 
Kouts office in 1916, Carl Cannon became the second 
carrier. He served until January 31, 1917 when he 
resigned. Eddie's sister, Laura Rosenbaum Pulaski, 

was his successor on Route Two but by mutual agree­
ment they traded routes. 

Eddie served Kouts rural patrons fo, H years 
retiring in 1957. Hattie, his wife, substituted for him 
until her tragic death October 1, 1948 In a traffic 
accident at the junction of Roads 2 and 30 southeast 
of Valparaiso. 

Laura retired in 1962 after 46 years service and 
in all those years, no one ever saw either Laura or 
Eddie too busy. too hurried, or too harassed to be 
patient, polite, and pleasant, often going beyond the call 
of duty and despite most adverse road and weather 
conditions they followed the motto of the Pony Express 
"the Mall Must Go Through". 

Eddie was succeeded by AI Miller and Art Kneifel 
was awarded Laura's route. Eddie and Laura left very 
exacting marks of excellence in service at which to aim, 
and by aiming high, doth one grow. Future historians 
can wl"ite the new carriers' claim to fame. 

The Burke Ranch was created in 1887 when three 
Chicago cattle brokers - Jim and John Burke, brothers, 
and George Adams - bought almost ten square miles 
of Kankakee swampland southeast of Kouts for $2.50 
to $3.00 an acre. The 6000 acres of damp land grew 
UtIle except wild marsh hay. But that was abundant 
and the men planned to ship in western cattle to winter 
on the hay, fatten in the spring on Illinois corn and 
brewery malt and thus earn a tidy profit. 

Accordingly they hired Charles Lauer, a lean six­
footer plus, just turned 21 to set up and manage the 
ranch. With help he erected a few rough buildings, 
strung 12 miles of fence and graded a siding which 
the Erie Railroad tracked and named Clanricarde in 
honor of Jim Burke's wife's home town in Wales. To 
this pOint the cattle were shipped from Chicago. By 
the fall of 1888 longhorns by the train load began arriving 
and they soon had 1800. Our Hoosier cowboys knew little 
about western cattle but they soon learned never to 
walk among them. They would obey horsemen but 
Immediately charge a man afoot. 

They got through the first winter in good shape, 
tending the herd on imported western ponies and feeding 
them 9000 tons of wild hay baled that summer. Frank 
O'Brien, son of Mike 0' Brien, one of Kouts' first store­
keepers, and William Hofferth, then boys, helped with 
the haying during the summer. Frank Kise and Lawrence 

Sta rkey whose son Gordon lives in Kouts, was one of 
the cowboys. 

The following spring Lauer and a half dozen men 
staned on their first big trail drive with 450 cattle to 
Herscher, Illinois in the heart of the corn belt 80 miles 
away. They traveled 20 miles a day with no trouble 
until they made the mistake of driving the herd through 
Kankakee. Curious people stood and stared, and as the 
crowd gathered some steers got nervous and stampeded. 
The people did, too, and luckily they took off in opposite 
directions. The cowboys finally gOt the herd stopped 
two miles out of town and finished the drive without 
further incident. 

During the next two years, they made a half dozen 
similar cattle drives without serious trouble. 

But the cowboys in Indiana were short lived. The 
ranch owners failed to reap expected fat profits ;J.nd 
welched on pay promises. In 1890 Lauer qUit and went 
to work on the railroad. A few years later the Burke 
ranch delcared bankruptcy. 

Clanricarde still remains; there has been a grain 
elevator there since 1907 owned and operated by WiI­
Ham J. Dahl. In the early part of the century it was 
a regular stop far the accommodation trains on the 
Erie. The old ranch boarding house was moved out 
to the main road (Dunn's Bridge Road), remodeled and 
is a dwelling now owned by the Kirsten Brothers. The 
ranch manager's home built at Log Heap, just south 
of Joe Dahl's place on the hill, was destroyed by fire. 
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Telephone service in Kouts was first established 
in 1899. It was owned by Abe Halleck, father of Charles 
Halleck, long time Republican congressman. The office 
was located in the building now owned by Desilver 
Lyon and was operated by Harry Reiter and his family, 
local service only. He also had a jewelry store in 
conneCtion with the telephone office. 

The franchise was sold in 1903 to H. R. Bsll and 
James McGill of Valparaiso; the company was known 
as the "Northwestern Ind!.ana Telephone Company:' 
The office was moved to the Benkie Drug Store. There 
were twenty subscribers and one Valparaiso line. The 
first manager was Carrol Stanton and chief lineman 
was George Stanton. The first operators in that location 
were Etta Benkie, Sylvia (Wandry) Berrier and Fred 
Behrends. 

The office was moved again in 1910 to the Gust 
Kosanke residence now owned by Joe Susdorf. 

The managers during the years were George Burk, 

Since Kouts is surrounded by fertile farm land 
producing good crops of grain and hay, stock raising 
has always been an important occupation. 

Gust Kosanke and George Wolbrandt bought and 
slaughtered animals for local consumption, for each 
had a meat market in town. 

George Childers, Art Maxwell, William Detlef, 
Jerome Bartholomew, and William Denzine were stock 
buyers too, who rode through the area buying up hogs, 
cattle and sheep to be shipped to the Chicago Stock 
Yards. There were stock pens on both the Erie and 
Pennsylvania Railroads, to which stock was driven on 
foot in the early days and hauled later by wagon, and then 
by trucks. 

It was in 1948 that Vernon Reibly of Valparaiso 
started a hog market on the southeast edge of town at 
the end of Mentor St. It was bought in 1950 by Harold 

Service 

James Walsh, Harry Wells and Paul Gordon. The 
operators were Kenny (Cunningham) Reder, Mabel (Hall) 
Gordon, Margaret (Lane) Bradney, Mabel (Wells) 
Carichoff, Annetta (Kosanke) Humphrey, Lena (Kosanke) 
Brodus, Rie Maxwell, Lenore (Kosanke) Buechner, Laura 
(Kosanke) Wult, Agnes (Lauer) Stark, Lyle (Dangerfield) 
Smith, Milne Trinkle Bruder, Caroline Hamann, Orma 
Sandberg Wellsland, Margaret James, Alice Hough, 
Margaret (Hough) Billet, Margaret (Cannon) Graham, 
Joe Susdorf, Ruby Susdorf, Lulu Schneckenburger, and 
Louise A. Benkie. 

In 1937 the company was sold to the Indiana 
Association Telephone Corporation, predecessor of 
General Telephone Company of Indiana. In 1950 a 
new office W2S constructed and the equipment converted 
to dial on October 17th. Kouts outgrew the equipment 
installed at that time and a new building was erected. 
Another conversion was made on May 5, 1963 to com­
pletely modern dial equipment, seven digit numbers 
and direct distance dialing. 

Heinold and today an average of 60 farmers and truckers 
pass through Kouts daily to bring hogs to market, 
coming from distances up to 25 miles. 

Mr. Heinold has 20 other markets in Indiana, 
Illinois, and one in Iowa, and last y~ar a total of 2 
million hogs were handled with a gross of 70 million 
dollars. The garage originally built by George Knoll, 
an early Ford dealer, later owned by Chris Daumer to 
house the milk trucks of Bowman Dairy days, was 
completely renovated and remodeled, and is the main 
office of the Heinold Hog Market with Joseph Vogel, 
Jr. as general manager, and in Kouts a total of 11 
persons are employed. 

William Reinke, a native son, is local manager of 
the yards, while another native son, Ray Pfledderer, is 
manager of a newly opened yard near Liberty, Indiana. 



Congratulation's
 
TO 

KOUTS
 

Helen (Hendrlckson\ 

Stalbau m' s
 
Beauty Shop
 

1108 Chicago Street 

Valparaiso, Indiana 

MILLER'S MUSEUM
 
The Home Of Over 100 Tractors, 

Steam Eng ines 

And Other Small Antiques. 

Three Miles South 

LaCrosse, Indiana
 
On State Highway 421 

Frank and Pauline
 

Miller
 

Telephone 3135
 

MONTONEY'S FARM EQUIPMENT
 
AUTHORIZED 

OLIVER DEALER
 

Brillion - Sales & Service - Papec 

Kouts, Indiana Phone 766-2311
 

Bill Montoney Lloyd White, Salesman 
Home Phone Home Phone 

Valpo 462-8426 Hebron 996-3055 



THE LEADER AND LIBERTY CAFE 
The first brick business building in Kouts was built 

in 1 93 by Barney Kouts who rented it to Massey and 

Since you have read of the earliest business men 
and their stores. an attempt will be made to trace the 
sequence of busines s in the building and shall try to 
avoid being repetitious. 

The first Kouts store (Cunninghams), a one story 
frame structure, was remodeled in 1911 by addin 
second story providing office space for rent and laying 
up a block stone exterior. After Mr. Kouts no longer 
used the building Wolbrandts had a meat market here. 
\'Irs. Celia Childers had a millinery store for over a 
quarter century. Mrs. Childers was followed by . lr. 
dnd Mrs. Amos Cunningham who had a notions. dry 
goods and candy store which closed in 1963 due to age 
and health of the owner. Mrs. Mary Cunningham. 

The Rosenbaum Store operated under that name, nd 
by members of the family until the 1930's. Linkimers of 
\'alpar~iso had " store for a short time. Then the build­
ing was razed "nd the Cities Service Station built on the 
site. 

The Rosenbaum Hardware Store was IdSt operated 
under that name by Gus who sold out to Harve Stanley 
in 1929. Mr. Stanley intended to have 3 meat m,lrket 
but his plans did not work out and he sold it to William 
Denzine, who operated a grocerv .,nd meat ma rkpt fr"~ 

1930 to 1947. Mr. Denzine sold to Wayne Mallett who had 
an electrical appliance shop until he sold to Tabler who 
had a fire which left only the lot to the owner. 

As you've read O'Briens sold out to Luers in 191(,. 
Luers sold to Shutske Brothers (John and Leo) in 1921 
and in 1924 Shutskes sold back to Luers who continu d 
d general store until 1932. The building \\" s then u e 
by the American Legion as a meeting place. Penn) 
dances wet-e held there, too. In 1937 ugust Gessa anc' 
br0ther-in-law, Ellis "Cap" Snow. bought the bUilding 
and opened it as a grocery and medt market. In March 
1946 William Hefron bought out Snow dnd he and \ueie 
were partners until 1955 when Bill became sale owner. 
The same year a locker plant. a much needed sen ice 
was built on the south side of the store. But on Octoher 
28, 1955 the building and contents were destroyed b) 
fire. 

Kosankes Furniture Store sold out to Carol Root 
in the early 1940's who opened it as d hardware store. 
Root sold to Roger Schnurlein, who sold to Jack Keehn. 
The latter operated the store until February 1965 selling 
to Paarlberg the present proprietor. All the owner~ 

since Kosankes have come from Crown Point. 

1eat Market became a restaurant in the 
louise Hamann in charge. and when it 

was 
1 h 

t oy f! by fire in February 1927 she built a new 
buil i g on t e me site. Her brother and wife, William 
and Carolin Hamann conducted the business until his 
de th 10 192. Mclntires then operated the restaurant 
for 0 ye r. ucceeded by Gordon and Harriet Spencer. 
In 1 2 tt building and business were sold to Fred 
Perry. 

Th r Building which stood next to Kosankes 
Stor ( nd shared a common stairway. was a general 
star tee! by Bettertons and then H. V. Deopker. 
\\ h • a Irs. James L. Nichols and family came to 
Kout in 190 . he bought the Potter Building and opened 
a Po 1 0 rt1 ",here he. too. was dealer in tobacco. 
ciga • n an les. In 1916 this business was discon­
tinued, the uIlding bought by Fred Perry and used in 
can ! luting the Gem Theatre on the north side of newly 
Ope'l \ 11 Street. When the Gem Theatre was razed in 
the 30' the usable lumber was incorporated in the 
pre nt C'hri tian parsonage where the Rose Yoder home 
wa t y d by fire in February 1927. Mr. and Mrs. 
Lu r u hter were living in the house at the time 
of the 

I Jf 

The Potter Building - James Nichols Prop. 
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daughter Lois and son 

The Hiatt BUilding (built by Jim O'Brien) Prop. Floyd Mr. Gus Rueger 
i\ichols. "Indiana's Largest Man" (475 Ibs.) 

Freeman. It was then leased to H. \'. Deopker and the 
store was known as "The Leader". As such it carried 
aroceries, dry goods, shoes, carpets, etc. Deopker 
~as succeeded by Oroman and Shapiro who used the same 
trade name. In 1914 the building was unoccupied. Later 
it opened as "The Liberty Cafe" with John Ketchmark 
as proprietor. Gatlif and Morningstar had a busmess 
there and William Hamann had It until he moved to the 
site of now Hilliards restuarant. Gus Krueger had a 
hardware store in the 20's. Howard Edwards operated 
a tavern coming here in 1937. Edwa rds moved their 
business and the Kouts building housed a package llquor 
store. Then back to a restaurant with a frequent change 
of proprietors. Mrs. John Stoddard and Mrs. Ora Gut 
are two names recalled, and the building was last used 
by am Myren who operated a bakery and short order 
restdurant until 1963. 

After the frame store bUilding on the site of Fritz's 

Tavern was destroyed by fire, H. V. Deopker bought the 
site and in 1911 erected a large block stone building to 
use as a general store. In this grocery section were 
seen the first fresh green vegetables ever to be on sale 
in Kouts in the winter time. One solicitous mother was 
heard to remark, "Indeed! I wouldn't feed my children 
that raw stuff in this cold weather." After a decade of 
successful business, Deopker sold to J. T. Cannon and 
Sons, who sold to Russell and Gilbert Prevo. In 1927 
Prevos sold to Combs and the store closed in 1929. 

In 1926 Mr. Deopker sold the building to Thomas 
Quirk, Sr. In 1931 Mrs. Kate Quirk opened the I.G.A. 
Store and operated it until 1940. Mrs. Quirk sold the 
store building to Howard Edwards who had a tavern until 
he sold out to Stowers in 1943. Stowers sold to Fred 
Maul in 1945 and it is Fritz'S Tavern today. 

Mr. and Mrs. Tom Mason, Mr. and Mrs. Dwight 
Mason and Donald about 1915. 
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Mr. and Mrs. Walter Bush, sons Wayne and Judd and 
daughter, Gladys olnd Miss Edna Wright. 

Goodpasture's Barber Shop 

Rasmussen's stock and had a store there for two years. 
He and Paul Martin had a restaurant on the east side 
of Main Street for year when bought Paul out and had 
a grocery store until 1958. 

Gina's Pizza Shop was built by Link Arnold for a 
poolroom but he sold it to August Wandrey who had a 
saloon until he sold it [0 Runyons who lived upstairs. 
The twO brothers, John and George Runyon, continued 
the saloon business until Prohibition. Rudolph Kuss 
moved his meat market from the Leser Building and had 

store. Heine Dux succeeded his father-in-law, Mr. 
K55, and had a store from 1927 to 1951. Since then 
it has been used as an electrical repair shop by Wright 
and ScOtt, a toy and gift shop by Mrs. Kasl. a dress 
shop by Rhynards, followed by the G. & G.. then as 
'n office by Dr. Hott from 1961 till he moved into the 
.ledical Arts Building. 

The P. Lyons Building now the Kouts Inn was built 
in 1916 on the west side of Main Street where the second 
Kouts building was destroyed by fire in' 1893. It has 
a restaurant in the basement conducted by Luther Wise 
for a number of years, while the main floor had Bowling 
and Pocket Billiards conducted by Andy Trinosky. By 
1928 it was known as jim's Place with jim Herring as 
proprietor, where Near Beer (Prohibition Days), Candy 
Cigars and Pop were advertised. With the repea(of the 
18th Amendment in 1933, it became a tavern and pool­
room, Mllas and Kowalczyk are in charge now. 

HIATT BUILDING 
Floyd, the only son of Jim Nichols, married a 

local girl, Lillie Metherd in 1914. As newlyweds they 
bought the restaurant business of Luther Wise and moved 
it to the Jim O'Brien Building now Hiatt Building. Here 
they served short order meals with Ed Rosenbaum's 
restaurant next door serving regular meals. In 1917 
~Ichols sold to John jarnecke: Jim and Ethel Garrigan, 
and Mansfield had restaurants there too. From then 
ntll the 1930's when Thoma of Valparaiso opened a 

store with Walter Newsom in charge, the businesses 
are unknown. Newsom sold to Snow and the store closed. 
Hiatt bought it and had an electrical and plumbing shop. 

loyd then left Kouts for 7 yea rs returning in 1924 
as a meat currer in Prevo's Store. In 1944 he bought 
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Dwight Mason with Mason Hitch Barn in background 

THE REITER BUILDING NOW LYONS BCILDlf'\G 
VACATED BY SWING REFRIGERATIOf'\ 

Harry Reiter operated a jewelry store, watch re­
pairs. lunch counter, confectionery, ice cream in season 
and housed the telephone exchange in this place until 
1903 when William Trinkle traded the twO homes on 
East Mentor St. (Masts and Meinders) for the building. 
Mr. Trinkle rented it to Johnson who had a restaurant 
and ice cream parlor for a short time and then to Fair­

childs who moved on to onon. From 1905 to 1912 
\\'illbm Denzine and his widowed sister. Mrs. Trinkle. 
carried on a successful restaurant, at which time Mrs. 
Trinkle sold the building to Desilver Lyons and built 
the hotel on Rose Street. Mr. Denzine married Martha 
Chael and together they continued in the business for 
two years selling out to lyle Pierce. From Pierce it 
sold to Ed Rosenbaum who sold to Gus Rueger. Ruegers 
were from Chicago and had lived on a farm near Kouts 

Pete Lyons BUilding -- Kouts Inn 
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LESERS BUILDING 

Henry Herring's Dredge 

before buying the restaurant. Mr. Rueger found business 
so good he bought the site of the Unruh Bakery just north 
and here built a brick building. 

From then the Lyons Building housed many and 
varied businesses. Art Hurley had a poolroom for a 
few years and Eva Jasperson a notions store, a recreation 
center for ITlinims, etc. 

The living quarters of this building might be called 
"Honeymoon Inn" for several couples can claim it as 
their first home. 

(home and saloon combination) on East Mentor Street. 
You've read that WoIbrandts had a tavern here 

selling in the mid 80' s to Knolls of Medaryville who 
moved here with 7 sons. George, Ralph and Otto later 
had business places in town. After Mr. Knoll's death 
his widow married Joe Leser and they continued in the 
saloon business until Prohibition. Then Rudolph Kuss 
sta rted a meat rna rket on this site until he moved 
into the Wandrey bUilding on N. Main. The store part 
was cut away from the home, moved south, faced east 
and made into a dwelling. The remaining part has had 
two fires recently but is still standing. 

In the new bUilding Ruegers built they continued with 
the restaurant until 1923 when they traded it to Earl 
Inman of Valparaiso for property there. Earl Inman 
sold to Frank Klemm who in the mid 30's sold to Ras­
mussens who continued the business until 1944, when 
Floyd ichols took over until 1946 when he sold to Bob 
Heath. Bob Heath sold to Scherers, Scherers sold to 
Stowers and closed it out as a grocery store to reopen 
as the G. & G .. a ladies' ready-to-wear and notions in 
1954. When the G. & G. partnership dissolved, it be­
came the Kouts Department Store as it is today. 

ELEVATORS 
The Wright Elevator along the Erie, destroyed by 

fire in 1901, was never replaced. 
The Kouts Elevator built by Stanton Dillingham was 

sold to J. J. Overmyer early in the century. Overmyer 
sold to Charles Ray who moved here from LaCrosse 
in 1919. He had the business until 1945 when he sold 
to Eldon Kuehl. The latter sold to Heinold, bis com­
petitoI', and the elevator was razed in 1963 to make 
room for improved buildings. 

, 

Left to Right: George Wilcox, Dr. P. D. Noland,
 
Charles Wolbrandt. Kouts Elevator with Charles Ray Prop.
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You've read that Ben and Jack Anderson had a 
livery barn on the east side of N. Main in the 90's bur 
sold out to Rhinolt Klott. After a few years Mr. Klott 
sold the business to Jay Kilday who had the place till it 
burned to the ground around 1910. 

Early in the 1900' s another hitch barn was located 
south of Kosanke's Butcher Shop about where the Kouts 
Stop and Shop is now. Besides livery service draying 
was also conducted by Herman Werner, the proprietor. 

And in the same era Mr. and Mrs. Tom Mason and 
son, Dwight, came from north of Aylesworth to Kouts and 
built a home on the corner of College and Main (orig­
inally the site of Cincoski's blacksmith shop) and the 
Mason Hitch Barn and Livery Stable to the west of the 
home. Here, expecially in cold and rainy weather, church 
goers left their horses and buggies, for their son, Dwight, 
would take the people to the church door and bring the 
horse and rig back to shelter. The pupils attending high 
school left their horses here too, for the day. just a short 
block from school. 

With the coming of the automobiles, the horses 
gave way to the cars and hitch barns to garages. By 
1920 Kouts had three garages, a II still standing - they 
were of block stone construction. 

The first garage was built by George Knoll on Men­
tor Street, now the headqua rters of the Heinold Hog 
Market and Kouts Investments. He built it adjacent to his 
mother's place of business. In the 1920' s it was adver­
tised as Ford Sales and Service and Ford Hospital. 
When George Knoll left Kouts. John Kuss had an agency 
for Maxwell. Chalmers, and Chevrolet in that location. 
John Kuss was followed by the Cannon Brothers (Harry 
and Leon) who previously had a g,lrage in the block stone 
building just north of Deopker's Store (purchased as the 
first lOwn hall in December 1922). The Cannon Brothers 
had the WUlys Knight and Overland Agencies with Auto 
and Tractor Repairing for a few years. 

Although the Bowman Dairy came in 1925 the garage 
was not taken by Chris Daumer for several years. The 
trucks were kept in Hebron. But from 1930 till 1951 
it was here that the trucks were housed and kepr in first 
class mechanica 1 condition for their daily trip to Chicago. 

A. L. Arnold built the second garage on Main 
Street (now the Kouts Stop and Shop Store) and in 1916 
it was operated by Mr. Arnold and William Peters with 
the Maxwell Agency and Livery Hire. Dwight Winchell 
and Grover Lain were competent mechanics in the Main 
Street garage in thilt era. Arnold and Peters were fol­
lowed by Harold DeArmond, Beals, and George Hanaway, 
and in the early 1930' s Luther Wise was operating the 
garage selling Plymouths. From a garage it changed to 
an [mernational Harvester sales and service under Mr. 
Rhelnhertz. 

In 1939 Glenn Crouch took over and it became a 
Hudson agency with Dodge and Plymouth for a time. Then 
Glenn built a new garage north of the four corners of 
8 and 49 on the west side of the road with construction 
beginning in the fa 11 of 1945 and completed by July 1947. 
Here he had the Hudson agency. Unable to carryon the 
garage work, the bUilding was rented by Herschel Maple 
for about three years followed by Victor Krug. who closed 
In 1956 when both 8 and 49 were under construction. 
[n 1960 Glenn Crouch opened the Kwik Wash Laundromat 
and Dry Cleaning establishment in the building. 

All the garages had gasoline pumps as did the 
hardware stores. The first filling station as such was a 
Standard Station operated by E. H. Ling and Fred 
Behrends on the corner where the Marathon Station is 

now only much closer to the road. Lee Murray had a 
Conoco Station where Kosanke's Bottled Gas is and Roy 
Wandrey had the Shell Station for twenty years before 
selling to Bob Claussen. You've read before that Oscar 
Maxwell had a Cities Service Station on the site of the 
Rosenbaum Store. He also drove a tank truck delivering 
gasoline and oil products to farms and homes of the 
territory. 

Charlie Krueger had the first horse drawn Standard 
Oil truck that predated the gravel roads. With mud 
roads it was an occupation for the brave and strong. 
Overpack, Murtaugh and Floyd Kerlinska are some drivers 
that preceded Arden Mendel on the Standard truck. 

Besides the garages which provided taxi service 
generally to the county seat, this service was also 
furnished by Charlie Pullins, George Lane, BertTiIlotson 
and Caroline Hamann. Various attempts were made to 
establish bus service between Kouts and Valparaiso ­
in the 1920' s a bus operated for a couple years and again 
in the 40's but always quit because of no patronage. 

The building occupied by Aleo Aluminum was a one 
story building just east 01 tne alley beside the old post 
office site and was moved in the early 1900's to its pre­
sent location by W. N. Anderson and here he had a 
harness shop. A second story was added. The front 
rooms upstairs were rented for business offices with an 
apartment to the back. 

Theodore Pietsch sta rted a bakery In 1921 and the 
family lived upstairs until 1939 although he sold the 
bakery business to Fred Perry in the late 20' s. With 
the death of W. N. Anderson, Edward M. O'Brien bought 
the building, remodeled the main floor and opened a 
realtor's office. Here he conducted his business until 
1947 when he built the brick office building in the space 
just north of the bank. Paul Martin used the Anderson 
building as a restaurant where Floyd Nichols joined him 
in the enterprise. When Paul Martin returned to the 
service. Floyd closed out the restaurant and opened a 
grocery store which he operated until 1958 when ill 
health forced him to retire. Mrs. Kasl rented it for a 
year as a variety store, followed by Mona's Beauty 
Shop for another year and then the present business 
operated by Joe Krueger. 

The bUilding next south was built by Winfield Pierce 
and shared a common wall with the Anderson building. 
Mr. Pierce had a grocery store for many years followed 
by Jim Hodgins and William Detlef who had a butcher 
shop for a time. Jim Galbreath succeeded them and 
again it wa s a grocery store. F rom this grocery store 
it became a saloon with Ed Stlbbe as proprietor. In the 
30's Gus Krueger used the building as a hardware store. 
Besides hardware Mr. Krueger repaired furnaces, plumb­
ing, and did sheet metal work. The next business was 
that of a pool hall operated by Herman (Luke) Schultz, who 
sold out in 1946 to William E. Reinke and Fenimore 
Biggart. With the accidental death of the latter in 
November 1951, Joe Horak became Reinke's partner until 
July 1955 when they sold to Ed Felker. After a couple 
years Felker sold to Howard Bailey. After Bailey went 
out of business, Orin DeWitt opened the Sports and Hobby 
Shop. 

In Ed 0' Brien's brick office bUilding, a second office 
was first used as a Dress Shop by Mrs. Rhynard. In 
1954 he built an addition to this bUilding and here in 
December 1955 William Hefron opened the Royal Blue 
Store which operated until February 1964. W. A. Butler 
took over Mr. O'Brien's business JUly I, 1951. 
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PRESIDENTIAL SPECIAL
 

WHILETHE TRAIN STOPPED FOR WATER, TRUMAN CHATTED WITH INDIANA CHILDREN 

Great \vas the excitement when the" Presidential 
Special" train stopped in Kouts that October day in 1948. 
It had come in on the Erie from a political rally in Ham­
mond and wanted to continue on the Pennsylvania to a like 
event in logansport. This change over was possible in 
North Judson or Kouts but the latter was the chosen 
place. 

Since this event was known beforehand, vast pre­
parations were made by the section men who did a 
thorough job of c leaning the right of way. Never before 
nor since had it been so meticulously cleaned. Not a 
stone was out of place. One sti I wonders if they have 
ever found all that was hidden from view for those brief 
history making minutes. An extra rail was laid for the 
crossover for the armored car of the t, Presidential 
Special" was too heavy for the rails already in use. 

With school dismissed for the occasion the children 
and townspeople made a sizable crowd. While the train 
stood on the track near the Erie depot, President and 
Mrs. Truman and daughter, Margaret, came out on 
the rear platform of the train. Someone asked President 
Truman to make a speech but his answer was, "I've said 
too much already." However, he and family radiated 
friendliness. 

When the picture appeared in "Life" magazine it 
carried the erroneous caption "While the train stopped 
for water, Truman chatted with Indiana children." It 

Our own beloved Governor Schricker aboard the Pres­ was a diesel not in need of water and it had stopped for 
idential Special. a change over. 



Centennial ?fear BUJineJJ ConcernJ 

The following stores or serv­
ices are available: 

ALUMINUM PRODUCTS 
Aleo - Joseph Krueger 

APPLIANCES-Sales and Service 
Kouts V. and S. - Willard 
Paarlberg 
Kosanke Brothers Bottle Gas ­
James and Edward Kosanke 
Swing Refrigeration - Edward 
Swing 

ACCOUNTANT and TAX SER­
VICE 

W. Arthur Butler 

ASPHALT PAVING 
Robert Church 

AUCTIONEERS 
Carl Hefner 
William Kerns 
Lester Martin 

ADVERTISING SPECIALITIES 
Robert Bodamer 
Willard Sutter 

BANKS 
The Kouts State Bank - Ernest 
M. Thormahlen 

BARBER SHOPS
 
Bill Johnston
 
Vincent Sommers
 

BEAUTY SHOPS 
Doris' Beauty Shop .. Doris 
Schultz 
Style-Rite Beauty Studio ­
Tom Redelman 

BEVERAGE DEALER 
Gerald Hitz 

BUILDING CONTRACTORS 
Allen Good 
Orville Birky and Son 
Leonard Good and Son 
Wilbert Hamstra 
Sam Hostetler 
Owen Sommers 
Howard Wandrey 

BUILDING SUPPLY 
Kouts Building and Supply ­
John B. Rogowski 
Kouts Lumber Co. - Richard 
Chael 

BOTTLE GAS SERVICE 
Kosanke Brothers 
Thermo-Gas Co. - Norm 
Panter 

CABlt'lET MAKERS 
Kouts Cabinets - Monroe Hel­
muth and Ray Owen 

CLOTHING 
Kouts Department Store ­
Gladys McCollum 

DAIRY PRODUCTS 
Vance Wllliams 

DRY CLEANING SERVICE 
Kouts Dry Cleaning - Glen 
Crouch 

DRUG STORES 
Kouts Stop and Shop - Louis 
Marquardt 

ELECTRICIA S 
Harold Cannon 
J. C. Hiatt
 
Ronald Jacobson
 
Merle Schoon
 

FARM SERVICE 
Clanricarde Elevator - Wil­
liam Dahl 
Heiniger Seed Service-
Walter and Mary Heiniger 
Heinold Elevator No.1 - Vir­
gil Heinold - Fern Antrim 
Heinold Elevator No. 11 ­
Harold Fritz 
Kenneth Martin - Crop Spray­
ing 

FISHING LICENSES, EQUIP­
MENT and ACCESSORIES 

Kouts Sports and Hobby Shop 
Fritz Maul's Tavern 

FLORISTS 
Claussens Towne Florists ­
Richard and Irene Claussen 
Heinigers Floral - Walter and 
Mary Heiniger 

F	 El OIL, COAL, and WOOD 
Don Gingerich, Cities Ser­
vice (oil) 
Heinold Elevator Co. Inc. 
(Coal) 
Arden Mendel. Standard Oil 
George Deardurff, Jr. (Wood) 

FUNERAL HOMES 
Kosanke Bros. 

GIFT SHOPS 
Kouts Depanment Store 
Kouts StOp and Shop 
Kouts SPOrt and Hobby Shop 
Small's Antique Shop 
Kouts V & S Hardware 

GROCERIES and MEATS 
Curtis & Son 
Kout s I.G ..A. - Paul & Norma 
Miller 

HARDWARE 
Kouts V & S Ha rdwa re Store 
Kouts Heating and Sheet 
Metal - John Jorgensen 
Kouts lumber Co. - Building 
hardware 

IMPLEMENT DEALER 
Montoney Implement Co. ­
Bill Montoney 

INDUSTRIES 
Heinold Square Deal Feed Co. 
Horn Chocolate Co. 
Kouts Ready-Mix Co. 
Heinold Hog Markets 

INSURANCE 
W. A. Butler Agency 
Hofferth Agency - Burt Hof­
ferth 
Kouts Investments - H. P. 
Hudson 

LAUNDRY
 
Kouts Coin Operate
 

MASON CONTRACTOR
 
Leland J arnecke
 

MEDICAL 
Jack E. Dittmer, M.D. 
Robert Hott, D.D.S. 
John M. Wright, 0.0. 

NEWSPAPER 
The Kouts Times - Maurice 
Mason 
Kankakee Valley Profile ­
James Smith 

PAINTING CONTRACTORS
 
J ames Griffith
 
Herman Honehouse
 
Edgar Redelman
 

PHOTOGRAPHER 
Ted Hitz 

PLUMBERS 
J. C. Hiatt 

PONIES
 
Carl Hefner
 

POUlTRY PROCESSING
 
George Lampl
 

REAL ESTATE 
Kouts Investments - H. P. 
Hudson 
John Schnurlein 
Lester Martin 
W. A. Butler 

READY MIX CONCRETE 
Kouts Ready Mix 

REPAIR SERVICE 
Chael Welding Shop - Harold 
Chael 
Gut Welding Shop - Ora Gut 
Hall's Garage - Charles Hall 

REFRIGERATION SERVICE 
Swing Refrigeration 

RESTAURANTS 
Hilliard's Restaurant 
Kouts Drive-In 
Geno's Pizza Shop 

SLAUGHTER HOUSE 
Curtis & Son 

STOCKYARDS 
Heinold Hog Market 

SERVICE STATIONS 
Claussen's Shell Service 
Cannon's lonzo Service 
Miller's Standard Service 
Salyer's Marathon Service 

TRUCKING SERVICE 
Carl Church 
William Lippert 
John Rogowski 

TAVERNS 
Kouts Inn - Al Kowalczyk & 
Al Milas 
Fritz's Tavern - Fritz Maul 
Old River Inn - Dale Tabler 

UTILITIES 
General Telephone 
Northern Indiana Public Ser­
vice Co. 
Kouts Municipal Water 
Porter Co. Broadcasting Co.­
W.A.Y .K. Radio 
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Centennial program 

All actiuities but the parade are to be held at the school grounds or on the 

adjacent property east of the school grounds. owned by Mr. John Nagaitis. We are 

sincerely grateful for the use of these properties. 

8:00 P.M. Moonlite Madness 

Bob McElroy - Master of Ceremonies 

Oueen Contest 

Selection of Centennial Belle - King 

Judging of Beards 

Judging of Sisters of Swish Costumes 

Entertainment by Selected Talent 

Drawing For Prizes 

Dixey Amusements On Midway 

12:30 P.M. Children's Pet Parade 

2 :00 P.M. Centennial Parade 

4:30 P.M. Water Ball Fight by Firemen 

5: 00 P.M. Ba I loon Ascension 

8 :00 P.M. Pageant 

9:30 P.M. Drawing For Prizes 

9:45 P.M. Mary Lou - Aerial ist 

Dixey Amusements On Midway 
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Morning 

12:30 P.M. 

3:30 P.M. 

4:30 P.M. 

7 :30 P.M. 

8:00 P.M. 

9:30 P.M. 

9:45 P.M. 

Centennial Church Seruice of Your Choice 

Semi-Pro Baseball 

Pee-Wee Basebal I 

Shooting Exhibition - Muzzle Loaders 

Recognition of Senior Citizens 

Pageant 

Drawing For Prizes 

Mary Lou - Aerial ist 

Dixey Amusements On Midway 

9: 00 A.M. Horseshoe Tournament - Continuing Throughout Day 

10:30 A.M. Children's Actiuities 

1:00 P.M. Sawmill - Log Sawing Exhibition 

I :30 P.M. Sky Diuing by Daue Burrus and Associates 

2: 00 P.M. Threshing Exhibition 

2:30 P.M. Kouts - Wanatah Centennial Softball Championship 

3 :00 P.M. Old Timers Bal' Game 

3:30 P.M. Horse Pal" i ng Conte s t 

8:00 P.M. Entertainment 

9:DO P.M. Drawing For Prizes 

9:30 P.M. Mary Lou - Aerialist 

9:45 P.M. Fi reworks 

Dixey Amusements On Midway 
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The longest officially recorded tornado traveled 
293 miles in Illinois and Indiana on May 26, 1917 and 
lasted 7 hours and 20 minutes. Its forward speed was 
40 mph. which is about average. But tornado speed has 
varied from 5 to 139 mph. and this tornado found Kouts. 

It was a hot May Saturday becoming sultry in the 
afternoon, the storm clouds began to gather, the winds 
shifted to the southeast and gained strength, the thunder 
rumbled faintly in the west and steadily grew more 
audible. The black clouds gathered to the northwest 
and hung heavy. As the thunder became ominous, the 
strong southeast wind suddenly stopped blowing and 
not a leaf moved. An observer noted that the black 
clouds had two funnels as they roared in from the west 
after devastating Hebron and countryside. It then struck 
a bewildered townspeople most of whom were gathered 
for supper for the hour was 6 p.m. 

In the town it dipped and rose and on one dip it 
completely destroyed the Christian Church, and on 
another dip the Catholic Church, creamery, and roller 
mills. Not a business building nor home in town es­
caped undamaged. Accompanying the furious wind was 
a hail storm with some stones as large as hens' 
eggs and a torrential rain. The once beautiful trees in 
the Pennsylvania Park were felled or sheared off or were 
wrapped in corrugated metal roofing from the coal docks 
two miles west of town. Other trees throughout the town 
were uprooted, twisted and snapped off. 

But the countryside near Kouts perhaps was the 
scene of the worst damage. The farm home of Joseph 

Cannon north of Kouts was twisted, torn away from the 
foundation, and the furnishings scattered to the four 
winds. All members of the family were more or less 
injured. 

South of the Joseph Cannon home, the John Dunkle 
home was destroyed and the son injured. And on the road 
running east, south of the Cannon home, the power of the 
tornado seems to have bent all its energies. Here the 
homes were swept away completely. Since they had no 
basements, scarcely any mark of their whereabouts could 
be found. In this area the storm brought death to D. B. 
Resh, an aged farmer, and Julia Lane, fifteen, when their 
respective homes were swept away, and Wilbur Dunkle 
and the Lane baby were hospitalized. 

Dr. Dittmer's home at Kouts was used as an 
emergency hospiaI. Here, those suffering with minor 
injuries, were treated and a comfortable home found 
for them. 

The storm then proceeded northeastward toward 
Wanatah; here it turned and came back and struck 
Marshall Grove, causing heavy loss at the homes of John 
and Tom Hannon, John Welsh, George Koontz, Nelson 
Hughes, and Jerome Bartholomew. 

Few of those in the stricken district were protected 
by tornado insurance for the great majority had never 
believed this protection necessary in this part of the 
state. After the storm the agents had all they could do 
to attend to the demands upon them for policies. 

And a tornado of much lesser proporation did strike 
Kouts on May 28, 1935. 

Hollandsworth Home 

The Joe Cannon Home 



:10 An Old Communi!';!
 

KOUTS 
We Salute You On Your One Hundredth Year 

With a heritage of one full century 
of progress, the Town of Kouts has 
a great stake in fhe future of Porter CountYo 
We wish you continued vigor in contributing 
to the orderly growth of our county community. 

Just a decade after Kouts appeared on the 
map, Farmers State Bank was formed. 
We have appreciated the warm friendships 
shared over these ninety years. 

~~~~STATE BANK 



The Catholic Church after the tornado 

Henry GUssman home after the tornado (now the 
home of Mr. and Mrs. Ralph Riley) 



COMPLETE CUSTOM BUTCHERING 

1 Mi Ie West of Hiway 2 On U. S. 30 

Phone 462-6501 

VALPARAISO 

Wheatfield 

PHONE 956-3526 

EUGENE WAYNE, owner 

CENTRAL GARAGE
 
Our Compliments
 

To The Town of
 

KOUTS
 
Complete Motor Rebuildin~ 

Front End AI ignment 

WRECKER 
SERVICE 

Phone 956-3222
 

WHEATFIELD, INDIAN~-

VALE CITY
 
PACKING
 

TOP QUALITY MEATS 

--A Iso-­

PARKER and SON
 
FOOOLANO
 

For Your 

GROCERIES ­

MEATS ­

FURNITURE 

Phone 956-3339 Wheatfield 

Free Delivery
 

WAYNE'S
 
ERYleE
 

Junction State Road 10 and 49 



The Kankakee River which rises near South Bend 
and flows languidly southwestward forms the southern 
boundary of Pleasant Township on its course to join 
the Illinois River. In fact it was called the eastern 
branch of the Illinois at one time. 

Many tribes of Indians lived in this beautiful wilder­
ness and the Kankakee was named by a band of Indians 
of the Mohican Tribe who called themselves the 
"Wolves." They were driven from their homes by the 
mighty Iroquois Tribe and took refuge at the headwaters 
of the Kankakee thus the name "The Ak" (wolf) and 
"A Ki" (land) meaning Wolf Land. 

It was here also that the Pottawatomi Indians settled 
before the Civil War. Their first settlement was called 
Mayesville and was located across the road from the 
George Wilcox home (now the home of Clayton Reif). 
The large tree standing at the entrance of the Reif 
home was the first Indian Trading post. Many arrow­
heads, human bones, and Indian beads have been found 
here through the years. Porter Childers whom many 
old timers remember had an uncle that once owned a 
general store in Mayesville. 

The Kankakee River a:ld Baum's Bridge which spans 
it are both very famlliar to the people of the area. The 
bridge is located about five mlles southwest of Kouts 
on the Saum's Bridge Road. The rOad still winds 
around and up and down just like the Indian 'T'rail it 
was for centuries. The bridge was named for Enos 
Saum who came to that place in 1860, started a sawmill 
and went into the lumber busines s. Years before the 
bridge was bullt there was a ferry located there. 

In early days this territory was known as "Hunters 
Paradise" because the natural wilderness was the home 
of all kinds of wild life and plentiful fishing. Two creeks 
added to the riches of the township: Crooked Creek 
on the east so called because of its very crooked course 
and Sandy Hook on the west, both emptying into the 
Kankakee. 

Fox, wolves, rabbits, ducks, geese, jacksnipes, 
brants, plover, deer, mink, coon, skunk, beaver, and ' 
muskrat were all abundant. The ducks and geese stayed 
and nested all year round. The river and creeks yielded 
channel cat fish, dog fish: pickerel, bass, bull heads, 
carp, buffalo and suckers. The marsh was a blaze of 
color from wild flowers of all kinds with the golden rod. 
a sea of yellow in the early fall. Huckleberries, wild 
black berries, dew berries and raspberries were 
plentiful. 

No early settlers could enter Pleasant Township by 

road from the south but must follow a round about 
route to LaPorte where land was purchased and then 
south untll they found the spot where they decided to 
settle. Others came up the Illinois River to the Kankakee 
and settled along its banks and lived in the land of game 
and plenty. 

Land had to be cleared and homes built on the high 
spots because those were the only places not inundated 
in the spring. A boat could be rowed from the Pen­
nsylvania Rallroad to far below the river in Jasper 
County when the winter snows melted and spring rains 
came. And that is the reason the Erie Railroad has 
such a high road bed. The Pennsylvania was covered 
bywater in the '70's and '80's and the Erie was, deter­
mined to be out of the water. 

Two well known high spots are Lone Tree Island 
and Grape Island; the former is at the mouth of Crooked 
Creek and is better known as Hyde's Island as Hiram 
Hyde built his home there. He farmed and taught a 
few terms at the Bowman School. Three of his children 
dIed (presumably of diphtheria) and are buried Qn the 
island because the water was too high to take them 
farther away. Grape Island was covered with fox grapes, 
wild grapes about the size of the Concord variety, and 
the island would be entirely surrounded by water. 

To this .. Hunters Paradise" came not only the 
local hunters but affluent sportsmen from ChIcago, 
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Louisville. Pittsburg and from cities in the then distant 
parts of our state as well as from Europe. These 
hunters formed clubs and had large club houses built 
near Baums Bridge. Perhaps the best known and most 
favorably remembered were the Louisville Gun Club 
(1878) which was located on the south corner of the 
Baum's Bridge Tavern property. and the Pitt5burg Club 
which was owned by Harry and Joe Wainwright. brewers 
from Pittsburg. Tad Starkey, a pioneer of this Vicinity. 
still living, pushed the hunters' boats. and also bottled 
the teer that was brought here in barrels by wagon 
from the depot in Kouts where it had been shipped from 
Pittsburg. Other names most easily recalled are Ira 
Brainerd. captain of the Pittsburg Gun Club. Ned and 
Jim Brainerd; John Streator and guest, Joe Gomez. who 
was superintendent of the Eastern Division of the Pen­
nsylvania Railroad. Leaders in the Louisville Clut were 
Short, Thompson, Grissel and Garnet Munn. 

Two other club houses built at this time were the 
White House Hunting Club Building built in 1878 and the 
Rockville, Terre Haute, and Indianapolis Club House 
built in 1879. Most of these men were millionaires 
and would bring with them their servants who did the 
cooking and other household chores. They bought hread 
(or baked it themselves). butter, milk and other food 
from nearby residents. The then .. small fry" from 
Kouts remember how they caught frogs for fishermen's 
bait at night and sold them to the sportsmen for a dime 
a dozen. 

Many times parties were given at the club houses 
to which local citizens were invited. There for the first 
time these early settlers saw the fine linens, gleaming 
cut glass. and silver and other appointments common 
to gracious living in the homes of these wealthy sports­
men. 

It was during this time that one of our well known 
authors, General Lew Wallace. used to cruise the Kanka­
kee on his houseboat. He made many journeys from his 
home in Crawfordsville. Indiana and anchored his house­
boat with George Wilcox. These journeys were made in 
a luxurious stage coach which was imported from 
France. It is said that during one of these cruises 
on the Kankakee that Lew Wallace received the 
inspiration to write the novel "Ben Hur:' 

Years after his death in 1906 the old houseboat 
was dismantled and the better parts used to build a 

small home for Harry Neusbaum. an old timer who 
is still residing in it directly south of Reifs on the 
side road. The autobiography of General Lew Wallace. 
signed by him. is now in the possession of Clayton Reif. 

Many people came to this beautiful area to make 
their homes. One of the bE:!tter known families was 
that of Rolla and Bertha Morehouse. Mr. Morehouse 
was born in Dowiagic, Michigan and when 18 years 
old made the long journey with his brothers and sisters 
in a covered wagon drawn by a team of oxen. It was 
a long and tedious trek. and they had to bring cows 
along to furnish the children with milk. The More­
houses built three homes during their lifetime and the 
last home place s,ill remains. They reared two daugh­
ters. Mrs. Mar; Gibbs Thatcher and Mrs. Albertina 
Sprague. Mary was brought into this world with the 
aid of an old Indian doctor. She is now living in the 
old home place. 

A granddaughter of the Morehouses. Mrs. Mary 
Sprague lives in Kouts. 

Another old timer was Lafayette Clouse. He was 
a boy of nine when he came to Valparaiso from Ohio 
in 1857. He always enjoyed living near the river and 
his first home was a tent with a wooden front right by 
the river. He did much hunting and fishing and one of 
his greatest pleasures was in "stealing" a bee tree. 
The wild honey had superior flavor. Mr. Clouse known 
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AUTO UPPLY CO.
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SHOP AT D. J. & S. for
 

AUTO, TRUC K and TRACTOR PARTS
 

MACHINE SHOP SERVICE
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Phone 462-2133
 

RICH DAVIS
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as "Lafe" spent the latter part of his life in that vicinity 
and reared a family of eight children. He died in 1938 
at the age of 90. A daughter, Mrs. Nora Maxwell 
a grandson, James Upton, and a granddaughter, Mrs. 
Lowell Mansfield are Kouts residents. 

Mr. Elwood Collier was another pioneer who came 
to Baum's Bridge from Brook, Indiana. He and his 
wife had a hotel known as Collier's Club House and 
earned their livelihood by lodging and servin~ meals 
to the many hunters and pleasure seekers. With the 
death of Mr. Collier and the draining of the swamp, the 
hotel was no longer needed, and the son, Jim, converted 
to a general store. In his spare time he turned to 
palming especially the beauty and wild life of the Kanka­
kee. The old home is a landmark of the Baum' s Bridge 
vicinity. 

Directly across the road from Collier's place was 
another large club house which housed a tavern. Before 
the dredging of the river, many people came in their 
row boats right up to the bar to quench their thirst. 

In those days as in ours, people sought some 
recreation from their working week and the first dance 
hall was billlt next to Rosenbaum's river cottage located 
just north of the tavern. Through the years this place 
changed hands many times and then a huge dance hall 
was built around a large oak tree. Many people 
well remember the fiddlers tuning up, the old time 
square dances, the children put to sleep on chairs 
or any other available space. The Fourth of July and 
Labor Day were always celebrated in a special manner 

~ -~ :­
.: - .. 
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and in addition to those days, the Saturday night dances 
were usually attended by the families of: Morrisons, 
Morehouses, Landfadts, Lippens, Starkeys, Firebaughs, 
and bachelors George Bancroft, Frank Johnson, Sam 
Lane, and Frank Sims. 

In 1908 a Jim Donley had the first licensed tavern 
at Saum's Bridge succeeded by Johnson, Carl Rehm, 
Jesse Smith, Dick Lane (dance caller also) and in 193:) 
George and Zina Coyer purchased the spot from Jesse 
Smith. They made their home there until 1947 when an 
overheated stove caused a fire that completely destroyed 
the building. Later they built a smaller tavern which 
they sold to Carl and Stella Klemz now deceased. From 
them it passed into the hands of Margaret and Harold 
Lang, then Sam Strong, and presently is owned and 
operated by Jim Tabler and his wife. 

While the Baum's Bridge area of the Kankakee 
River was closer to Kouts and had most of the club 
houses, the river southeast of Kouts was also visited 
by the sportsmen. Prior to building their club houses 
at Baum's Bridge the Louisville Gun Club pitched a large 
tent in the woods on the edge of the marsh (now Chris 
Pfledderer's farm) and there, with a negro cook who 
did the kitchen work and baked for them at a neighbor's 
kitchen, enjoyed the fruits of "hunters paracise." 

In 1875 President Grant's son, Fred Kent Grant, 
and the president's son-in-law, Algernon Sartoris (Nel­
lie's husband), were on a hunting expedition detached 
from any club and came at the close of the day to the 
Peter Lauer home and asked for food and lodging. 
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Dunn's Bridge o\er the Kankakee River. (Built from part of the 
Ferris \-\:heel uSed in World's Fair in 1893). 

Nellie's husband, a wealthy Englishman, who 'lad hunted 
In the best known game areas of Europe, L':mada and 
other parts of the United States, declared the Kankakee 
marsh was superior to any place he had ever been. 
Evidently board and lodging were sdtisfactory for they 
stayed severa! days. 

Another special vIsitor gOt stuck on a sand bar 
in the same a,ea and after being assisted to free his 
boat identified himself as President Benjamin Harrbon. 
He asked the name and address of his helper ane; in 
appreciation, free seeds came for at least two decades 
from Wahlngton, D. C. President Han-ison became a 
regular visitor of the Baum' s Bridge district of the 
Kankakee. 

[n the late 1890's a gun club of Marion, Indiana 
hunters pitched a tent in the same place as used by the 
Louisville Club. 

Of interest to these parts is Dunn's Bridge that 
spans the river on what used to be Dunn's farm which 
was on both sides of the river. The steel arches of 
the Ferris Wheel used in the 1893 Columbian Expo­
sition (World's Fair) in Chicago, were used in 1894 
to build a bridge 180 feet long and 16 feet wide. North 
of the bridge on the east side of the road was a large 

club house known as Burrows Camp. It was the scene 
of much revelry on weekends and holidays until it was 
destroyed by fil-e. 

The drainage of the Kankakee by the Marble, Reeves, 
Cook and other ditches has in recent years been a 
controversial subject between those who claim that 
the construction of the vast network of ditches has 
resulted in thousands of acres of land being thrown 
open to cultivation, and those who claim that the destruc­
tion of wild anima! life of the Kankakee territory for 
hunters and fisherman from all parts of the country 
removed one of nature's greatest works of art, and 
robbed Porter County of one of its greatest assets. 

. It all seems bleak and desolate by compa~ison. 
With the beauty vanished, the fishing, the celebrations, 
the dancing and roller skating all memories, it is 
ably stated by a poet: 

Alas! No longer the old river flows, 
Long years have passed us by; 
And when the eve'nlng twilight grows, 
Old echoes wail and die. 

The wilderness paradise completely wrecked and the 
friendships formed are pur away in the COrner of the 
heart to be cherished and recalled as a pleasant chapter 
of history. 

--by Mrs. Lowell Mansfield 

Baum's Bridge Today River Bridge on Highway 49 
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Dick M"orehouse and Jes Smith had <I good year in 1910, 
pictured above are 1400 lus: R3tS. 10 JI,·link. 8 Raccoons 

,.,J.nd 8 OpCJ.ssums. 

Polingdo~ the Bayou •••••• 
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In the early days in Kouts there was an abundant 
supply of entertainment and as an old timer once said, 
"Most of it was legal." It was entertainment of active 
participation and no one wanted to just sit back and be 
entertained. Fortunate were those citizens to have lived 
before the era of the debunking of the Fourth of July 
for that was the greatest of days and was looked forward 
to for months. By the time the last snow melted the 
girls and their mothers were planning their Fourth of 
July dresses and other finery. If it couldn't be made it 
would be purchased, for everyone in the family had 
something new to wear. With well filled picnic baskets 
and hard earned and long garnered nickels, dimes and 
perhaps even a whole dollar carefully pocketed in that 
new suit or purse, the entire township set forth for Kouts 
where the public spirited townspeople had everything 
in readiness. 

The celebration opened with a parade which no one 
could afford to miss and while there were variations, 
a typical parade would be one led by Jim Hodgins riding 
a spirited horse or walking like a drum major. He would 
be followed by a band playing lustily. Some of the band 
members whose names you will recall are: Charlie 
Betterton, Sr., John Diskivich, Fred Rosenbaum, Gus 
Rosenbaum, George Richmond, Frand Tromble and 
Porter Childers. 

Mr. Hodgins had also decorated a box hay rack 
with bunting and equipped it with benches. All the young 
teen age girls wearing new white dresses were given 
blue sashes and star spangled blue caps and a flag. 
As the parade moved grandly on its route the girls sang 
old favorites such as .. America", "Hail Columbia", 
"Columbia, the Gem of the Ocean" and "Battle Hymn" 
of the Republic" waving their flags in unison at appro­
priate times. An honored and envied position on this 
hay rack was that of the "Goddess of Liberty" who wore 
a crown and stood at the front of the rack with the 
ladder as a support. Two girls who had that honor were 
Tlllie Hofferth (John's daughter) and Amanda Wandrey 
(August's daughter). Some of the singers were: Cecelia 
(Biggart), Kate and Bertha Mishnick, Emma Honehouse, 
Grace Herring (Wise), Minnie Chael Schreiner, Bertha 
and Agnes O'Brien, Anna, Cecelia and Josephine 
Radilyack O'Brien. In later parades Abraham Lincoln 
Arnold (Link) dressed a s Uncle Sam added color to the 
parade. Other patriotic citizens decorated their buggies, 
hay racks and surreys and joined in the procession. It 
wended its way to Hodgins Park, a shady wooded area 
where a temporary rostrum had been erected. After 
much effort peace and quiet reigned and the Decla ration 
of Independence would be read followed by a speech that 
extolled the price and value of our liberty. From this 
same rostrum the fireworks would be shot off as soon as 
it was dark. 

At noon those well filled picnic baskets were soon 
devastated and the young patriots hastened to supplement 
their meal with lemonade which was mixed up in tubs, and 
ice cream (by the gallon) as well as all kinds of candy 
and such rare fruits as oranges and bananas. 

Then the races were next, sack races, foot races 
and horse races. Where the horses did their paces in 
the late 19th and early 20th century, the hig;h school 
track boys are put through their paces today. Besides 
horses owned by local citizens horses were entered 
from Hebron, LaPorte, Wanatah and other neighboring 
towns. There were pacers, trotters, and running horses 
with names such as Betty Bea, Buckskin, Onward, Henry 
Pryor and Fanny Willgo, but Fanny should have been 
called Fanny Won'tgo, because she always broke track. 

While the sports minded watched the ball game, 
those with dancing feet could be found at the bowery, an 
open dance floor built up three or four feet high on the 
sides with seats around the outside, and a dais for the 
orchestra in an offset resembling a bay window. The 
musicians were Leon Kouts, first violin; Steve True, 
second violin; Porter Childers, bass horn and Charlie 

SOCIAL LIFE 
A common and most enjoyable evening was afforded 

by the so called "calico necktie party" when the young 
ladies of the town and outlying community would make 
a new calico dress and a man's necktie of the same 
material. The tie was sent to a young man of the lady's 
choosing. 

Imagine, the night of the party, how anxious the 
gentleman must have been to find the wearer of the 
dress, matching the tie he was wearing. And then 
imagine the consternation when a popular young man 
got a tie and gave it to an undersirable fellow who 
arrived inebriated. Due to his size and strength it 
required muscle to eject him after stratagem failed and 
not until he had done some solo dancing and yip-yipping­
hi-yi in true cowboy style for he was a cow puncher from 
the Burke Ranch. 

Betterton, Sr., drums. Jim True and Lew Goodpasture 
fiddled, and besides square dances, the waltz, polka and 
schottische were popular. The Fourth of July dance 
ended when everyone became too exhausted to go on. 
The bowery was built just east of the present elementary 
school playground. 

This bowery was bought by St. Mary's Church and 
in 1921 moved to the lot across the street from the old 
school house. Here it was reroofed, cloak rooms and a 
kitchen built on and it served as a social center. As 
such it witnessed card parties every two weeks at which 
Five Hundred, Pedro, and Euchre were played. A lunch 
was served and then the tables and chairs were cleared 
from the floor and Paul Titus and daughter Marion 
(Newsom) furnished music that urged everyone to dance. 
These card parties were well attended by the towns­
people and friends from adjacent towns. Since the 
admission was a free will offering they were indulged in 
even during the Depression. Like many other Kouts 
buildings the hall was destroyed by fire in October 
1941. 

While the bowery you've just read about served 
the longest time, perhaps the first one was an open air 
floor (no roof - no sides) built at the end of the street 
going west from Fritz'S Tavern where Church's Asphalt 
Paving business is located. It was on the edge of a 
heavily wooded a rea. 

Dancing was not just a Fourth of July event. 
O'Brien's Hall was the center of activity when it was 
too cold or disagt"eeable to be outdoors. Besides the 
musicians already mentioned Rhoda Coleman Callahan 
played the organ accompaniment where a dais was built 
for the musicians. 

Other entertainment perhaps less exciting but no 
less enjoyable were house warmings, barn warmings, 
charivaris, quilting and carpet rag bees, spell downs 
when one district school challenged another, and box 
socials held annually at all the district schools - enter­
tainment for young and old. 

Labor Day was celebrated too in much the same 
manner as the Fourth of July. The most memorable 
one occurred around 1914 when a balloon ascension was 
the big attraction. The big cloth bag was tied securely 
to stakes driven in the ground and it lay limp like a rag. 
At the appOinted time a fire was built which heated the 
air that filled the balloon causing it to rise. When it 
was completely inflated the basket holding the man was 
attached and readied. The ropes were cut and away he 
went leaving the gaping crowd admiring his skill and 
bravery. When he reached the desired height, he bailed 
out of the balloon and with parachute landed on a garage 
a couple blocks from the pOint of ascension. As the 
balloon lost gas it came down and was retrieved from 
a tree a couple miles away. Then on with the ball game 
and the dance. 

The town of Kouts consistently had a first class 
baseball team chosen from the boys in the community. 
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and Turner Eadus. Last Row: Herman Kosanke, LeeFront Row: Leonard Wyant, Burt Hofferth, Ray 
Herring, Henry Kosanke, and Gust Rosenbaum, Umpire.Mennefee, Herman Chael. Second Row: Jim Herring,
 

Ernest Lane, John Dwyer, Managers: Bill Rosenbaum, Bat Boy.
 

The Kouts Athletics of 1903 played against teams 
from Hebron, LaCrosse, North Judson, Crown Point, 
Chicago, in fact any team that challenged them to a 
game. Railroad transportation, as it was then, permitted 
teams to travel here in the morning from east and west 
on accommodation trains on both the Erie and Pennsyl­
vania, and return home at a convenient time in the late 
afternoon the same way. Excursion trains from Chicago 
brought passengers at SO¢ a round trip and the train 
would discharge a team and their fans who came on what 
was a gala picnic to the .. small" town. The old ball 
park hummed with activity, the ball game was the high 
light and it was a weary but happy crown that entrained 
at the close of day. The Athletics won their share of 
games and furnished first class entertainment for their 
enthusiastic fans. 

The motorcycle races displaced the horse races 
and with Indian, Harley Davidson, and Flying Merkle 
machines, the racers, Otto and Emil Lippert, Fred 
Kosanke, Martin Radilyack, and others, roared around 
the track to the amazement of interested spectators. 
And great w s the shock when Otto Lippert's cycle left 
the track dnd plowed through the dense brush with 
the emerging hero looking as if he had encountered a 
lair of tigers. 

Another contest was known as the slow races. Its 
purpose was to see who could drive the track slowest in 
high gear and not kill the engine. Bill Rosenbaum usually 
won that in his Lexington. 

A favorite spot for winter enjoyment was Smith's 
Pond (on Simic property today) where all the young and 
old hiked to skate when conditions were favorable. It 

Two Motorcycle Enthusiasts; Emil and Otto Lippert. 
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was physical fitness at its best, the hike out, the large 
area on which to exercise, and the hike home in the 
brisk air. 

In a decade beginning in the 20' s, the Kouts Bull 
Dogs played a superior brand of baseball for their own 
enjoyment as well as for the pleasure of their fans. The 
admission was 50¢ and the gate receipts were usually 
several hundred dollars a game, the highest being $460. 

Lowell, Crown Point, Chesterton, Valparaiso, Wan­
atah, LaCrosse, Hebron and Kouts formed a league and in 
1925 Kouts won the northwestern Indiana pennant. With 
that claim to fame they challenged Argos who had won 
the pennant in that section of the state. In October 
Kouts won the first game on the home diamond and lost 
the second game at Argos. Enthusiasm was at a high 

pitch so the umpires recommended that the tie be played 
off on a neutral field. 

Accordingly the two determined teams met on the 

Plymouth diamond and in a rugged hard fought game the 
score was tied five times and the final score was 14 to 
13 in favor of .\rgos. 

With only the manager, the bat boy, and one player 
deceased, this club can reminisce of their prowess in 
America's favorite sPOrt. 

An attempt will be made to list some of the clubs 
of the present: Kouts Neighbors, Kouts Lamplighters, 
Kouts Starlighters (all Home Demonstration ClUbs), 
American Legion Auxiliary, Band Boosters, 4-H Clubs, 
Cub Scouts, Boy Scouts, Girl Scouts, Lions Club, Cham­
ber of Commerce, Guys and Dolls Dance Club, Farm 
Bureau, and several neighborhood Bunco and Card Clubs. 
In addition to these each church has its own activities 
listed under their respective church histories. 

The Kouts Volunteer Fire Department which it 
seems is all work and no play, deserve special mention 
for their splendid work. 

Other worthwhile activities are band concerts and 
Junior and Senior class plays. The school field is 
lighted for night games and several nights a week 
games are played with rivalry gaining momentum as the 
close of the season approaches. Basketball engulfs 
the entire community from the opening till the closing 
of the season. 

An old, old skill, pitching horseshoes, was revived 
in 1961, members forming the Kouts Horseshoe Club. 
It is open to anyone wishing to participate. The six 
courts are on the school grounds and lighted for night 
games. Enoch Edwards is president and Roger Adams 
secretary. The club is affiliated with the National 
Horseshoe Pitchers Association and in Indiana the sport 
ranks second to basketball. In tournaments the players 
are classified and a participant is matched with one 
of his own rank and our local men rate at these contests. 
, On November 6, 1964 a youth center was opened 
m the 0' Brien building on the east side of Main Street. 
Future history can appraise its value. 

Front Row Left to Right: Pinney Sommers, Stewart Walter (BUd) Sommers, Floyd Kerl1nska, Fred (Rosie) 
Hofferth, Roy Sawatzki, Herbert Ellenson, Elmer Werner, Hamann, Roland Graham, Lawrence Ketchmark. 
Marshall (Mike) Sommers, George Sandberg. Back Row: The bat boy, Marion Wise (deceased) and players 
Lee Riley, Bob Hofferth (deceased), Lee Sommers, Don Crowe and Jim Lauer were not present for the 
Paul Ketchmark, Manager B111 Rosenbaum (deceased), picture. 
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Do you remember? - Morrison baseball team 58 row, Louis Wandry, Emil Lippert, Steve Mockler, 
years ago. Eldridge Mockler and Charles Mockler. E. E. Starkey 

Pictured above are, E. E. (Tad) Starkey, manager of the and Emil Lippert are still making their home in the 
team in front; second row, left to right, Amos Mockler, Morrison community. 
Harry Mockler, Gust Lippert, and Jack 'v\.'andry; third 

Two Fourth of July celebrations stand out from 
all the rest. 

In 1876 which was the centennial of the Declaration 
of Independence, was the first time within anyone's 
memory that Kouts celebrated the important day. Adding 
to the glamour for those in attendance was the fact that 
every engine that pulled a train through town was cleaned 
up spick and span and was gaily decorated with bunting. 

They whistled their way merrily through the town. 
Fireworks climaxed the day. 

Then on July 4, 1883 the celebration was staged 
on Main Street with bunting decorated stands up and 
down the streets selling ice cream, pop corn, exotic 
fruit (for then), lemonade and candy of all kinds. 
0' Briens store was just finished but not stocked and 
was thrown open for dancing both upstairs and downstairs. 
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THE LITTLE LEAGUE Fox, Paul Martin, Jim Upton, Larry Hamann. Top
Bottom Row Left to Right: Tom Simic. Roy Mar­ Row: Ted Weinke, Phil Gingerich. Ben Martin, Mgr.;

tin, Elmer Martin, Tom Upton. Center Row: Stanley Tom Sommers, Fred Simic. 

The Kankakee Valley Boys Baseball League was 
organized in 1954. 

Kouts haci two teams entered among the eight char­
ter members. By 1956 the league had grown to 16 
teams and was divided into north and south division with 
highway 30 as dividing line. The winner in each division 
played a three game series to determine the league 
championship. 

The Kouts Giants were very small in size and very 
young but had big hearts and big ideas. They loved the 
game and thrived on competition. They had no big home 
run hitters or boys with big batting averages although they 
played against some 10 every game. They depended on 
good pitching and a very good defense and always managed 
to get a run or twO one way Or another. These boys had 
a lot of confidence in themselves and each other and 
were seldom under pressure and enjoyed every minute of 
it. No admission was charged and they played to large 
crowds both at home and away. 

In 1955 they won sixteen games and lost two -- this 
was the year they won the championship by several 
games. Members of that team were: Curt Simic - C. 
Ron Dye - P, Tom Sommers - IB, Larry Hamann - 2B, 
Jim Upton - SS, Fred Simic - 3B, Paul Martin - LF, 
Tom Simic - CF, Stan Fox - RF. Reserves were; Bob 
Bailey. Roy Martin, Dennis Cannon and Tom Upton. 

In 1957 they won the Southern Division title in 
typical Giant fashion against Hebron the last game of 
the season. The teams were tied for first place with 
11-2 records. Ted Wienke scored from third and Fred 
Simic from second in the second inning on a two out 
3-2 single by Paul Martin batting eighth in the line up 
for the only hit off Hebron pitcher Kaysen. The final I 

score was 2 to 1. The Giants went on to win the Play­
off games with Kingsford Heights by 9-0 win -- a 2-0 
loss and 2-1 win. Roster for this team was; Larry 
Hamann - C. Tom Sommers - P, Paul Martin - 2B, 
Phil Gingerich - IB, Jim pton - SS, Tom Simic - 3B, 

Fred Simic - LF. Ted Wienke - CF, Tom Upton - RF. 
The Little League was coached by Ben Martin 

whose guidance and inspiration prompted the boys to al­
ways do their best. For all those years of unselfish 
service history now records a commendation to a most 
worthy citizen. 

Communication 

Preceding telephone service Kouts was served by 
the Western nion Telegraph for over a half century. 
Telegrams were sent and received at the Pennsylvania 
Depot during the hours it was open and 24 hour service 
from the Tower. With improved telephone service they 
are no longer used, bllt there is still the possibility of 
calling and sending a telegram from Westville where 
Western Union has their station nearest Kouts. 

Transportation 

Up until 1912 very little macadamized road had 
been built in Pleasant Township but during that summer 
there were some 16 miles under construction. With the 
increased use of. automobiles more gravel roads were 
built - the gravel roads gave way to black top of which 
there is considerable mileage in the township. 

But not until June 1956 was work begun on paved 
road between Kouts and Valparaiso as well as Kouts 
and Hebron and by September 1956 they completed pouring 
concrete. The three hazardOUS narrow bridges on the 
Hebron road were displaced with bridges for two way 
traffic and the circuitous route to Valparaiso with its 
right angled turns was straightened. which makes motor 
transportation faster if not safer. 
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Old Kouts Christian Church, facing North on Highway 8. 

In the spring of 1885 Ellis B. Cross, an evangelist 
and singer of the Christian Church, came to Kouts 
and in cooperation with the Lyman Adtkins family, the 
town doctor and druggist who was a staunch member, 
held a four week meeting in the 0' Brien Hall. Mr. 
Cross, a forceful and consecrated preacher, aided by 
Mrs. Adda Adtkins Betterton, a good singer, was suc­
cessful in bringing more than a dozen people to Christ. 
The following June these members were baptized in the 
waters of the Kankakee near Baum's Bridge. 

Church 
Soon afterward, Messrs. Cross, Adtkins, and Joseph 

Barnes with the latter's horse and buggy rode through 
the township as well as the town explaining the urgent 
need of a Christian Church in the community. A piece 
of ground was donated by Mrs. Rose Yoder and con­
struction was begun on a frame church which was 
finished and dedicated in 1887 with Rev. Carpenter 
officiating at the dedicatory services. This church 
faced north on the site of the present church. 

Some of the early members were: Mrs. Rose 

( 

"~ 
) 

Present Kouts Christian Church 
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Yoder, Mrs. Margaret Williamson, Mrs. Loey Ayles­
worth Unruh, and the families of johnny Spencer, Rhynear 
Blachly, jack Shea, james (Buck) jone~, George Taylor, 
jay Kilday, Fishers and lsminger. 

From the first the church grew and prospered with 
various pastors officiating and among them Mr. Martin 
and Mr. Harrington who were both capable and forceful 
ministers of the gospel. 

On May 26, 1917, a cyclone which struck Kouts 
doing extensive damage to the town and surrounding area, 
leveled the Christian Church. 

About this time, Pastor john Whitt came to Kouts 
to visit in the home of his daughter and son-in-law, 
Dr. and Mrs. Meyers, and to recuperate from a recent 
Illness. With improved health Mr. \OVhitt consented to 
hold Sunday services in the hall meanwhile planning with 
the congregation to rebuild the church. 

Immediately the members began salvaging as much 
of the old material as possible that might be used in 
the new building. Likewise Mr. Whitt sent for his cement 
mixing machine that he had used in making blocks for 
another church and with perseverance and effort, had the 
present building completed and ready for dedication on 
March 17, 1919. Mr. Whitt was assisted in the dedication 
services by two other ministers, j. f-I. Smith and Mr. 
Carpenter. A few years later a belfry was added and 
the bell from the original building was installed. Mr. 
Whitt continued as pastor, with the exception of two 
years at the Hobart church, until the summer of 1928 
when an illness resulted in his death. 

As it had no minister, the church remained closed 
and later it was rented to the Reformed Mennonite con­
gregation. 

In May of 1943 the Christian congregation took over 
and the following have served as ministers; Mr. 
Brewer - 1943: Mr: Hartlipp - 1944: Mr. j. K. Woer­
ner - 1944-45; Don johnson 1945-47: G. B. Gordon ­
1947-8; Gene Dye - 1948-9: james Cline 1949-50; Robert 
Rowe - 1950-52; Charles E. johnson - 1953-55; Marple 
Lawson - 1955-57; Mr. Dunkleberger - 1957-58 and 

Mr. Lamb Aug. 1958 until his death in November 1958. 
Mrs. Lamb continued on with Mr. Leeper preaching to 
the end of May 1959. Mr. Schreiber served from june 
1959 until February 1965. 

During his time the congregation has grown and 
property improvements have been completed. The major 
project was the interior repair and redecorating, the 
bullding of a new pulpit, communion table and choir 
rail. New seats had been purchased and installed during 
the time Marple Lawson served the church. 

With the demolition of the Gem Theatre the materials 
were salvaged and a Christian Church parsonage wa.s 
built at the present location south of the church under 
the direction of Mrs. Unruh who donated it for that 
purpose. 

The church participates in the Chicago District 
Evangelistic Association and actively supports the 
Lincoln Christian College in Illinois and the summer 
camp program at Cedar Lake. 

The regular services are Sunday School with usually 
a hundred in attendance, church with eighty to ninety, 
and at various times throughout the year there are 
Sunday evening services. 

The church operates under the guidance of the 
elders who are elected for three year terms. All the 
active members of the church are eligible to participate 
in the annual church election. 

The elders elected in january 1965 were Neil and 
Edward Pumroy, Harold Walter, jerry Hitz, Fred Stur­
gis and Herbert Nichols. 

The deacons elected were: Ted Hitz, Lloyd Berndt, 
George Taylor, Dale Eichelberger, james Yergler, Mar­
ion Fleming, and Kenneth Theis. 

The trustees are Ed. Pumroy, Bob Arnold and 
Herbert Nichols. 

The Sunday School Superintendent is Lloyd Berndt, 
Assistant Superintendent jerry Hitz, Secretary Gloria 
McCrum, Assistant Secretary Carolyn Taylor, and 
Treasurer Herbert Nichols. 

Present First Baptist Church 



KOU 5 HARDWARE 
Do It Yourself 
Headquarters Tools 

Exterior Paints 

Interior Paints 

YOU Are Cordially Invited To Stop In At KOUTS 

HARDWARE During The 1965 CENTENNIAL - Look 

At The "OLD TIME" Displays - And Browse Around 

In Our Various Modern Departments - You'll Find 

Quality, Service and Name Brand Merchandise At 

KOUTS HARDWARE - Willard Paarlberg 

Hardware .Houseware Sporting Goods
 

Building Supplies
 



5 

The original idea of establishing a Baptist church 
in Kouts was that of Mr. and Mrs. Harry Spohn who 
reside in the southern part of Pleasant Township and 
who for years attended the Calvary Baptist Church of 
Valparaiso. Shortly later in about 1958 other people in 
the general area, namely: Supt. and Mrs. Ernest Francis 
who had established the Indiana Baptist Children's Home, 
also had a desire to see a church starred In Kouts. 

The final realization of a church materialized in 
January of 1960 when the First Baptist Church of Hobart 
offered assistance, and one of their members who had 
just finished schooling came to be the pastor of this 
new work. 

Rev. Clifford Boessel led the first meeting which 
was a midweek service, in the parsonage on January 
27, 1960 with thirty-two persons present. Final 
organization took place on March 24th at which time a 
constitution and articles of faith were approved, a board 
of deacons was established, and Rev. Boessel was 
formally called as the first pastor. 

Through the generosity of Harold Heinold and Pete 
Hudson the church services were held in their offices 
until the first phase of construction was initiated and 
completed. 

Four lots were purchased in the southeast corner 
of Pleasant View Subdivision and a ranch type building 
was constructed during the summer of 1960. The 
congregation met in this structure for nearly four years. 
During July of 1964 this same building was converted 
into the parsonage. Construction followed shortly on 
the first main unit of the church proper. This was 
completed in February of 1965, and will be the place of 
worship for an indefinite length of time until the main 
sanctuary can be built. 

Present membership is seventy with an average 
Sunday School attendance of apprOXimately eightY-five to 
ninety. The church is affiliated with the General As­
sociation of Regular Baptist Churches. This fellowship 
of nearly eleven hundred churches is conservative in 
doctrine and theology, dedicated to the historic Christian 
faith as found in the Bible, the inspired Word of God. 

JJopewett mennonite Church
 

Old Mennonite Church 

The first Mennonites to purchase land in this 
vicinity were Dan Litwiller and Lewis Birky of Hopedale, 
Illinois, a farm near Wilders. 

Sometime later, Samuel LitWiller, a minister at 
Hopedale, purchased the farm where Allen Good now 
lives. 

In 1916 the John Reinhardt family also from 
Hopedale moved to the farm that Samuel Litwiller had 
purchased and Lee and Iva Sutter moved on the farm 
that Lewis Birky owned. 

In 1917, William Martin and family likewise from 
Hopedale moved to the 160 acre farm which he had 
purchased. The Ivan Sutter family lives there now. 

Worship services were held each Sunday in the 
homes or in the Lauer School. Others attending services 
with this group were the families of Alva Baughman, 
Louis Lampl, Aaron Egl1 and Sommer Smith. 

In 1918, Andrew Good of Cowden, Illinois, Andrew 
Gingerich of Beaver Crossing, Nebraska, Dean Birky 
of Beemer. Nebraska. WUliam and Lewis Birky and 
their families joined the group at Kouts. 

Bishop John C. Birky of Hopedale. Illinois accepted 
the responsib1l1ty of the oversight of this new colony 
and guided them in establishing the Hopewell Mennonite 
Church. In nllming it Hopewell he said, "We Hope 
Well for the new church:' 

The following eighteen people were charter 
members: John, Lizzie and Mabel Reinhardt; Lee 

and Iva Sutter; William and Anna Birky; Dean and 
Hazel Birky; William and Amelia Martin; Andrew and 
Emma Good; Lewis and Bertha Birky; Andrew, Mary 
and Nellie Gingerich. 

During the year 1918 services were held in the 
Cook School each Sunday with preaching services once 
a month by a visiting minister. 

The first Sunday School superintendents were 
Willia m Martin and Dean Birky. The first trustees 
were WUliam Martin, John Reinhardt and Lewis Birky. 
The attendance grew from 46 in 1918 to over 300 in 1964. 

In September 1918 the church was united to the 
Indiana-Michigan Conference District with J. K. BiXler 
as Bishop. 

On February 4, 1919 the land where the large 
communications tower stands one mile south of Kouts 
was purchased for a site for a new church with the 
church being built that summer and dedicated on 
September 28, 1919. Many visitors from Illinois and 
Indiana as well as people from the town of Kouts filled 
the church to overflowing on this day. 

It was also during this year that Ben, Leah and 
Lulu Birky of Hopedale, Dick and Emma Fleenor and 
family of Iowa, and Amos, Mary and Orville Birky of 
Beemer, Nebraska came to make Kouts their home. 

The first converts to this new church were Joe 
and Ed Gingerich, Olen and Ora Reinhardt, Clifford 
Gibson and Roy Birky. 

Others locating in the vicinity at this time were 
the Chris Goods, Jonas Birkys, Reuben Birkys, J. Z. 
Birkys, Lloyd Yoders and the James Buchers. 

In March 19~0 James Bucher was ordained as 
minister to this church. He served with J. D. Birky 
who was a Bishop at this time and came here in 1922. 
James Bucher moved to Daviess County, Indiana two 
years later. 

In 1923 J. Z. Birky was ordained a Deacon and 
he worked with J. D. Birky until the latter's death on 
July 12. 1926. 

The following men have served as ministers to 
this church: Dean Birky, Millard Lind and Chester 
Osborne. 

Other families settling here during this time were 
the Eichelbergers, Chris Sutters, Art and Anna Martins, 
Levi 8irkys, and the Ed Bechlers. 

The first church building became over crowded and 
in 1952 plans were made for a new building. The present 
church was located on State Road 49 on the north edge 
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Present Hopewell Mennonite Church 

of Kouts on land donated by Mr. and Mrs. Lewis Birky 
and was dedicated on October 26, 1952. 

In 1953 Rev. Samuel Miller moved with his family 

Presbyterian Church - 1904 

The Presbyterians were the first to organize a 
congregatiun and build a church in the southern part of 
the county. At the first session recorded August 24, 
1848 Rev. Spencer Baker presided with Elders George 
8iggart and John Freer who laid plans. Meetings had 
been held in the various homes in the community and 
later in a school house. Enough interest was shown 
to warrant the building of a church and in 1855 construc­
tion was begun. Joseph Bartholomew and George Biggart 
each gave $150 toward the building while other members 
assisted in the construction of a church costing $800 in 
the town of Tassinong. It was built with the understanding 
that other denominations should have free use of the 
house of worship at times when the Presbyterians were 
not using it. Rev. James C. Brown was a liberal contribu­
tor to the cause and for some time acted as pastor, 
holding services in the morning at Valparaiso and in the 

from Topeka, Indiana to take oversight of this congre-' 
gation as pastor and bishop and he is still with them. 

In April of 1961 John Murray was installed as 
a licensed minister to assist Rev. Samuel Miller in 
the duties of the Hopewell congregation. Then in 1962 
John Murray was ordained to the ministry and is serving 
as assistant pastor. 

During 1949 a survey was taken in the area about 
the needs of a church and it was disclosed that the 
English Lake vicinity had no church of any kind. The 
Hopewell congregation decided to start a Sunday 
School service there and obtained the English Lake 
School for that purpose. 

After several years of voluntary service by different 
families to this cause and the increased growth of the 
Sunday School there, it .was decided by the Kouts 
Hopewell congregation to build a new church building 
at English Lake. 

Emanuel Birky was licensed as minister to this 
place and ordained the following year. He has been 
serving this church since that time. 

--By Lester Martin 

THE HOPEWELL MENNONITE CHURCH 
Visitors Always Welcome 

Sunday Worship Service - 10 A.M. 
Sunday School - 11 A.M. 

Sunday Evening Service - 7 P.M. 
Pastor - Samuel Miller 

Assistant Pastor - John Murray 

afternoon at Tassinong. Other minIsters who preached 
in this church were S. C. Logan, Robert Williams, S. R. 
Baker, Henry Cullom, Frank Ferguson, and two men 
named Kinney and Moore. 

As the town of Tassinong was gradually abandoned, 
the old church was closed and the congregation reorga­
nized in Kouts. The building itself was moved here and 
later used as a family dwelling. 

The Presbyterians then held services in 0' Brien's 
Hall. Following the death of one of the members, funeral 
services were of necessity held in the hall and immedi­
ately the group began a fund raising campaign, the 
proceeds to be used in building a new Kouts Presbyterian 
Church. 

Ed Snodgrass was engaged as carpenter to build a 
church and with the help of interested members the new 
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house of worship was ready for services in February 
1904. 

Members of the congregation at that time were the 
families of J. N. Anderson, Sam Anderson, Joseph, 
John and William Bartholomew, Robert Biggart, J. T. 
Cannon, James Jones, Dr. P. D. Noland, H. A. Wright, 
and Norval Smith. 

Some of the ministers who have served this church 
are: The Reverends Roy Brown, James Baroda (a 
Syrian), Samuel Bauer, J. Finn, John Dunkel, Richard 
Archer, and Ernest Armstrong, who married a local 
girl, Louise Kosanke, a church member. During his 
pastorate the church was reroofed and sided with brown 
shingles. 

In 1936 the need for more roor:! was felt and a 
house was moved in and added on the north side. A big 
cookstove WdS installed and a social center was then 
available to the members. Rev. Williams of Hebron was 
minister at this tim~. 

For lack of attendance the church closed during 
the early 40' s and due to the efforts of Howard Corson 
and Richard Anderson, the church was reorganized and 
opened for services in 1948 with Rev. Robert Vander 
Hart as minister. 

He was succeeded by Paul Chalfant, a student 
Pastor, and during his time a large addition 30' x 48' 
called the Annex was built on the north side. This addi­

tion houses a kitchen, rest rooms, and Sunday School 
rooms. 

When Desilver Lyon remodeled the old Kouts School 
he kindly donated the school bell to the Presbyterian 
Church. 

In 1957 after extensive remodeling and redecorating 
of the interior, new draperies were installed in the chan­
cel, a new organ, doors, and a canopy over the entrance, 
again with all the work done by the men of the church. 
Rev. William Edelen was pastor when these improve­
ments were made. 

In 1960 the present pastor Rev. Donald Darling 
took charge. 

Serving as Elders of the church are: Richard 
Anderson, Mary Hamann, Melvin Taylor, H. P. Hudson, 
and Myrna Tuesberg. The Trustees are: Melvin Colton, 
Clayton Reif, Phillip Reif, David Rogers, and Art Trede, 
with Louise Benkie as treasurer. 

There are 52 families and 104 members on the 
Prebyterian records now. 

Kouts Presbyterian Church has given one son to the 
ministry. Allen Gene Hamann, son of Mrs. and Mrs. 
Fred Hamann, was ordained to the ministry on June 
30, 1963 at the local church. He was installed as pastor 
of the Presbyterian Church in Forest, Ohio on July 7, 
1963 where he is now serving. 

Present Presbyterian Church 

St. 
According to the recollection of the oldest living 

Catholic in 1903 at Kouts, Father Stephan, later Rt. 
Rev. Msgr. Stephan, Director of Indian Missions, who 
died in September 1901 at Washington, D.C., was the 
first priest who administered to the then few Catholics at 
Kouts and said Mass a few times in the old log house 
of Anthony Dyszkiewicz (Diskavish). This log house 
stood just across the alley from the Thomas Quirk home. 

Father Michael O'Reilly, pastor at Valparaiso, 
took charge of the Kouts mission in August 1864. 
Between 1864 and 1883 he came once in two months and 
then up to May 1887, once a month. As the few Catholics 

were too poor to build a church the services were held 
in different residences, but mostly in the home of Jerry 
McCarthy, one mile east of town (the Sam Birky home 
now). 

In 1883 a meeting was called to build a church and 
abeut $700 was subscribed. A church dinner was held 
for the same purpose July 24, 1884. Father 0' Reilly 
then bought the present church lots from Hilary A. 
Wright with the deed for Lots 3 and 4 in Block Two in 
Wright's Addition dated September 5, 1885. Soon 
afterward the frame church was built where the rectory 
is now. Since Kouts then had two railroads, Father 
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S'. Mary's Catholic Church - 1885 

O'Reilly entertained great hopes that the congregation 
would soon be large enough to have a resi(;ent pa stor, 
therefore the church was built in such a ma:lner that it 
could easily be converted to a schoolhouse. 

The charter members of the parish induded the 
names of: Baranowski, Barry: Best, Burke. Callahan. 
Casey, Cincoski, Czyzewski, Deegan, Diskavisr. Orazer. 
Dwyer, Feeley, Flavin, Griffith, Hannon, Kee, KeiI, 
Kneifel, Lauer, Lukoski, McNeff. McGrath, M,-Carthy, 
Mishnich, 0' Brien, Quirk, Radilyark, Ryan, Shutske, 
Schoepp, Smith. Tromblee and Welsh. 

From then on Father O'Reilly administered 
spiritual care and held services for the members once 
a month until May of 1887. 

Father Kobylinski of North Judson was given charge 
for the next three years and came by train twice a 
month from there. 

In 1890 Father Frericks, C.P.P.S., of pulaski, 
was appointed to serve the parish for two years. He 
was succeeded in 1892 by Father Dominic Shunk, C.P.P.S. 
of Wanatah. During his two year tenure, a belfry was 
built beside the church and a thousand pound bell pur­
chased August 26, 1893 at a total cost of $257.00. This 
bell was transferred to the new church. The bell bears 
the inscription: 

Vanduzen and Tift 
Cincinnati, Ohio 
Ave Maria 
Buckeye Bell Foundry 1893 

In 1894 the Kouts parish became a mission of 
Monterey and was attended by Fathers: Charles Thiele 
for four years; Gregory Zern for three; and Joseph 
BlIstein from October 1900 till October 1913. At that 
time the parish consisted of 31 families numbering 
165 souls. There was no debt whatever on the church 
property. 

Father Bruno Soengen of Monterey succeeded 
Father Bilstein and served as pastoI' until June 1921. 
Father Soengen, a Capuchin, had served in the mission 
field if' ~lidia. 

The tornado of May 26, 1917 completely destroyed 
the church; services were held for nearly a year in the 
old Kouts High School. 

A building committee was chosen consisting at' 
Messrs. Max Cincoski, William Drazer, Charles Lauer 
and J. J. Overmeyer, and plans were made to rebuild at 
oni:e - a basement that would serve as a church until 
more funds accumulated. C. Weatherhogg of Ft. Wayne 
was employed as. architect and the lone bidder, William 

Wiley of Chicago, was awarded the contract with Ed 
0' Brien and Thomas Britton appointed supervisors over 
the construction work. Ground was broken in the fall of 
1917 and the basement was ready for use April 21, 
1918 and had cost about $7000. 

In June 1921 Father Joseph Suelzer was appointed 
as first resident pastor with Wheatfield and Kniman as 
missions. He enjoyed the hospitality of the Edward 
0' Brien home during the building of the rectory which 
was completed in November 1921. Then in 1923 the 
Catholic families of Hebron who had formerly attended 
St. Mary's in Crown Point, were transferred to this 
parish for church attendance. 

Services were held in the old Community Hall 
during the building of the superstructure which was 
begun in February 1926. The new church costing ap­
prOXimately $25,000 was dedicated on October 31, 1926 
by Bishop John F. Noll of Ft. Wayne. The last sunday 
of October had been established that year as the Feast 
of Christ the King. Father Charles Thiele, who had 
served as pastol' of Kouts from 1894 to 1898, was 
celebrant of the Mass and was assisted by Father 
James Nickels as deacon and Father Augustyn KondzieIa 
as sub-deacon. The men's choir of St. Peter's Church, 
Ft. Wayne, furnished the music. 

In June 1928 F2.ther James Nickels succeeded 
Father Suelzer and guided the Kouts parish until April 
1932 when Father Augustyn Kondziela was appOinted. 

During his nineteen years as pastor many improve­
ments were made - a pipe organ, a gift of Mrs. James 
Dwyer was installed and readied for dedication on June 
24, 1934. 

Kouts was again struck by a cyclone on May 28, 
1935 which did minor damage to the church when a tree 
toppled against the west side of the building necessitating 
repair work. 

Over twenty-five years ago Our Lady of Victory 
Missionary Sisters were introduced to take charge of 
religious instruction of the youth. 

On the material side the most important event 
was the retiring of the debt which had been heavy for a 
small congregation. The mortgage was burned on 
December 19, 1948 at a parish party. After placing the 
mortgage on a tray held by Robert Danielson, Charles 
Lauer, the oldest member of the parish, placed a lighted 
match to the mortgage. Other needed improvements 
were made to both church and rectory and the present 
parking lot was purchased from the Hollandsworth 
estate. 
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OBJECTS
 

TO CREATE and foster a spirit of "generous 
consideration" among the peoples of the world 
through a study of the problem, of international 
relationships. 

TO PROMOTE the theory and practice of the 
principles of good government and good citizenship. 

TO TAKE an active interest in the civic. social. and 
moral welfare of the community. 

TO UNITE the members in the bonds of friendship. 
good fellowship. and mutual understanding. 

TO PROVIDE a forum for the full and free 
discussion of all matters of public interest. partisan 
politics and sectarian religion alone excepted. 

TO ENCOURAGE efficiency and promote high 
ethical standards in business and professions; 
provided that no club shall hold out as one of its 
objects financial benefits to its members. 
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Since 1951 the following have served as pastors: 
Father Gilbert Wirtz 1951-1953 
Father Bernard Shank 1953-1959 
Father Raymond Derrick 1959-19p2 
Father Thaddeus Popek, O.F.M. 1962-1963 
Father Paschal Wodek, O.F .M. 1963-1964 

Each pastor in his turn exercised spiritual solici­
tude for the members of his parish. They also made 
necessary improvements too numerous to mention in the 
physical plant thus keeping St. Mary's in first rate 
condition. 

On July 10, 1964 Father Ambrose McGinnity was 
appointed to Kouts, his first pastorate. The Dawson 
property was bought in October and the house razed 
in January. 

As the history goes to press there are 80 families 
and 390 souls in the parish with 88 children in the grade 
school and 36 in High School. 

Three organizations are active in the parish. 
The Holy Name Society with Paul Drazer, 

President, Roger Adams, Vice President, and Joseph 
L. Vogel Secretary-Treasurer. They hold a monthly 

meeting on the second Wednesday night of each month 
September through May. 

The Altar and Rosary Society meets the first 
Wednesday night of the month. Mrs. John Dwornik is 
President, Mrs. John Cowger, Vice-President, Mrs. 
Thomas Quirk, Secretary, and Miss Ann Lauer, 
Treasurer. Over fifty dues paying members belong to 
the organization whose chief aim is care of the altar 
and sanctuary. 

The CathOlic Youth Organization includes all young 
people of high school age and meets the third Wednesday 
of every· month with spiritual, cultural and social objec­
tives. The President is Mary Drazer, Vice-President, 
Judy Higgins; Secretary, Ava Vogel; Treasurer, Larry 
Shutske. 

The following men are Trustees of the parish: 
Paul Drazer, Rudy Dolezal, Roland Graham, Thomas 
QUirk, and Joseph L. Vogel. 

Organists who have served through the years are: 
Mrs. Louis Rivet, Kate Lauer, Bertha O'Brien, Marne 
Hannon O'Brien, Marie QUirk Lauer, Evelyn Childers, 
Mary Ketckmark, Helen Hannon, Cecelia Shutske, and 
Joseph and Judy Vogel. Our present organists are: 
Mrs. Richard Hannon, Mrs. Russell Girton, Ava Vogel 
and Brenda Mendel. 

Present St. Mary's Catholic Church 

The first Lutheran worship service in Kouts was 
conducted August 1873, in the old one room school 
building in the east end of town on Road 8. Services 
were often held in the homes of the various members, 
usually on a Sunday afternoon. Among the first German 
members were: Gottlieb Pontow, August Steinke, Fred­
erick Tight, Ludwig Pahl, John Hofferth, F. Wolbrandt, 
Stephen Bed, Gottlieb Wandrey, William Klemm, Ludwig 
Schultz, and John Guelow. 

During this period until 1880 there was no reisdent 
pastor. The following pastors traveled from nearby 
towns to conduct the services: Rev. Phillip Schmidt, 
Rev. W. J. Lange, Rev. Adolph Dunzing, and Rev. George 

Heintz. The first child baptized was Carl August Hueb­
ner, July IS, 1873. 

On the first Sunday in September 1880, the first 
Lutheran church - the first church in Pleasant Town­
ship - was dedicated to the glory of God and the welfare 
of the congregation at a cost of $600. This kame building 
built by men of the congregation, still serves as the 
Parish Hall. Mrs. John Knetfel had donated an oak tree 
from their yard for lumber from which Sam Steiner 
(carpenter) built the altar and pulpit. 

The first confirmation class (1880) was the follow­
ing: Frederick Wandrey, Edward Steinke, Emma Rosen­
baum, Mathilda Rosenbaum, Catherine Wolbrandt, Anna 
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Old St. Paul's Lutheran Church 

Wolbrandt, Wilhelmina Kruell, Anna Rohr, and Therese 
Wittenberg (Mrs. August Hofferth). The first marriage 
was that of Ferdinand Wittenberg and Irene Rosenbaum, 
who established one of the first general "tores and post 
office at Boone Grove. 

In 1894 Rev. Albert Bauman was Celled to be the 
first resident pastor and served until 1899. The congre­
gation began its growth with regular services and 
confirmation classes. He organized and directed the 
first choir in 1895. The members were: William 
Hofferth, Gus Krueger, William Rosenbaum, Fred 
Rosenbaum, Gust Rosenbaum, Ottu Kosanke, John Wan­
drey, Chris Reinke, Bertha Klemm (Mrs. Fred Rosen­
baum, Sr.), Tena Rosenbaum (Mrs. George Schults), 
Lena \Viesjahn (Mrs. William Wandrey), Minnie Chael 
(Mrs. Shreiner), Julia Steiner (Mrs. Gust Rosenbaum), 
Emma Steiner (Mrs. Rombolt), Adeline Rosenbaum, Tillie 
Wojahn, Anna Wolbrandt (Mrs. John Wandrey), Emma 
Wandrey (Mrs. J. Young). Adeline Rosenbaum was the 
organist and served from 1880 to 1906. 

Rev. Otto Schumm was the pastor from 1899 to 
1905. During his pastorate a steeple was built on the 
church to house a bell donated by Mrs. Thieln which 
she purchased from the old Lutheran church at North 
Judson. 

During the pastorate of Rev. Both (1905-1906) the 
first English services were conducted every third Sunday 
of the month. German services were conducted all other 
Sundays and holidays. 

English services were likewise conducted with the 
German by Rev. Hicko Hicken who loyally served the 
congregation for forty years (1907-1947). Rev. Hicken 
saw the need for a larger church. The present brick 
church was dedicated December 13, 1908. It was built 
by the Foster Lumber 'Company under Charles Leidel, 
Chief Carpenter. The cost was $3500. 

The first class confirmed in the new church (1909) 
was: Edward Wandrey, Albert Honehouse, Arthur Heim­
berg, Arthur Bandemer, 1artin Walters, William Wal­
ters, Delbert Hicken, Henry Kechel, William Kechel, 
William Schultz, ldalene Trinkle, Alvina Schultz, Metha 
Miller, Mabel Kneifel, Mabelle Salzer, Bertha Wandrey, 
Tillie Wandrey. The first baby baptized was William 
Salzer. The first wedding was Metha Walters to Mr. 
Grose. 

Rev. Hicken organized the first Ladies Aid Society 
of St. Paul's, with twenty members. The officers were: 
President, Mrs. Ernestine Rosenbaum: Vice President, 
Mrs. Charlotte Heimberg; Secretary, Mrs. Marie Hicken: 
Treasurer, Mrs. Minnie Denzine, the last two serving for 

approximately thirty years. Each member served as 
hostess for the monthly Thursday afternoon meetings at 
her home. Occasionally members were treated to a 
Sunday chicken dinner. The last ones were given by 
Mrs. Edwina Salzer (age 91), Mrs. Emil Grieger (87) 
and Mrs. Laura Weise (82). Other first members stUl 
living are: Mrs. Minnie Schreiner, Mrs. WUliam Den­
zine, Mrs. Mary Cunningham (age 91), and Emma 
Honehouse. 

Through diligent effort this organization paid many 
of the congregation's financial expenses, such as car­
peting, decorating, and organ donations, as well as the 
mission work. In 1938, $1408 was paiL! for the kitchen 
addition; purchase of lots north of the church (1941): 
Parish Hall rest rooms $800 (1953): carpeting $1200 
(1955): and $500 toward the new electric organ (1965). 
The only public help came from the former Mission 
Daychickendinners and the recent turkey suppers and 
bazaars. Present membership is 65. 

Also, Rev. Hicken organized the St. Paul's Lutheran 
Choir of 30 members in 1924. In addition to the choral 
sheet music, the advanced book "Festival Anthem Gems 
for Mixed Voices" by Geo. Kessel was utilized. Three 
Easter and Lenten Cantatas (the first was directed by 
R. F. Boening) were given. Ruth Wandrey was organist 
and director. Previously, Martha Chael (Mrs. William 
Denzine) was the regular organist after 1906 and served 
for several years directing a small choir for special 
occasions. Herman Heimberg became organist in 1908 
and organized the Men's Choir. In 1932 Mrs. Lulu 
Schnekenburger became the organist and choir director. 
Estrella Hofferth served as organist from 1935 to 1939. 
A Junior Choir of 12 members was organized and 
directed by Mrs. Emil Hofferth for a few years. In 
1954 Mrs. Minnie Koepke became organist and with 
Mrs. RC':Jert Bodamer organized the Young People's 
Choir. 

Because of the growing number of children, Mrs. 
Hofferth wa s instrumental in organizing the Lutheran 
Sunday School. Together with the Church Council ­
Emil Grieger, Emil Hofferth, and Gust Lippert - and 
the Voters' Assembly with Rev. Hicken, the Sunday 
School was sanctioned and opened, May 12, 1931, with 
an attendance of 81. Mrs. Hofferth was the first super­
intendent and also taught for 19 years. Other first 
Sunday School teachers were: Alma Rosenbaum, Henri­
etta Denzine, Doris Miller, and Margaret Rosenbaum. 
Wilbur Lippert served as superintendent from 1947 
to 1952; William Roeske 1953: Ted Schroeder 1954: 
Merle Schoon carried on after the latter's death. The 
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Present St. Paul's Lutheran Church 

present superintendent is Paul Rommelmann, with a 
staff of 1b teachers. 

The first Young People's Society was also organized 
by Pastor Hicken. Meetings and parties were held 
at the various homes for many years. Because of the 
dwindling group Mrs. Emil Hofferth conferred with 
him as to the wider social benefits of the Lutheran 
Walther League. Hilbert Roeske, then president of the 
Valparaiso Immanuel Walther League, was invited to 
discuss such organization. The Kouts St. Paul's Walther 
League was then established (1946). 

Following the resignation of Pastor Hicken, Rev. 
Schwane became pastor. During his pastorate (1947­
1954) the congregation was incorporated and the modern 
system of church officers was instituted. The parsonage 
was remodeled, the church redecorated, new altar cloths 
and an electric organ purchased, and new furnaces were 
installed in the parish hall and church. The Lutheran 
Women's Missionary League was organized (1948) for 
the purpose of discussing and contributing to the work 
of missions throughout the world. The first officers 
were: President, Mrs. Wilbur Lippert; Vice President, 
Mrs. Ella Williams (later served as Zone Officer); 
Secretary, Mrs. Herbert Roeske;Treasurer, Mrs. Robert 
Haman. 

During a six-month vacancy, Rev. Koch of La­
Crosse acted as pastor. Later Rev. Dr. Luther P. 

Koepke, Dean of Men at Valparaiso University, conducted 
the church affairs. His services were so satisfactory 
that the congregation called him as the regular pastor. 
He was installed on September 5, 1954 by Rev. H. H. 
Kumnick of Valparaiso University. 

Under Pastor Koepke's pastorate many material 
improvements were made, such as the landscaping, 
selling of the parsonage and purchase of the Wandrey 
house for the Sunday School annex, new cement steps 
and walk, and cleaning of the church brick, redecoration 
of the parish hall and church, installation of new pews, 
carpeting, and a new Hammond organ, besides a projec­
tor, slides, and other modern materials fordissemination 
of the Gospel. 

The Sunday Evening Social Group has been organized 
and meets once a month with an average membership of 
25. 

Greatest of all has been the growth of membership 
souls of the congregation which has risen from 394 to 
463 with a voting membership of approximately 65. 
Since 1954 communicant growth has been from 273 to 
327. Rev. Koepke has had 92 baptisms to date, totaling 
381 of the St. Paul's church history; 103 confirmations, 
totaling 446; 41 marriages, totaling 173; and 69 funerals, 
totaling 224. 

--By Mrs. Emil Hofferth 
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Kouts High School opened in September, 1937 (on right)
 

Kouts Elementary School opened in November, 1959 (on left)
 

Since schools touch most lives and most pocketbooks 
in a community it is apropos it should take much space 
in a history. 

EARLY SCHOOLS 
As most of the very early settlers located in the 

eastern part of Pleasant Township between the county 
line and Crooked Creek, it was a natural sequence that 
the first school would be in that area. In 1838 a small 
log school house was erected on section 13, township 
33, range 5, a short distance south of where the Pennsyl­
vania railroad entered Porter County in 1864. It was 
built by the patrons of the school and had the customary 
clay fireplace and greased paper windows. A pioneer 
teacher said that these windows possessed a great 
advantage over glass ones, in that they admitted light 
but prevented lazy pupils from gaZing out the windows 
instead of studying. A larger school house was erected 
upon the same section a little later. Several years later 
the first frame school house in the township was built 
on the north-side road (Dunn's Bridge Road) running 
past the Raymond Sommers and Mrs. Helen Olson's 
home across the road and midway between. It was 
called the Bowman School since the Thornton Bowman 
family lived a a house directly across the road from it. 
The first teachers were men and "boarded round" but 
had a way of lingering in the homes where the cuisine 
was best. Two men that taught the Bowman School were 
Hiram Hyde and Florence McAuliffe in the late 1870's 
and early 'SO·s. A Miss Mary Grimes and Jennie Wells 
succeeded them and the last teachers in the Bowman 
School were Sadie Breyfogle (Mrs. Clyde Aylesworth), 
Margaret Anderson (Steinke) and Nora McNeff (Tracy). 
Patrons of that era were the families of Ben Anderson, 
John Kneifel, Peter Lauer, Thornton Bowman and Abigail 
Burke. 

Another log school house was erected the same 
year 1838 on section 13, township 33, range 6 about a 
mile and a half west of the present town of Kouts. It was 
built by the cooperative labor of the patrons and at the 
first term in the fall of that. year eleven scholars were 
enrolled. Perhaps this was the Spencer School. No 
record of the early patrons could be found. 

DISTRICT SCHOOLS 
From studying district school locations in 1876 and 

1895 county atlases, Pleasant Township must have ex­
perienced population shifts or population explosions or 

both. Only four districts maintained the same number 
and name throughout their long history. 

The following schools show on the 1876 map: 
(a) Marshall Grove School built on the Robert 

Anderson property has always been District 1 and built 
on the same spot. The first school burned and the second 
one was built on the same site with Charles Lembke as 
architect. Early patrons were the families of Robert 
Anderson, Michael Hannon, John Welsh, William Barthol­
omew, and George Biggart, Sr. 

(b) Kouts School as District 2 
(c) Spencer School District 3 - this school was 

just north of State Road 8 on the northwest corner of the 
Baum's Bridge Road. 

(d) Five Points, District 4, was built on the George 
Brown land. 

(e) Bowman School as District 5. 
(f) Morrison School, District 6, diagonally across 

from the block stone school within the memory of many 
people today. The first two frame buildings were, too, 
destroyed by fire. 

MORRISON SCHOOL 
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MORRISON 
In the early 1880' s the old Morrison School became 

overcrowded so the patrons bought the Ellis School which 
was not being used due to lack of pupils. It was located on 
the corner of the Ed Ellis farm, a mile east and a mile 
north of Kouts across the road from the Harley Birky 
home. They moved it on skids to a site on the east-west 
road near the Wilcox farm and southeast of the Morrison 
School. 

While there is no record of ea rly teachers at this 
school, three early men teachers at Morrison were the 
Messrs. Wiley, Huffman and Boomershine who "boarded 
round" • The early patrons were the families of John 
Coleman, William Betterton, Rhinear Blachly, William 
C. Wells, Eleazer Starkey, the Lindys, Featherlings, 
Wagners and Duttons. Two women teachers of the early 
days were Angie Downs and Ida Winslow, the former 
from Valparaiso. 

The block stone school was built during the trustee­
ship of Stanton Dillingham. 

Alta Coleman Falls and E. E. Starkey of Kouts and 
Mary Betterton Glass of Florida are pupils of the early 
days that are still with us. 

(g) Brumbaugh School, District 7, a school on the 
northwest corner of the Conrad Shutske farm. 

Then by' 1895 the Spencer School wasn't shown and 
District 8 had been established with Stowell School built 
on the southwest corner of Sam Stowell's farm. 

District 9 was a school on the Betterton land just 
north of and bordering on the Kankakee River. 

LAUER SCHOOL 

LAUER 
Due to the dilapidated condition of the Bowman 

School and a change in population (the marsh became 
farm land) a new block stone school was built in 1904 
on land leased from the McWilliams Land Company. It 
had a large room that often accommodated forty or 
more pupils in all the grades. The first teacher when 
the school opened was Grace Cannon followed by Kathryn 
Kring, the former now living in Kouts. 

It was located just across the road from Chris 
Pfledderer's home and was called Lauer School because 
Peter Lauer was the earliest settler in that community. 
The first pupils were third generation Kneifels and 
Lauers, newcomers named Deyos, with Larsens, Olds, 
Meadows, Mattocks, and Sommers, Watsons prior to 
1910. 

STOWELL 
In 1880 a committee composed of Abraham Stowell, 

Chairman; Fred Hamann, Sr., Henry Smith, and William 
Miller drove to the Court House in Valparaiso to petition 
for a school in their area. Since this was in the far 
southeast corner of Pleasant Township it necessitated 
a journey of over twenty miles over dirt roads an:! a 
long days time. 

Chairman Stowell agreed to donate the land and by 

STOWELL SCHOOL 

the fall of 1880 a frame building was readied for school 
on the southwest corner of the Stowell farm. The site 
is diagonally across from the Baptist Children's Home. 

The first pupils in the school were Billy Miller, 
Herman Heimberg, Martha, Annie and Sarah Smith, 
Elizabeth and Star Stowell, Olie and Jessie Posten, 
Louise and Edwina Hamann - eleven in all. Of these 
only Mrs. Edwina Hamann Salzer, 91, is still living. 

The first teachers were Flora Wilcox, Mina 
Vosburch, Delia Sargent, Breck Sherman, Mr. Small, 
Star Stowell and Mattie Bowman. 

Through the years Stowell was the school to which 
beginning teachers always were sent to work out their 
apprenticeship. Practice teaching was unheard of prior 
to 1927 and to be teacher, principal, janitor and arbiter 
in a country school really tested the mettle of an aspiring 
candidate for teaching. The enrollment averaged in the 
30's and 40's in all eight grades. 

Three present elementary teachers taught at Stowell 
School: Hazel Watson Filer, Mabelle Salzer Hofferth and 
Loretta Lauer. 

FIVE POINTS 
While several school buildings in the township 

burned out of existence, the old Five Points School was 
so badly damaged in the cyclone of May 26, 1917 that 
it was necessary to build a new one. The old frame 
structure was moved and a brick structure replaced 
it on a site diagonally across the road. Some of the 
early settlers in that area were: William Arnold, 
William Henderson, George Ailes, John Barry, Edward 
Maxwell, and William Welch, Joseph Cannon and Homer 
Porter. 

~- /1 
FIVE POINTS SCHOOL 
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COOK SCHOOL 

COOK 
With further settling of the Kankakee marsh land 

a new school was needed 2 miles south of Kouts which 
was built of brick and ready for use in the fall of 1917. 
It was called Cook since the Cook Brothers took over 
the McWllliam Land Company and developed the area. 

The Aaron Egli; J. Z. Louis, and Rueben Birky; 
Andrew Heiniger; John, Joseph, and Matt Heinold; Ben 
Kaufmann; Andrew Gingerich and John Reinhardt families 
were some patrons of the school in the 1920' s. 

Prior to 1894 the schools were in the hands of a 
school board composed of patrons of their respective 
schools. This board was in complete charge of the 
school, hiring and firing the teacher, keeping the building 
in repair, furnishing the fuel, etc. One of the conserva­
tive members replaced broken window panes with sheets 
of galvanized steel because the children could not break 
them. Eyestrain was unheard of. 

In -1894 the trustee and advisory board system 
came into being. The trustees of Pleasant Township 
since then are: 

1894-1896 Wllliam Trinkle 
1896-1900 Parmenius (I;'ete) Lyons 
1900-1904 John G. Benkie 
1904-1908 Stanton Dillingham died in office and 

his term was finished by son, 
Clarence. 

1908-1914 W. N. Anderson (a change in the law 
so that the township, county, state and 
national elections would not be at the 
same time gave Mr. Anderson a 6 
year tenure.) 

1914-1918 Wllliam Betterton 
1918-1922 Verner Blachly 
1922-1926 Dr. P. D. Noland 
1926-1934 Jerome Bartholomew - Mr. Bartholo­

mew died in a traffic accident in 1931 
and Mrs. Bartholomew finished his 
term. 

1934-1938 Albert Honehouse - due to ill health 

MARSHAL GROVE SCHOOL 

Mr. Honehouse resigned - Mr. Lippert 
was appointed to finish his term. 

1938-1946 Gust Lippert 
1946-1954 Chris Pfledderer 
1954-1962 William Salzer 
1962- William R. Reinke 
With consolidation in 1937 the Stowell School was 

moved and made into a residence occupied by the Lloyd 
Miller family. Marshall Grove and Five Points were 
converted into residences on their original sites; Harry 
Railings live in the former and Francis Hawbrook in the 
latter. Lauer, Morrison and Cook were razed and the 
sites reverted to the owner on whose land they were 
located. The old Kouts School was purchased by Desilver 
Lyon and used as a storage space. Through the years 
with much effort and determination apartments have 
been and are still being built in the building. 

Despite all the seeming deprivation of the district 
schools those pupils enjoyed a privilege from 1914 to 
1918 not offered today. There was a music and art 
teacher who visited every school on a regular schedule, 
teaching music one day a week and art on another day. 
In the art course such mediums as scissors and paste, 
crayon, charcoal and water color were used. The work 
was all free hand and was directed according to the best 
art practices. 

Miss Fannie Hannon held this position and traveled 
by horse and buggy from school to school. She is an 
aunt of Richard Hannon and resides in Gary. 

EARLY SCHOOLS IN TOWN 
There have been two wooden frame school houses 

in the town of Kouts. The first of these was built on the 
south side of what is now State Road 8 where Rocks 
reside. It was a two story two rool11 bUilding with an 
enclosed stairway. The two teachers within anyone's 
memory in that building were Nell Donahue and Loey 
Aylesworth who taught there in the early 1880's. Teach­
ing is a family tradition for today Nell Donahue has a 
granddaughter teaching in Kouts High School. Nell 
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KOUTS SCHOOL 

married Tom Hannon in 1885 and Mary Hannon Drazer 
inherited the yearn to teach. 

When the Chicago and Atlantic Railroad was built in 
1881 the patrons feared for the safety of their children 
so close to the" iron horse". Their anxiety over a period 
of years resulted in the second school building in the 
town of Kouts. It was a twO story four room building 
and stood on the southwest corner of State Road 49 and 
Elizabeth Street where Krugs live. The first building 
was moved across the Erie Railroad to the present site 
of the water tower. Her it was added to and made into 
the t, Hunters Home" a hotel that accommodated some of 
the many hunters that invaded the Kankakee area during 
the hunting season. 

Gird Bartholomew was principal of this school for 
a time and some of the teachers during its short period 
of usefulness were Gerald Stoner, Eugene Skinkle, Liza 
Anderson and Flora Massey. it was the latter's brother 
Joe that kept the general store in the first brick building 
in Kouts. Birdella Anderson, Leon Kouts and Ned Jones 
were graduates of this school in 1895. And Kouts School 
today has a relative of Eugene Skinkle teaching in the 
High School in the person of Karen Fritz whose mother 
was a Skinkle. 

This second building was destroyed by fire on 
March 9, 1896, a fire that threatened to destroy all the 
buildings in the block. People had their belongings 
packed ready to go but by throwing water on their 
roofs with buckets managed to save them. The classes 
that term were finished in O'Brien's Hall for the older 
children while the first and second grades attended 
school in the old Catholic Church. Miss Witham, who 

influenced and molded the lives of Kouts children for 
43 years was the primary teacher then. 

The first brick school building was completed in 
time for school in the fall of 1896. It had four large 
rooms, two upstairs and two downstairs. The architects 
were Krutsch and Laycock while George T. Pallisson 
was the contractor and the building was constructed 
at a cost of $5000. It was built to house the first eight 
grades and was soon inadequate. In 1906 an addition of 
two rooms and two hallways was made. In 1910 it be­
came a commissioned high school. In 1914 a domestic 
science room was built in the basement. 

With the large rooms upstairs divided and the 
office used as a classroom this building served the 
pupils of District 2 as a grade school and the entire 
township as a high school until 1937. High school 
pupils from the southern part of Morgan Township 
also attended high school in Kouts until their own building 
was completed in 1922. 

Since 1920 pre-dates the era of busses and many 
automobiles, those living too far to walk drove horses and 
kept them in Mason's hitch barn during the day. It stood 
just west of John Stark's home. 

The history of the attempts of the people of Pleasant 
Township to modernize their plant was for many years 
that of failure and disappointment one after another. 
With each new attempt, always something conspired to 
block it. A bank failure in 1927 impounding township 
funds, loss of interest during the depression, and the 
death through accident of a trustee and advisory board 
member followed by an advisory board unfavorable to 
building a new school were the leading adverse factors. 
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The first successful step in the direction of a new 
school plant was taken in 1929 by Trustee Jerome 
Bartholomew when he purchased a twenty-one acre 
tract of land in the southeast part of town in the Hodgins 
Division. 

Since funds were not available for an entire grade 
and high school plant and by constitutional limitation 
the township could not be bonded in excess of two percent 
of its taxable property, plans were pushed forward for 
the erection of just a high school. The elementary 
grades were still to be housed in the old building. 

An architect was employed and plans prepared 
for the new high school. With these plans in hand 
Architect Brook, Trustee Jerome Bartholomew, and Eli 
Kruell, Chairman of the Advisory Board, motored to 
Indianapolis to confer with state department officials 
relative to the new building. While driving through 
Indianapolis the architect's car had a collision with a 
street car resulting in the death of Mr. Bartholomew 
and Mr. Kruell and the end of the proposed building 
program. For when the advisory board was reorganized 
as the result of Mr. Kruell's death, a majority of the 
new board were opposed to the erection of a new building. 

In the fall of 1934 Albert Honehouse became the 
tru~tee with Ed Kosanke, Gust Lippert, and Nelson 
Metherd on the advisory board, all of whom were in 
perfect agreement on the necessity of a new school 
plant. The newly organized Public Works Administration 
came into being at this time with its offer of 45 per cent 
grants to communities that wished to take advantage of 
them. 

The township under the administration of Mr. and 
Mrs. Bartholomew not only had purchased the school 
site but also had provided a surplus fund to aid in 
financing a new building. 

Again an architect was employed because the Public 
Works Administration would not consider an application 
for a grant of funds until pencil sketches of the proposed 
project were submitted by a licensed architect. Ac­
cordingly Callix Miller of South Bend was awarded the 
architect's contract contingent on the grant of federal 
funds. 

After many surveys, reports, communications, and 
conferences the application for funds was granted. 

In the meantime, Albert Honehouse, Trustee, 
resigned because of poor health. The Board of County 
Commissioners appointed Gust Lippert to fill the unex­
pirea term of Mr. Honehouse and at the same time 
appOinted Burney Maxwell to the advisory board. 

This was followed by many and seemingly inter­
minable legal proceedings in the fiXing of tax levies, 
advertisement and sale of bonds, letting contracts, 
conducting of public hearings, etc., each step of which 
met the organized opposition of groups of taxpayers. 

Finally, in March 1936, the general construction 
contract was awarded to the J. 1. Barnes Construction 
Company of Logansport, Ind., with Russel Easterday of 
Culver in charge. Edmund J. Wieczorek of South Bend 
was the architect's inspector on the job. Construction 
was begun on May 1, 1936 and completed in August 
1937. When it opened in September 1937, a combination 
grade and high school, the enrollment was 402 with 209 
in the first six grades and 193 in the upper six. Brick, 
concrete and steel were used to produce a fire resistant 
building. Unlike so many school buildings of this era 
with a combination auditorium and gymnasium, the new 
school provided them separately. The auditorium is at 
the center front, the gymnasium at the center rear with 
a beautiful corridor between, with its cathedral arches 
and appropriate lighting. The auditorium had a seating 
capacity of 460. The gymnasium had a seating capacity 
of 405 in the balcony and space for several hundred more 
by the use of movable bleachers on the main floor. 

The building of modified English-Gothic architecture 
was built of tan brick with Indiana limestone trim and 
had 14 rooms exclusive of auditorium and gymnasium. 
The total cost was $190,000. 

Very great credit is due to Mr. Lippert and his 
advisory board who assumed responsibility for this 

community project. It required both courage and charac­
ter to meet successfully responsibilities of this kind. 

Upon the completion of the school term in May 
1937 a II the district schools were closed and the pupils 
were brought by busses to the newly consolidated school 
whose faculty consisted of 6 grade teachers and 6 high 
school teachers with Mr. Charles McMurtry as pdncipal. 

As such it served Kouts and Pleasant Township 
until 1951 when a new shop and two classrooms were 
constructed in a separate building southeast of the main 
building, costing $68,000. The original shop was 
converted into a kitchen and cafeteria. 

By 1958 overcrowded conditions in the 1937 building 
were acute and caused the polling of public opinion 
concerning more building. Open meetings were held 
with Trustee William Salzer and AdVisory Board 
members Edward Kosanke, Carl Hefner, and Kenneth 
Temple. Most everyone was in agreement that more 
classroom space was sorely needed. 

Bids we,e submitted and again J. 1. Barnes 
Construction Company of Logansport was awarded the 
contract for a twelve classroom, all purpose room 
and kitchen, lounge, boiler room and janitor's room 
and storage space. It was of modern design one story 
and joined the shop and original building with closed 
corridors. Work was begun in May 1959 and it was 
ready for occupancy the following November. It cost 
approximately $220,000. 

In 1961 with the national emphasis on science 
Kouts science department needed up-dating to measure 
up to specifications. The 1937 science room was re­
modeled into a modern office and the commerce room 
renovated and eqUipped as a science room at an ap­
proximate cost of $28,000. Of this $13,000 was supplied 
by federal funds. 

Constant state inspection and checking of our school 
plant necessitated further change in 1962 and '63. Two 
Home Economics rooms (one for sewing and one for 
cooking), a Physics room and a Guidance room were 
remodeled and equipped in the original building at a cost 
of $18,000 of which $4,000 was reimbursed from federal 
funds. 

In 1964 overcrowded conditions in the cafeteria 
necessitated expansion of the eXisting room and while 
building a band room was added on the second floor. 
Construction wa s begun in September 1964 and opened 
for use. 

Owen Sommers was awarded the contract for ap­
proximately $90,000. Three full time employees, one 
part time and student help is needed to man the cafeteria. 

At the present time Kouts is a fUlly accredited 
school in the North Central Association that offers five 
curricula (a) Academic (b) Commercial (c) Vocational 
Home Economics (d) Vocational Agriculture (e) Industrial 
Arts. 

There are 30 teachers inclUding Mr. Taylor, the 
principal, all experienced and trained, many with 
advanced degrees. The school is operated on the 6 - 6 
plan with 11 full time elementary teachers, 2 part time, 
a county speech therapist and county nurse on certain 
days, music teacher and grade principal. There are 30 
classrooms, 18-1/2 acres in playground, track, and a ball 
field lighted for night games. 

With the School Corporation Reorganization Act 
passed by the Indiana Legislature in 1959 and amended in 
both the 1961 and 1963 General Assemblies the problem 
is with us. What should we do? The plan offered to the 
South County has been defeated twice in general elections 
by the voters of Kouts and Pleasant Township. 

A bigger school does not necessarily mean a 
better school. But with a new rash of growing pains it 
is fitting to close this chapter with "Kouts School, 
Quo Vadis?" And it remains for the historian of the 
next hundred years to answer it adequately. 

PRINCIPALS OF KOUTS SCHOOL 
Grade School - Gird Bartholomew, Lew Kelly, 

A. C. Moose, W. M. Vaughn, James Kintner. 
High School - S. P. Shull, E. E. Wright, R. A. 

Robertson, J. A. Alexander, Helen Hutchins, H. C. Claus­
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sen, John Bell, R. A. Roberts, Franklin Burrus, J. H. 
Baker, GUy O. Vaughn, Kirby Payne, Frank O. Null, 
Charles McMurtry, Orrin Farris, Merritt Hague, floyd 
Oberholtzer, Melvin Taylor. 

Of all these principals three deserve citations for 
ability and length of tenure. 

S. P. Shull is remembered for his tireless efforts 
and devotion to furthering the young people's education. 
With his coming in 1902 he established a three year 
course of study for the high school. The first graduates 
in 1905 were Lulu Mae Benkie, Claire Hannon, Nyle 
Pierce and Florence Young and in 1906 Marie Beckwith 
and Anna D. Propp. Likewise he encouraged the young 
graduates to teach and of the first six graduates five 
became teachers. 

In 1930 a young man, Charles McMurtry, came to 
teach in Kouts High School. He had a gift for impa rting 
knowledge and inspiring a thirst for it. After teaching 
three years Mr. McMurtry succeeded Mr. Null as 
principal and his administrative ability was on the same 
plane as his teaching ability. The consolidation of the 
seven district schools and the move from the old school 
to the new was so well planned and executed that the 
days' work moved' so smoothly it seemed everyone had 
always been in the spacious new building. And when 
he left Kouts in 1944 the new building and equipment 
had been so well cared for under his constant super­
vision it seemed still a new building. Mr. McMurtry 
returned in 1948 and served three more years but 
resigned in 1951 to become supervisor of elementary 
education of the Porter County Schools a position in 
which he coordinated elementary effort in the county. 
Now he is county superintendent. 

Kouts School has kept abrea st during the past 
twelve years in the educational world through the direc­
tion of Mr. Taylor, who is a native of Wheeler. He 
received his A.B. degree from Valparaiso University 
in 1943 and completed his Master's degree at Indiana 
University in 1952. This educational background. plus 
three years in the U. S. Marines, and seven years in the 
Portage School system, where he served as coach and 
assistant principal in addition to his teaching duties. 
made him well qualified for the principalship here at 
Kouts. 

Under Mr. Taylor's administration. enrollment has 
increased from 383 in 1952 to 620 during the past school 
year. To keep pace with the increasing enrollment and 
curriculum, the faculty has increased in size from 16 
to 30, a faculty to which he is intensely loya I a nd con­
siderate of all their problems. With all the improvements 
you have read about in the physical plant. it is obvious 
that Mr. Taylor's objective has been quality education. 
Mr. Taylor would be the last one to lay any claims to 
being wholly responsible for all those improvements 
in our educational facilities and opportunities, but we are 
indebted to him for his leadership, without which. many 
of them would have been more d:fficult if not impossible. 

MISS FREDERICA WITHAM 

To Miss Frederica Witham goes an honor never 
before nor since attained by any Kouts teacher, for she 
taught 40 of her 43 years in the same room in Kouts 
School. The other 3 years were spent in country 
schools - the first at Marshall Grove and two at Five 
Points. Her largest class during all that time was 
64 in second and third grade. Her average was 40. 
Her starting salary was $1.25 a day and after three 
years experience it was $2.00 a day. Not until Indiana 
Legislature passed the minimum wage law in 1920 did 
Miss Witham earn the fabulous minimum of $800 a year. 
And when she retired in 1935 it had not doubled that 
figure. 

But the salary was secondary to this truly dedicated 
teacher who taught boys and girls, saw them grow up and 
marry and happily send sons and daughters back to her 
to be taught not only the 3 R's but good sound principles 
both by word and example. Miss Witham's nobility of 
spirit inspired all who were privileged to have been in 
her classes. 

In the good old days (?) every pupil had an ink 
well in the upper right hand corner of his desk. 
(Remember how we dunked the ends of the girls' braids 
regUlarly.) The school furnished the ink which was 
bought in quart bottles that had a pouring spout. A 
penny wise school official observed that a great deal of 
money could be saved by buying ink by the barrel and 
ordered it. In due time it arrived at the Pennsylvania 
depot. Draying charges were another enemy of thrift. 

To circumvent that, the school official wrestled the 
barrel of ink Onto his wheelbarrow and began the trek 
from depot platform to the school. In jostling across 
the four sets of tracks the barrel rolled off the wheel­
barrow and broke, furnishing a lot of merriment to 
onlookers and later to school personnel when the tale 
of the barrel of ink reached their ears. They were wait­
ing for ink but with no joyful expectation as they dreaded 
the mess in transferring from barrel to bottle. 
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Kouts Athletes CONTRIBUTEDBYROGERADAMS 

No history of Kouts School would be complete 
without the record of its athletes. 

Athletics play a great part in a boy's life. Many 
a boy has gone astray who might have turned out well if 
only the coach, father, or some civic minded person had 
taken him by the hand and gorten him interested in sports. 
The athletes know from experience what it means to play 
the game for all its worth giving 100%, all the time. To 
achieve this an athlete must: 

A. obey training rules 
B. eat the right foods 
C. get plenty of rest every night 
D. concentrate on studies to keep grades high 
E. develop good sportsmanship 
F. learn to obey instructions implicitly 
G. develop character 
H. prepare for a fuller post school life through 
experience gained as an athlete 

The Kouts School has produced many fine athletes. 
It would be impossible to name them all and no attempt 
would be made at the risk of leaving someone out. But 
certaihly a few should be mentioned and at the top of the 
list there should be one name and that is: 

Stewart Hofferth - the greatest baseball player 
ever to come out of Kouts School, who became a catcher 
for the Boston Braves and then the Brooklyn Dodgers 
in the National League. Few towns the size of Kouts can 
claim such an accomplishment. 

Prior to building the present high school in 1936-37 
no records of athletes were kept or no one knows of their 
whereabouts. 

lot having a gymnasium in those days the boys were 
at a disadvantage. In order to prepare for a basketball 
game they were forced to practice on their outside 
court, come wind, snow, sleet or rain. How would pre­
sent day athletes react to such conditions? 

Upon moving into the new school all of this changed 
as did the boys. They became interested in basketball. 

Prior to this Kouts had been noted only for their baseball 
superio rity. 

With Charles McMurtry as principal a complete 
athletic program was introduced and it could not have 
been in more capable hands as everyone highly respected 
his ability. 

The most important single innovation of the whole 
program was the plan of the 5th and 6th grade boys 
having practice vne night a week to teach them the 
fundamentals of basketball. The 7th and 8th graders 
had another night as did the high school, all in the 
same gym. This was the beginning of a winning team. 
The boys liked the new gym and had as coach B111 
Eader, the 5th grade teacher: a good reliable instruc­
tor who had played the game. He worked hard at funda­
mentals and the boys worked hard to measure up. 

The first few years in the new bUilding were 
"lean" ones. Although the facilities were there, time 
was against them. Coach Tom Eader who had worked 
so earnestly, moved on to a berter position and Coach 
LuIs French took over in 1940-41­

"Louie", as everyone called him, was a very 
congenial type of person and had a way of making every 
member do his utmost to please. His first two years 
were average but after that the hard work begun down 
in the grades began to pay dividends. 

Kouts won the 1943 South County Tourney and 
ended the season with a respectable 13-8 record. In 
1944 the Mustangs had a 16 to 5 rating. And it was 
In the 1943-44 year that Coach French led the boys 
to the baseball championship. 

The year 1944-45 was a banner year for all con­
cerned for the boys reigned as county champions in 
both baseball and basketball. And when Our baseball 
team met Chesterton in the final clash, Roger Adams 
pItched a no-hit game defeating Chesterton 16 to 0 for 
his greatest effort. 

The basketball team followed the same partern 
and went undefeated for the entire season. They de­
feated a strong Morgan team in the South County Tourney 

Front Row Left to Right: Roger Adams, Don Hefner, Coach Luis French (deceased), Tom Chael, Bill Claypool,
Jerry Hitz, Jim Kosanke, Kenneth Rhynard. Back Row: Paul Gesse, Ord Stoddard, Student Manager Earl Hefner. 
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and in the finals of the County Tourney swept past Chael was given the "gold basketball", now called the 
Portage 37 to 21. M. E. Dinsmoore award, for the outstanding player of 

The high light of the Tourney came when Tom the Tourney.
Indiana.) 

(Tom is now Dr. Chael of Hammond 
, 

Left to Right: Duane Gesse, B111 Francis, Art 
Luthi, Bob Bailey, Roger Timm, Charles Wienke, Brian 
Gesse, Paul Martin, Fred Manago and Coach Bob Gray. 
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Porter County Track Champions for 1963, pictured Dennis Gesse, Phil Gingerich, Joe Curtis, Jim Upton, 
left to right; Bill Francis, Tom Tucker Fred Pumroy, Coach Bob Gray. 

After finishing the season undefeated, then came 
the Gary Sectionals with 10 teams from Lake County 
and 10 from Porter County. and Kouts advanced to the 
final game by defeating Gary Tolleston. But in this 
game Kouts got off to a poor start, couldn't recover, 
and thus ended the dream of going down state for a 
gallant group of cagers. Balm for their wounded spirits 
was defeating Portage (that school who had a habit of 
pouring it on smaller schools) 36 to 7. 

In 1946 the team won the South County Tourney, 
then on to defeat the Tourney faVOrite, Portage, but 
were stopped in the Gary Sectionals by Edison. 

This team wasn't supposed to win after losing 
seven who graduated in 1945. another gone to the Navy, 
taking eight in a I! from the first ten of 1945 once de­
feated team. But what was lack.ing in experience and 
ability was more than replaced with desire and wil! to 
win. 

By 1959 Coach Floyd Johnson took the Mustangs to 
a second place finish in the baseball season. 

But the greatest team to come out of Kouts High 
School was that of Cross Country coached by Bob Gray, 
who won 10 and lost 2 meets. Phil Gingerich and Fred 
Pumroy took the first two places. The team placed 
second in Sectional among 23 teams entered, and earned 
the right to participate in the State Meet. 

In the State Meet the Mustangs tied for 9th place. 
It marked the first time a small school of 130 pupils 
in high school were ever known to break into the top 
10 teams in the state. 

A resume of athletic accomplishments in the last 
decade include; 
I Cross Country Porter Co. Champions 1958-59-60-62 

and 64, LaPorter-Porter County Champs 1960-62-64 
Kankakee VaHey Champs 1959 

II Basketball - Porter County Tourney Champions 1962 
Porter County Tourney Runner Up 1955-59-60-61 
Porter County Conference Champions 1958-60-61 
Sectional Runner Up 1955-57 

III Track - Porter County Champions 1960-63 
Hebron Invitational 1959-60 

IV Baseball - Porter County Champions 1954-57-61 

Who Can Forget . ? 

The Gold Basketball winners from Kouts at the 
County Tourney ­

1945 - Tom Chael (Sr.) 
1947 - Leslie Sutter (Soph.) 
1954 - Larry Strong (Sr.) 
1959 - Ron Dye (Sr.) 

Roger Adams hurling 3 years of varsity baseball 
and always on the winning side 

Johnny Drazer's two consecutive no-hit games in 
1964-65 
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Five Dedicated Teachers 
One of the greatest stories told and one of the finest 

lessons taught in American Literature is found in 
Nathaniel Hawthorne's "The Great Stone Face," 

As most of you remember, Ernest, the story's 
hero, spends most of his life waiting for a hero to return 
home and fulfill the legend of the Great Stone Face. And 
you also remember that Ernest himself was finally 
recognized as the likeness Ernest earned this recog­0 

nition through faithful devotion and dedication to his 
home community. 

Five dedicated teachers who were born, reared, 
lived, and served in the Kouts community, deserve 
recognition equal to that received by Ernest. 

These five persons are Miss Frederica Witham, 
Mrs. Vera Kruell Pfeiffer, Mrs. Anita Rosenbaum 

Wiencken, Miss Loretta Lauer and Miss Jane Dittmer. 

Vera Kruell Pfeiffer 
Vera Kruell Pfeiffer attended elementary and high 

school in Kouts and graduated in 1912. Vera first 
attended Valparaiso University, then Chicago University 
and Lewis Institute in Chicago where she received her 
Bachelor of Science degree In the fall of 1917 she began0 

teaching Home Economics in Kouts High School, a 
position she held until her marriage. Always interested 
in professional improvement she took refresher courses 
at Columbia University, Purdue University, and Ball 
State. 

Anita Rosenbaum Wiencken 
Anita Rosenbaum Wiencken, too, received all her 

elementary and high school training in Kouts, graduating 
in 1918. After the 12 week summer course in Valparaiso 
University she began teaching in Morrison School where 
she taught twO years. She transferred to Cook for 
another two years and then to Kouts School where she 
taught third and fourth grades for twenty-two years 
until her ma rriage in 1944. During the summers Miss 
Rosenbaum continued her training at Indiana University 
and Boulder, Colorado. 

Jane Dittmer 
Miss Jane Dittmer was born in Kouts just a few 

months after her family moved to the Kouts community. 
She received her elementary and high school education 
in Kouts graduating from High School in 1930. She 
received her A.B. degree from Indiana University in 
1934 and returned to Kouts to teach. She has been 
teaching continuousiy since 1934 and has shown the 
same professional zeal in serving the community that 
her father and brother have shown in their profession. 
In the course of time, Miss Dittmer has received her 
Master's Degree from Chicago University and pre­
sently serves Kouts High School in the capacity of 
Director of Guidance. 

Loretta Lauer 
Loretta Lauer attended elementary school at Lauer 

School, graduated from Kouts High School in 1920 and 
after completing a twelve week summer term at Valpa­
raiso University, she began her teaching career at 
Stowell School. Miss Lauer also taught at Lauer School 
for four years and two at Cook School, and came to 
Kouts in 1927 and taught here until 1944. Miss Lauer 
continued her education during summers, and through 
extension work received her Bachelor's degree from 
Ball State in 1940. After having taught in Mishawaka 
City Schools for sixteen years, Miss Lauer returned 
to Kouts in 1960 and has been teaching in the school 
since. All told she has served Pleasant Township 
schools for 29 years. 

Hazel Watson Filer 
Mrs. Hazel Watson Filer does not bear the similar­

ity to our hero Ernest that the other ~ive do, be.cause 
she was neither born in the commumty nor dId she 
live here as long as the others. However, it is note 

worthy that Mrs. Filer has served Pleasant Township 
for a total of twenty-eight years, at Stowell two years, 
Lauer two years, and three at Cook School, with twenty­
one years in Kouts School. Mrs. Filer received her 
Bachelor's degree from Indiana State in 1954. 

Kouts Future Farmers of America 
"Learning to do, Doing to learn 

Earning to live, Living to serve." 
The Future Farmer of America Organization is 

truly American. The keen desire to develop skills, 
necessary in Agriculture, to develop leadership neces­
sary in our democracy, and to develop m.ethods ?f 
earning in this capitalistic system, are basIc i.n thIS 
youth activity. Thus the above creed is most Slncere 
when repeated by a Kouts F.F .A member.0 

Future Farmer of America membership is I1mited 
to boys studying Vocational Agriculture in High School. 
It is a part of Agriculture, which is this nations largest 
single industry. The production, processing. and distri­
bution of agricultural products employs more than a 
third of Americas' working force. In turn, farmers are 
a $14 billion-a-year customer of industry and labor in 
addition to the billions farmers spend for consumer 
goods. Vocational agriculture and the F of .A. members 
make the most effective program yet developed for 
training boys to become established in the agricultural 
occupation of their choice and to be good citizens. 

The Kouts F.F.A. Chapter was organized in the 
first semester of the 1955-56 school year. Considerable 
planning, visiting of other Chapters, and the attending of 
district and state meetings preceded. A short, but 
complete constitution was drawn up by the members. 
This along with necessary applications resulted in Char­
ter No. 395 of the Indiana F.F.A. Associaton to be given 
to the Kouts Chapter of Kouts High School, dated Dec. 
31. 1955. 

The early activities were limited, but the enthus­
iasm began to increase under the direction of Ron 
Sommers, our Chapters' first president, and Wilbur 
Lippert our advisor. 

In 1956-57, the chapter began to take an active 
part in district and state meetings, as well as expanding 
our local program with Marshall Heinold as president. 
That year resulted in the Chapter organizing a "Land 
Rental Committee" with Barry Fritz as chairman. 
Thirty-two acres of poor land were rented, and for­
tunately a profit was made. This was divided equally 
between the chapter treasury and the members. 

In 1957-58 our chapter was honored by Barry 
Fritz as chapter president. The land rental jumped to 
120 tillable acres. This was the first year the Kouts 
Chapter earned honors by receiving banners in District 
competition placing 1st in crops judging and 2nd in shop. 
Marvin Heinold received a "Hoosier Farmer Degree", 
the 1st ever received by a Porter County student. 

The 1958-59 year found Marvin Heinold at the 
wheel. More activities were included, but the land 
renting of 120 tillable acres continued to be our source 
of income. Our grain team placed second in the district. 
The highlight of achievements was the honor given to 
Marvin Heinold, for he was chosen President of District 
I and became one of the State directors. That year 
Tom Sommers and Dennis Gesse received "Hoosier 
Farmer Degrees". 

In 1959-60 year, Tom Tucker headed our chapter 
as president. We continued to gain experience in farming 
by renting 110 acres and shared the profits with our 
members. This was one of our better years because 
we added 3 banners in District activities. This included 
Grain judging, our secretary's book, and our shop team. 
Dennis Gesse was honored to serve as District I treas­
urer. 

Dennis Gesse continued to lead our chapter in 
achievements as president in 1960-61. That year our 
chapter continued to learn by actual farming but with 
more fertile land. We rented 2 tracts of land (and have 
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to date) totaling U5 acres from Harold Heinold and 
Virgil Heinold. That year Rog.er Timm was elected 
District I treasurer. This was a "Banner" year for 
our chapter earned 5 more banners. Grain judging, 
treasurer's book and reporter's book, essay and most 
difficult of all, we placed first in the Chapter meeting 
contest. Even though we were beaten in Sectional 
competition, we were one of the top 12 in indiana. 
Our new activity was our "Chicken Barbecue" for all 
F.F.A. families. 

In 1961-62 our Chapter held its own with Roger 
Timm as president. We again shared a profit with our, 
members from actual farming. Three banners were 
added by our members, in Grain judging, reporter's book 
and treasurer's book. Our new activity was 6 members 
taking part in a 3 day leadership school at Camp Limber­
lost at Lake Oliver. In this year the Kouts Chapter 
had the state champion Poultry and Egg Judging Team. 
The team members were Richard Hall, Vernon Nuest, 
Larry Nuest and Tom Sommers. They traveled to 

·Kansas City, Mo. to the National Convention, placing 
in the Silver Emblem group. 

In 1962-63 we learned to cooperate more effi­
ciently by sharing farm profits with our members at the 
rate of $3.05 per hour of actual labor. This" Banner 
Year" found Brian Gesse as president. Our chapter 
added 5 banners, 4 District firsts namely in Grain 
judging, Treasurers Book, Reporters Book, and Shop 
team. Our exhibit was 2nd. Tom Heiniger received 
his Hoosier Farmer Degree. Our most memorable 
speaker at the "Chicken Barbeque" last June was leIs 
Ackerson who now is the National F.F.A. President. 

Our 1963-64 president was Darl Jarnecke. The 
program of work was similar with the Land rental con­
tinuing with practical experiences and a profit to members 
of .over ~3 per hour. The Indiana State Fair was again 
vi.slted WIth a Crops and a Poultry & Egg judging team. 
~lve n:o.re District banners were earned, namely: 1st 
III Exhlblt and Treasurers book and 2nd in Crops judging, 

Pictured above seated on front right is Trustee William 
Reinke, seated front left, Kenneth Temple and standing. 
left to right, Gerald Shutske and George Maul, Advisory 
Board Members. 

shop arid reporters book. District leadership meetings, 
sectional ca mp, State convention a nd a "Smorgasbord" 
styled Family nite at the Valparaiso Union were the 
highlights of the years activities. 

During 1964-65, Ron Miller has continued to lead 
our Chapter at the same pace of the past. The Chapter 
will be represented in even more activities throughout 
this year. The keen desire to prepare for life, wit~ 

rounded basics of human skills and talents, will again 
make this year one to be noteworthy as the beginning of 
the second century of Life at Kouts, Indiana, U.S.A. 

contributed by Wilbur Lippert 

Kouts Music Boosters 

On January 12, 1938 Miss Louise Schueffner, Music 
Director for the Kouts School, called a meeting of all 
the mothers of Kouts band members. 

Eighteen mothers attended this meeting and formed 
the .. Kouts Band Boosters" organization (not wanting to 
limit the membership to Band Mothers but open to 
anyone interested.) Mrs. Emil Hofferth was elected 
President, Mrs. Aaron Egli Vice-President, and Mrs. 
Joseph Vogel, Sr. Sec'y.-Treasurer. Meetings were to 
be held twice monthly. • 

At the January 26, 1938 meeting a Constitution and 
By-Laws prepared by Mrs. Ashby, Mrs. Wolf, and Mrs. 
Schreiner, were presented and approved. 

Due to gasoline rationing during World War II the 
Constitution was amended on January 27, 1943 to have 
only one meeting a month. 

It was at the March 9, 1956 meeting that a new 
Constitution prepared by Mrs. Roderick was adopted that 
changed the name of the organization to the Kouts Music 
Boosters, This name more accurately described the 
function of the group: to support all music activities, 
not just the band. The present officers are President 
Eugene Vogel, Vice-President Enoch Edwards, Secretary 
Mrs. Hollandsworth, and Treasurer Mrs. Joseph Simic. 

Our 
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Lodges were formed in Kouts to satisfy the needs 
of many for fraternizing with friends as well as carrying 
an insurance feature. 

The Modern Woodmen of America Camp 4572 was 
formed in the 1890's and the Odd Fellows Lodge of 
Kouts No. 822 in 1905 with Fred Albright as Noble 
Grand. In 1912 there were fifty members in the latter. 

In july 1905 Miriam Rebekah Lodge No. 691 was insti­
tuted with sixty-three charter members and Lettie 
Turner as Noble Grand. The Foresters of America 
Court No. 8 was listed at this time, too. The Royal 
Neighbors were formed in 1908 with twenty-one charter 
members and of all the lodges they are the only one still 
functioning. 

American Legion Hall 

American Legion Post No. 301 

After World War I the American Legion was 
organized in 1920 under the leadership of Luther B. 
Wise who served as first Commander with j. Raymond 
Benkie as Adjutant. In 1921 under the commandership 
of Dr. S. E. Dittmer the membership increased to 52 
members. It was named the William Radilyack Post­
since he was the first veteran that Kouts lost from its 

The Kouts 
"Let there be no strife between me and thee, 
because we are all brethren." 
This motto was adopted in 1909 when three promi­

nent women of the Kouts community, Mrs. H. V. Deopker, 
Mrs. Frank 0' Brien and Mrs. C. P. Hockett, decided 
to enlist other women in the town to form a woman's 
organization. They sent invitational cards to all women 
who might be interested and the meeting was set for 
May 21, 1909 at O'Brien's Hall in Kouts. Nineteen 
women responded and the Kouts Woman's Club was 
organized that day. The first officers chosen were 
Pres. Mrs. j. j. Overmeyer, Vice Pres. Mrs. Robert 
Biggart, Sec. Mrs. Frank O'Brien, and Treas. Mrs. 
C. P. Hockett. 

In the beginning the purpose of the club was social. 
Plans were made to meet every other Friday from 2 
to 4 p.m. and due3 were set at lOt per member. 

The charter members were Mesdames, jerome 
Bartholomew, Robert Biggart, Porter Childers, H. V. 
Deopker, C. P. Hockett, j. E. jones, Ned jones, George 
Maxwell, P. O. Norris, Frank O'Brien, M. P. O'Brien, 
j. j. Over. eyer, W. Pierce, and Elijah Wood. 

Throhgh the years rules and regulations were 
adopted to fit the needs of the club. Membership was 

ranks - not in active duty but the result of a traffic 
accident near Kouts. 

As the town approaches its centennial there is a 
prodigious number of clubs, some service, some social. 
some both, but in the words of a news reporter of the 
dim past "a bounteous lunch was served and a good time 
was had by all" is the ending of the club meeting. 

Woman's Club 
originally set at 21. This was later amended to accept 
40 members. Social affairs continued into the second 
year, members with musical abillity entertained and 
later, members of their families performed for the 
group. 

Interest in the Federation of Woman~s Clubs began 
with Mrs. O. P. Kinsey's invitation to attend the Woman's 
Club Convention on May 9, 1911. Mrs. Deopker and 
Mrs. Ned jones were delegates of the Kouts group but 
it was not until 1915 that three members of the Valpa­
raiso Woman's Club attended a Kouts meeting to apprise 
the members of the advantages, privileges, and benefits 
of affiliating with the Porter County Federated Clubs. 
In 1921 Kouts joined the Indiana Federation of Clubs and 
hosted their first convention in 1923. 

The first member of the Kouts Club to serve as 
president of Porter County Federated Clubs was Mrs. 
Emil Hofferth, and two others have served since, Mrs. 
Art Carpenter 1944-46 and Mrs. john Starks 1952-54. 

The overall objective of the Federation is human 
welfare and as such they contribute to: Student Loan 
Funds, Latin-American Fellowship, Red Cross, Penny 
Art Fund, Musical Pennies, Salvation Army, Y.M.C.A .. 
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Nurses Scholarship Fund, C.A.R.E., Cancer Control, and 
many other worthy causes. 

The present club has 22 active members and is 
now governed solely by Roberts Rules of Order. The 
club colors are pink and green, club flower is the 
carnaton, and the emblem is the circle. 

Mrs. Ed Pumroy is president, Mrs. Neal Pumroy 
is vice-president, Mrs. Edgar Kruell, secretary and 
treasurer. 

IN MEMORIAM 
And the stately ships go onJ 
To their haven under the hill; 
But, 0, for the touch of a vanished hand, 
And the sound of a voice that is still. 

Victoria Wells Ruth Rampke 
Grace Biggart Cecelia Childers 
johanna Hannon Kathryn Hockett 
Margaret Winchell Barbara Lampl 
Emma Rueger Dora M. Lyons 
Eliza Faye Nelle Bartholomew 
Mame Klemm Rebecca Folsom 
Emma Griffith Mabel Dittmer 
Clare Olson Adele Huffert 

Time passes quickly, the past is gone; 
The future has not yet come; the present 
is	 all we have, We cannot change the past, 
nor can we draw upon the future; but we can 
use the present. 

Kouts Chamber of Commerce 
This first established business men's group was 

organized on May 22, 1944 with the following 24 men 
attending a dinner at Green's Restaurant: 
Father A. S. Kondziela, Carol Root, Dr. S. E. Dittmer, 
Herman and Edward Kosanke, Harry Carr, Emil Hofferth, 
Cedric Hiatt, William Denzine, Frank Weiniger, Glenn 
Crouch, Roy Wandrey, james Herring, Elmer Stowers, 
Howard jensen, Howard Reed, Oscar Maxwell, john 
Schumacker, Frank Green, Desilver Lyon, Haroldjasper­
son, Alfred Rasmussen, j. Raymond Benkie, and Henry 
~.	 . 

Carol Root acted as chairman and gave suggestions 
as to the purposes of the group. 

Nominations were made for officers with these 
results: Pres. Carol Root, Vice-Pres. Harold jasperson, 
and Sec-Treas. j. Raymond Benkie. 

It was to be called the Chamber of Commerce and 
other business men, members of the Town Board, area 
ministers, Farm Bureau members, and others interested 
in community improvement were invited to join. 

Some of the accomplishments of the Chamber of 
Commerce alone or in cooperation with other civic 
groups in and around Kouts are: bank organization, 
widening and paving of Main Street, lighting -of the softball 
diamond, Highways #8 and #49, subdivision growth, town 
planning, cumulative sewer fund, industrial foundation, 
street lighting and utility improvement, and starting of 
the local newspaper. 

The group meets the second Monday of each month. 
President and Year or Years Served 

Carol Root.•••••.•.••••••••.. 1944-47-48-49 
Luis French. • •••.••••..•••.•.•...•.. 1945 
joseph Vogel, jr••.•...•••.•.•.•••.• 1946-61 
john Collins. • .••••..•.••••...•.•.. 1950 
Walter Newsom•••.•.•••••.••..••. 1951-52 
Roy Wandrey••..•..•.••••.•••..••••.• 1953 
Louis W. Marquardt••••••.•...•••...•.. 1954 
james E. Kosanke.•••..••••...•...•.. 1955 
j. C. Hiatt. • •.•.••....•.•.••••..•..• 1956 
William Hefron. • •••••.•••.•.•••.•..•• 1957 
R1chaFd Chael. • • • . ••••...•••..•••••.• 1958 
john B. Rogowski. . • • • • • ••.•.•.••..... 1959 
Raymond Dahl. • • • • • . •.•.•.•....••••. 1960 
john R. Schnurlein•......••••..•.•...• 1962 
H. P. Hudson•••..•••••.•..•..•.....• 1963 
john Hilliard•••..•.•••...•••.•••.... 1964 
Vir il Heinold. • • • . • • •••••••.••••••..• 1965 

Clubs 
Kouts and vicinity has three Home Demonstration 

Clubs. The aims and goals are the same for all three 
clubs and shall be given once WIth the history of each 
club in the order of inception: 
The aims of the club are as follows: 

1.	 To interest more young homemakers to form 
home demonstration clubs. 

2.	 To provide lessons that meet current needs of 
homem3kers. 

3.	 To encourage chorus membership. 
4.	 To encourage and suPPOrt 4-H work. 
S.	 To pass on leaflets and bulletins to someone 

new when through with them. 
The long-time goals are: 

!.	 To improve relationships among family 
members. 

2.	 To develop better m3nagement of time and 
money and thus increase income. 

3.	 To develop leadership through community 
responsibility. 

4.	 To improve family health through good nutrition. 
S.	 To reach every family in the community with 

helpful information. 

The Kouts Neighbors Home Economics Club 
1. The Kouts Neighbors Home Economics Club was 

organized in 1931 at the home of Mrs. Herman Chael. 
Among the charter members were the hostess Mrs. 
Chael. Mrs. William Den3ine. Mrs. Caroline Hamann, 
Mrs. Gus Krueger, Mrs. Nelson Metherd, and Mrs. 
Herman Wieberg. This club ceased meetings but was 
reorganized in 1')42 and since then has shown continuous 
growth and interest. 

The officers for 1965 are: Pres. Mrs. junior 
Miller, Vice-Pres. Mrs. joseph Shutske, Sec. Mrs. 
Fred Deli, and Treas. Mrs. Glenn Crouch. 

Lamplighters Home Demonstration Club 
2. The Lamplighters Home Demonstration Club 

was organized on October 18, 1949. The charter 
members were the Mesdames Loren Betz, Paul Drazer, 
Luis French, Fred Hamann, Richard Hannon, William 
Hefron, Walter Heiniger, Gerald Hitz, john Hilliard, 
Miles jones, james Kosanke, Wilbur Lippert, Alden 
Miller, Leslie Oehlman, Albert Olsen, George Struve, 
joe Vogel, jr., Paul Wadsworth, and Roy Wandry. 

The first officers were: Pres. Marge Lippert, 
,Vice-Pres. Naomi Betz, Sec. Mary Drazer, Treas. 
Kathryn French,Publicity Chrm. Fern Wadsworth. 

There have been mdny interesting lessons presented 
to	 the club with the first lesson on Pasteurization of 
Milk and Dishwashing given in October 1949. Other les­
sons dealt with throughout the years are: Color in the 
Home, Fabric Painting, Glove Making, Brighter Wash 
Days, Care of Electrical Appliances, Broiler Meals, 
Weight Control, Reupholstering, Outdoor Cookery, Lamp­
shades, Effective Speech, Cake Decorating, In the Freez­
er and Out. 

In january 1961 the Lamplighters helped organize 
the sister club in Kouts, the Starlighters. 

At Christmas time each year club members, their 
husbands and guests go caroling to the shut-ins in the 
community and distribute boxes of frUit, home made 
cookies, and candy to older residents. 

The present officers are: Pres. Mrs. Russel 
Girton, Vice-Pres. Mrs. Leonard Antrim, Sec. Mrs. 
Conrad Shutske, Treas. Mrs. Merle Schoon and Reporter 
Mrs. james Kosanke. 

Starlighters Home Demonstration Club 
3. The Starlighters Home Demonstration Club was 

started in February of 1962. 
The charter members of the Star lighters are: Mrs. 

jack Nuest, Mrs. Victor Martin, Mrs. Donald Gingerich, 
Mrs. Robert Hott, Mrs. Gene Wise, Mrs. Marion Birky, 
Mrs. james Heinold, Mrs. Charles Schnekenburger, Mrs. 
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James Yergler, Mrs. Frank Holzapfel, Mrs. Monty 
Helmuth, and Mrs. Harold Fritz. 

Serving the club as firs~ yea r oflicers w'~re: 

President,; Mrs. Harold Fritz, Vice President Mrs. 
Jack	 Nuest; Secretary, Mrs. Monty Helmuth; Treasurer, 
Mrs.	 Donald Gingerich; Reporter, Mrs. Charles Schne­
kenburger. 

Present officers are: President, Mrs. Charles 
Schnekenburger; Vice President, Mrs. Gene Wise; Secre­
tary,	 Mrs. Larry Strong; Treasurer. Mrs. Roland Good; 
Reporter, Mrs. Gordon Williams. 

The Morrison Community Club 

The	 Morrison Community Club was organized in 
May 1911 at the home of Mrs. Bert Tillotson now i<nown 
as the Gordon Smith place. The only surviving cha rter 
member is Mrs. Lulu Starkey. 

Some of the activities engaged in through the 
years were quilting, tying com:'orters. sewing rag rugs, 
serving lunch at auction sales, sewing for the needy of 
the locality, and helping members in tim,,? of sickness 
and sorrow. 

The membership today of 17 is unusual in that there 
are four mother-daughters represented by: Mrs. Rebecca 

,Minton and two daughters, Mrs. Allie Russell and 1rs. 
Anna Robbins; Mrs. Minnie Neuschafer and daughter, 
Mrs. June Hanselman; Mrs. Mae Pegg and daughter, 
Mrs. Betty Conner; and Mrs. Emil Lippert and daughter. 
Mrs. Wilda Mitzner. 

The present officers of the club are: President 
Mrs. Emil Lippert, Vice-President Mrs. Esther Neuf­
fer, Secretary Mrs. Wilda Mitzner, and Treasurer Mrs. 
Allie Russell. 

Farm Bureau 

Farm Bureau is the voice of agriculture in Indiana 
and in the United States. It is an organization of Far­
mers. It is voluntary, non-governmental, non-sectarian, 
and is non-partisan in developmeilt of its p'Jlicies. 
working with bo:h political pJrties in getting its pro­
grams into action. 

Farm Bureau's programs are aimed at improving 
the economic and social environm2nt of farmers and 
improving their net income. 

Their m" ny youth progra ms and socia I events 
contribute much to family enjoymen: 0; rural living 
and development of future agricultural leaders. 

The	 Farm Bureau was organized in 1919 in Pleas­
ant Township with O. B. Wells, J. A. Warren, William 
Kneifel Sr., E. E. Starkey, and Somt~r Smith giving much 
of their time to the development of the organization. 

The	 first officers w'~re: President, O. B, Wells; 
Vice	 President, John Dunkel. Program; Vice President, 
J. A. Warren, Educational; Vice President, Mrs. Frank 
Johnson, Women; Vice President. Mrs. John Dunkel, 
Poultry; Vice President, Joe Heinold, Crops; Vice Pres­
ident, Albert Heimberg. Stock; Vice President, Mrs. J. 
A. Warren, Boys and Girls; Vice President, Edward 
Klemz, Finance; Vice President, Paul Titus, Social; 
Secretary, Mrs. Steve Mockler; Association Director, 
E. E. Starkey; Fair Director, Harry Mockler; Marketing 
Instructor,	 John Dunkel. 

In 1964 there w'~re 197 members with only E. 
E. Starkey, Emil Lippert and Elmer Werner the lone 
survivors of the charter members. 

The 1965 Farm Bureau officers are: Pres. Elmer 
Werner, Vice-Pres. Kenneth Temple, Sec.-Treas. Mrs. 
Kenneth Temple, and Mrs. Herbert Hamann, Women's 
Le, jer. Mrs. Elmer Werner is Porter County Women's 
Leaaer. 

The annual dues were $5.00 a year in the beginning 
and now are double that amount. 

Quad County Organ Club 
Following several monthly gatherings of interested 

organ players, twenty-two persons gathered at the home 
of Mrs. and Mrs. Floyd Gratner of Rensselaer on Sunday, 
April 29, 1962 to organize the Quad County Organ Club. 

Officers elected to serve the new organization 
were: Mrs. John W. Selman of Kouts, President; Mrs. 
Floyd Gratner oc Rel1sselaer, Vice President; and Miss 
Minerva Wuethrich of Fran::esville, Secretary-Treasurer. 

The name of the club was derived by the fact that 
the membership came from four counties, namely ­
Jasper, Porter, Pcllaski and Tippecanoe. 

Charter m .mbers are: Floyd and Etta Gratner; 
Dale and Vera Ledman; Ralph and Gladys Neville; John 
and Charlotte Selm.ln; Josephine Speicher; and Jay and 
Effie. Spencer. 

The meetings of the Quad County Organ Club are 
held on the last Sunday of each month at the various 
members homes. 

Present membership consists of: Mr. and Mrs. 
Floyd Geatner of Rensselaer; Mr. and M ~s. Dale Ledman 
and Berry of Lafayette; Mr. and Mrs. Aeden Mendel, 
I:Jrenda and A. J. of Kouts; Mr. and Mrs. Ralph Neville 
of Rensselaer; Mr. and Mes. John W. Selman, John 
Feancis. Neil and Matthew of KoLlts; Mr. and Mrs. 
John Sp·eicher. Beverly, Leah :llld Johnny of Frances­
ville; and ML ,llld Mes. Jay Spencer of DeMotte. Mr. 
and Mes. Regal Sp ncet' of DeM:me are honorary mem­
bers. Mr. Spencet' having taught a number of the organ 
club members. 

Pi Epsilon Kappa Sorority 

A group of young Catholic women met at the home 
of Mes. john Smutko on August 8, 1947 to organize Psi 
Chapter of Pi Epsilon Kappa Catholic Soeority. Pi 
Epsilon Kappa W.JS founded by Mrs. Edwaed McCullough 
of East Chicago in 1939. dedicated to chaeitable works 
and the study of the Catholic faith. It is well known in 
the Calumet region and Psi made the thirtieth chapter. 

Mrs. john Smutko, as the oegenizer, called the first 
meeting and the chaner members were Mrs. Leonard 
Kunzlee and Mes. Leonaed Weink;'uf of LaCeosse, Mrs. 
joseph Vogel, Je., Mrs. William Hefron and Mrs. John 
Smutko of Kouts. The fiest officers weee president Mrs. 
William Hefron, secretaey-treasurer Mrs. Gerald 
Shutske, chaplain Mrs. Leonard Weinkauf, and publicity 
Mrs. Conrad Shutske. 

Meetings were held twice a month, the first meeting of 
each month devoted to the study of the Catholic faith, 

,and the second a socia I meeting. All money raised by 
Psi Chapter is used for charitable works without undue 
publicity. such as St. Jude's Orphanage in East Chicago, 
Boys Town in Schererville, and 500 bags of candy yearly 
to Beatty Hospital at Christmas time. Many needy fam­
ilies in the Kouts area also benefit. Scholarships were 
given to a number of students theough the years. A 
Sweetheart Dance held annually and a biennial convention 
both held in Chicago at'e social events. 

At present there are two provinces with 40 chapters. 

The 1965 officers are peesident Mrs. Richard Hannon, 
secretary Mrs. Raymond I-Iall, treasurer Mrs. William 
Hefron, and chaplain Mrs. joseph Vogel, JL The spon­
sors ace Mrs. Joseph Simic and Mes. Roland Graham. 



BIERMA
 
IMPLEMENT CO.
 

WHEATFIELD, INDIANA 

Phone 956-3122 

Featuring 

ALL IS-CHA LMERS 

Sales - Service and Repairs 

ED BIERMA, owner 

CLAUDON and
 

A RSO
 
REAL ESTATE
 

A~ TYPES OF INSURANCE
 

TELEPHONE 462-5178
 

STOWER,S-SON
 
MEATS ­

GROCERIES ­

PRODUCE 

Wheatfield,
 

Indiana
 

PHONE 956-3411 

Brookside Farms 
Laboratories 
NEW KNOXVILLE, OHIO 

TRAINED 
Soil Analysis
 

Ferti I izer
 

Recommendat ions
 

Ration
 

Suggestions 

Product ion 

EXPERIENCED Consu I tat ions 

C.D.C OVER
 
(consultant) 

R. 3, Valpo Telephone 462-6873 



ColUer's Club House Then ••••• 

Collier's Now •••••••• 

Kouts 
The Kouts Lions Club, a member club of Lions 

International, was chartered on Thursday, February 4 
1960, with 25 members. The charter banquet was held 
at the American Legion Post in Kouts with a large group 
of Lions on hand for the event from IS clubs, in surround­
ing communities. 

The original Charter Officers were: President, 
H. P. Hudson; First Vice President, William Gesse; 
Second Vice President, Al Miller; Third Vice President, 
Vernon Dye; Treasurer, lester Rhynard; Secretary, Tom 
Quinn; Lion Tamer, Richard Claussen; Tail Twister, 
William Johnston; Directors, Russell Girton, James 
Kosanke, Gilbert Swing, and Floyd Gesse. 

The Lions have sponsored and participated in many 
community projects such as: bUilding a picnic shelter 
for the community (which was destroyed by wind later), 
co-sponsor of a boy scout to the scout jamboree, support 
of the IFYE program, aid to needy fam1l1es within the 
community, assistance with the building of the horseshoe 
and b 1ketball court at the school-grounds, sponsored 
the Un._ed Nations Contest at Kouts High Scho<jll, assisted 
with the Porter County Bloodmobile, participation in 
the Porter County Fair and the sponsoring of a Queen 
candidate, and furnishing eyeglasses to needy residents. 

Lions Club 
The prime state and national projects of Lionism 

are of great importance to the Lions. These are, Eye 
Bank (the transplant of corneal tissue), Sight Conserva­
tion, Leader Dog School at Rochester, Michigan, and 
the Cancer Clinic for research and treatment at Indi­
<tnapolis. The Kouts Lions have been very active in 
all these projects as has been evidenced by their many 
fund raising activities such as Candy for Cancer day etc. 

In 1964 the club also had many beautiflll trees 
placed around the Kouts School yard for future beaut1f1­
cation, as well as to provide a good subject for study 
for the students. 

Another real highlight in the club's activities has 
been the annual Auction sale. This prOVided the club 
with funds to carry on its work and prOVided the farmer 
and housewife with a market for their non-essentialitem-s 
of machiQery and personal items. 

The motto of Lions is "We Serve". The Kouts 
Lions always welcomes suggestions as to how 'it can 
better serve its community and mankind. 

There are currently 26 members in the club. 
Meetings are always held in the evening. of the first 
Thursday of each month with dinner. Guests are always 
welcome as are new members. 



CONGRATULATIONS 
KOUTS 

ON YOUR Centen ial Cele ration 
, 

It's Our Fifteenth Anniversary 
As Kouts' Very Own Newspaper 

"Kouts Is Five In Score -­

Centennial 

The Kouts Times 
Your Home-Town Newspaper
 

Phone 766-3932
 

Kouts 

Ready For AHundred More" 

KOUTS, INDIANA 

SEPTEMBER 3, 4, 5 and 6 

Porter Countv n..rald• 

Official Democratic Newspaper 
of Porter County 

Phone 996-3100 

Hebron 



HEINOLD HOG MARKET
 
is proud to have "sprung up" in Kouts.
 

We appreciate the good wi II shown toward our organization by
 

the farmers of the area and the inspiration of the businessmen
 

and Chamber of Commerce to stimulate our efforts and growth, so
 

that Kouts can claim to be the home of
 

THE WORLDS LARGEST COUNTRY HOG BUYERS.
 

Native Son Native Son,
 
HAROLD HEINOLD, BILL REINKE,
 
President Manager, Kouts Yard
 

o 1217 
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